Université de Montréal

ALCAM: cell adhesion molecule or tight junction? The characterization of its role in the context of neuroinflammation

par Marc-André Lécuyer

Département de Microbiologie, Infectiologie et Immunologie Faculté de Médecine

Thèse présentée à la Faculté de Médecine en vue de l'obtention du grade de Philosophiae doctor (Ph.D.) en Microbiologie et Immunologie

Août, 2016

© Marc-André Lécuyer, 2016

Résumé

But : La perte de l'intégrité de la barrière hémo-encéphalique (BHE) est l'une des caractéristiques principales de la sclérose en plaques. Cette augmentation de la perméabilité est associée à une désorganisation des molécules de jonction serrée et à une augmentation de l'expression de molécules d'adhérence essentielles à l'extravasation des cellules immunitaires. Identifier de nouvelles molécules impliquées dans ce processus est donc crucial pour le développement de nouvelles thérapies contre la sclérose en plaques visant à promouvoir l'intégrité de la BHE et à diminuer la migration des leucocytes dans le système nerveux central (SNC) au cours du processus neuro-inflammatoire. Dans cette étude, le rôle spécifique de la BHE (CE-BHE) et de certains sous-types de leucocytes, a été évalué.

Méthodologie : À l'aide d'une analyse protéomique exhaustive, notre laboratoire a identifié ALCAM comme étant une molécule d'adhérence surexprimée par les CE-BHE mises en culture dans un milieu pro-inflammatoire. Dans le but d'étudier le rôle spécifique d'ALCAM durant la diapédèse leucocytaire, nous avons induit chez des souris de type sauvages et des souris ALCAM déficientes l'encéphalite auto-immune expérimentale (EAE), le modèle animal de la sclérose en plaques. Le rôle d'ALCAM a aussi été étudié à l'aide d'un système d'adhérence sous flux laminaire. Cet appareil, qui imite un capillaire cérébral, permet de suivre en temps réel le mouvement des leucocytes, soumis à une pression physiologique, dans un tube couvert à sa base par des CE-BHE.

Résultats : En utilisant ce système d'adhérence, j'ai pu démontrer que des anticorps dirigés contre ALCAM réduisent de façon significative le roulement et l'adhérence de monocytes CD14+ humains à la surface de CE-BHE. Par ailleurs, ces anticorps préviennent de façon marquée la diminution de la vitesse moyenne des cellules au cours de l'expérience. Par le fait même, j'ai aussi observé une réduction significative de l'extravasation des monocytes traités avec de l'anti-ALCAM au travers de CE-BHE dans un modèle statique de migration. Subséquemment, j'ai démontré que ces monocytes migrent plus rapidement et en plus grand nombre au travers d'une barrière constituée de cellules endothéliales méningées à comparer à des CE-BHE. Bien que des observations similaires ont été effectuées en utilisant des

i

lymphocytes T CD4+ humains *ex vivo*, j'ai été incapable de reproduire ces résultats à l'aide de cellules Th1 et Th17 réactivées *in vitro*.

Par opposition à nos données *in vitro*, j'ai découvert que les souris déficientes en ALCAM développent une EAE active plus sévère que celle observée chez des souris de type sauvages. Cette EAE est par ailleurs associée à une infiltration périvasculaire de lymphocytes T proinflammatoires et de monocytes/macrophages de type M1 plus marqué chez les souris ALCAM déficientes. L'induction d'une EAE par transfert adoptif, dans laquelle des cellules immunitaires de type sauvage réactivées par du MOG sont injectées à des souris déficientes en ALCAM, suggère que la pathophysiologie observée durant l'EAE active serait liée à l'absence d'ALCAM au niveau de la BHE. Une caractérisation de la barrière des souris ALCAM déficientes a par la suite révélé une réduction de l'expression de certaines molécules de jonction serrée. Une analyse plus poussée a par ailleurs démontré qu'ALCAM est lié indirectement à des molécules de jonction serrée des CE-BHE, ce qui expliquerait l'augmentation de la perméabilité de celle-ci chez les souris déficientes en ALCAM. Une analyse de la perméabilité intercellulaire de la BHE effectuée *in vitro* a d'autre part corrélé ces résultats.

Conclusion : Collectivement, nos données prouvent qu'ALCAM joue un rôle prépondérant dans la diapédèse des monocytes, mais pas des lymphocytes Th1 et Th17 au travers de la BHE. Par ailleurs, nos résultats suggèrent qu'ALCAM remplit une fonction biologique cruciale favorisant le maintien de l'intégrité de la BHE en agissant comme molécule adaptatrice intermédiaire entre les molécules de jonction serrées et le cytosquelette. De cette façon, l'absence d'ALCAM au niveau des CE-BHE promeut indirectement le recrutement de leucocytes pro-inflammatoires dans le SNC des souris atteintes de l'EAE en augmentant la perméabilité des vaisseaux sanguins de la BHE.

Mots-clés : Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM), sclérose en plaques (SEP), encéphalomyélite auto-immune expérimentale (EAE), barrière hémo-encéphalique (BHE), diapédèse leucocytaire, molécules de jonction serrée, neuroinflammation.

ii

Abstract

Aim: The loss of blood-brain barrier (BBB) integrity is a hallmark of multiple sclerosis. It is associated with a disorganization of junctional molecules and an upregulation of cell adhesion molecules essential for immune cell transmigration. Identifying novel key players involved in this process is thus crucial for the development of MS therapies aimed at promoting BBB integrity and decreasing leukocytes trafficking into the central nervous system (CNS) during neuroinflammation. In this study, the specific role of the adhesion molecule ALCAM, found on BBB endothelial cells (BBB-ECs) and subsets of leukocytes, was assessed.

Methods: We first identified ALCAM as an important molecule upregulated during inflammation in a proteomic screen of *in vitro* cultured primary human BBB-ECs. In order to study the effects of ALCAM on leukocyte transmigration, both active and passive experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) was induced in ALCAM KO and WT animals. The specific role of ALCAM during leukocyte transmigration was also assessed using a modified adhesion assay under sheer-stress, in which leukocytes flow across a capillary-like channel lined with a monolayer of BBB-ECs under physiological pressure.

Results: Using the modified adhesion assay, we demonstrated that anti-ALCAM blocking antibodies significantly reduce the rolling and the adhesion of human CD14+ monocytes interacting with primary human BBB-ECs, as well as prevent their overall decrease in velocity. Concurrently, we also observed a significant reduction in the migration of *ex vivo* CD14+ monocytes, across a monolayer of human BBB-ECs. These monocytes also migrated more rapidly and in higher number across meningeal endothelial cells, as compared to BBB-ECs. While similar observations were made using *ex vivo* CD4+ T lymphocytes, we failed to reproduce these results using *in vitro* activated Th1 and Th17 cells. In opposition to our *in vitro* data, ALCAM KO mice developed a more severe active EAE associated with a significant increase in perivascular infiltration of pro-inflammatory lymphocytes (Th1/Th17) and M1 monocytes/macrophages, as compared to WT controls. In addition, EAE transfer experiments, in which ALCAM KO mice received WT MOG-reactivated splenocytes, suggested that the pathophysiology observed in active EAE was linked to the absence of ALCAM on BBB-ECs. Phenotypic characterization of un-immunized ALCAM KO mice revealed a reduced expression of BBB junctional proteins. Further analysis showed that ALCAM is indirectly associated with

tight junction molecules of the BBB-ECs, which explains the increased CNS parenchymal blood vessel *in vivo* permeability in ALCAM KO animals. Correlating with these data, primary culture of mouse brain BBB-ECs was shown to possess a lower TEER and an increased permeability coefficient.

Conclusion: Collectively, our data provide evidence of the implication of ALCAM in monocyte transmigration, but not Th1 or Th17 lymphocyte diapedesis across CNS endothelium. Our results also point to a biologically crucial function of ALCAM in maintaining BBB integrity by acting as an adaptor molecule between tight junctions and the cytoskeleton. As such, the absence of ALCAM at the level of BBB-ECs indirectly promotes the recruitment of pro-inflammatory leukocytes in the CNS of EAE animals by increasing the BBB vessels permeability.

Keywords: Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM), multiple sclerosis (MS), experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), blood-brain barrier (BBB), leukocyte transmigration, tight junction molecules, neuroinflammation.

Table des matières

Résumé	i
Abstract	iii
Table des matières	v
Liste des figures	vii
Liste des abréviations	viii
Remerciements	XV
Introduction	
1. The Central Nervous System	
1. The CNS Vasculature	2
2. Formation of the Blood-Brain Barrier	6
3. The Blood-Brain Barrier Endothelial Cells	9
4. Blood-Brain Barrier Endothelial and Glial Cell Interactions in Homeostat	ic
Conditions	10
5. Leukocyte Diapedesis across the CNS Barrier	
6. Glial Influences on the Blood-Brain Barrier during Neuroinflammation	19
2. Leukocyte Populations	
1. Lymphocytes	
2. Antigen-Presenting Cells	
3. Multiple Sclerosis	
1. The History of the Disease	
2. Clinical Aspects of the Disease	
3. MS Pathology	43
4. Epidemiology	46
5. Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis	51
6. Therapeutic Approaches	54
4. Activated Leukocyte Cell Adhesion Molecule	56
1. The Discovery	56
2. The Genome	59
3. The Protein	60

4. The Functions	
Objectives and Hypothesis	
Results:	
Manuscript 1	
Manuscript 2	
Discussion	
The Role of ALCAM During Leukocytes Diapedesis	
The Novel Role of ALCAM in Maintaining BBB Integrity	
Future Perspective	
Conclusion	
Bibliographie	

Liste des figures

Figure 1 – The vascular system and CSF compartments of the CNS	3
Figure 2 – The neurovascular unit (NVU)	7
Figure 3 – Microglial interaction with the CNS vasculature.	8
Figure 4 – Paracrine and autocrine regulation of the BBB during homeostasis an	d
inflammation.	11
Figure 5 – The transmigration cascade	14
Figure 6 – Dual cellular pathway of immune cells transmigration	17
Figure 7 – Graphical representation of the different types of MS disease.	40
Figure 8 – Graphical representation of the clinical disabilities, disease burden, brai	in
volume and MRI activities of a mock average RRMS patient	41
Figure 9 – Demyelinating lesion in the post-mortem brain of an MS patient	44
Figure 10 – Schematic representation of ALCAM homophilic and ALCAM-CD	6
heterophilic interaction.	58
Figure 11 – Computer generated 3D model of ALCAM.	61

Liste des abréviations

AD: Alzheimer's disease
AGT: Angiotensinogen
AHR: aryl hydrocarbon receptor
AJ: adherens junction
ALCAM: activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule
ANG: Angiopoietin
APC: antigen presenting cell
AQP4: water channel aquaporin 4
BBB: blood-brain barrier
BCB: blood-CSF barrier
BDNFs: brain-derived neurotrophic factors
BM: basement membrane
BMB: blood-meningeal barrier
CAMs: cell adhesion molecules
CAR: coxsackie and adenoviral serotype 2/5 receptor
CCL: chemokine C-C motif ligand
CCR: chemokine C-C motif receptor
Cdc42: cell division control protein 42 homolog
CFA: complete Freund's adjuvant
CIS: clinically isolated syndrome
CNS: central nervous system
CSF: cerebrospinal fluid

CTL: Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte

CTLA-4: cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4

CXCL: chemokine C-X-C motif ligand

DC: dendritic cell

EAE: experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

EBV: Epstein-Barr virus

EC: endothelial cell

E-cadherin: epithelial-cadherin

EDSS: expanded disability status scale

EMMPRIN: extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer

ERM: ezrin/radixin/moesin

ESAM: endothelial cell-selective adhesion molecule

ESL1: E-selectin ligand 1

FGFs: fibroblast growth factors

FLAIR: fluid attenuated inversion recovery

Foxp3: forkhead box P3

GDNF: Glia-derived neurotrophic factor

GFAP: glial fibrillary acidic protein

GFP: green fluorescent protein

Glut1: Glucose transporter 1

GM-CSF: granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor

GzB: granzyme B

H&E/LFB: Hematoxylin & Eosin / Luxol Fast Blue

HLA: Human Leukocyte Antigen

HMGB-1: high-mobility group box 1
i.p.: intra-peritoneal
i.v.: intravenous
ICAM-1: intercellular adhesion molecule 1
IFNγ: interferon gamma
Ig: immunoglobulin
IL: interleukin
IP-10: interferon gamma-induced protein 10
iTregs: Induced Treg
JAM: junctional adhesion molecule
JCV: John Cunningham virus
Kb: kilobases
kDa: kiloDalton
Kir4.1: inwardly rectifying potassium channel 4.1
KO: knockout
LFA-1: Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1
LN: lymph node
LPS: lipopolysaccharide
MAG: myelin-associated glycoprotein
MAGUK: membrane-associated guanylate kinase protein family
MAPK: mitogen-activated protein kinase
MBP: myelin basic protein
MCAM: melanoma cell adhesion molecule
MCP-1: monocyte chemoattractant protein-1

MHC: major histocompatibility complex MMP: matrix metalloproteinases MOG: myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein MRI: magnetic resonance imaging MS: multiple sclerosis MTR: magnetization transfer ratio NAWM: normal appearing white matter N-cadherin: Neural cadherin NGF: nerve growth factors NK: Natural Killer NOS: Nitric oxide synthase nTregs: natural T regulatory lymphocytes NVU: neurovascular unit OAPs: orthogonal arrays of particles OCT: optical coherence tomography OPCs: oligodendrocyte precursor cells OSM: oncostatin M PBMC: peripheral blood mononuclear cells PD: proton density PDGF-BB: Platelet Derived Growth Factor B homodimers PDGFR- β : Platelet-derived growth factor receptors β PECAM-1: Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1 Pgps: Permeability glycoproteins PLP: proteolipid protein

PML: progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy

PMVECs: pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells

PPMS: primary progressive multiple sclerosis

PRMS: progressive-relapsing multiple sclerosis

PRRs: pattern recognition receptors

PSGL1: p-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1

Ptch: Patched-1

R: receptor

RA: retinoic acid

Rac1: Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1

RAGE: receptor for advanced glycation end-products

RANTES: regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted

RBCs: red blood cells

RhoA: Ras homolog gene family member A

ROS: reactive oxygen species

RRMS: relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis

sALCAM: soluble ALCAM

Shh: Sonic hedgehog

Smo: Smoothened

SPMS: secondary progressive multiple sclerosis

SRCR: scavenger receptor cysteine-rich

TAMP: TJ-associated MARVEL proteins

Tc: T cytotoxic

TCR: T cell receptor

TEER: trans-endothelial electrical resistance

TGF-β: Transforming Growth Factor-β

Th: T helper

TJ: tight junction

TJaCAMs: tight junction-associated cell adhesion molecules

TLR: Toll-like receptor

TNF: Tumor necrosis factor

Treg: T regulatory lymphocyte

TYMP: thymidine phosphorylase

UV: ultraviolet

VCAM: vascular cell adhesion molecule

VE-cadherin: vascular endothelial-cadherin (cadherin 5)

VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor

VE-PTP: vascular endothelial protein tyrosine phosphatase

VLA-4: very late antigen 4 (integrin $\alpha 4\beta 1$)

ZO: Zonula occludens

À ma famille et amis qui ont toujours été là pour moi et sans qui je n'y serais pas arrivé.

Remerciements

Saying that this has been an easy task would be lying, but it has been an adventure and with every adventure, it's the journey to the top that makes it memorable, that makes it worth all the efforts.

Je n'aurais pu compléter cette thèse de doctorat et le travail préalable sans l'aide de plusieurs personnes de mon entourage. Je désire donc, tout d'abord, remercier mon superviseur, le Dr. Alexandre Prat, sans qui tout cela n'aurait pas été possible. Alex, tu m'as donné la chance de faire de la recherche dans un des meilleurs laboratoires d'immunologie à Montréal. Tu m'as donné les moyens financiers et l'encadrement nécessaire pour mener à bien mon projet, tout en me laissant assez de liberté pour prendre plusieurs décisions par moi-même. Cette autonomie m'a permis de rapidement développer une indépendance dans le laboratoire et une confiance en mes capacités en recherche. Bien que le laboratoire ait changé à plusieurs occasions durant ces années, j'ai toujours aimé y travailler. Finalement, je te remercie pour la relation décontractée et amicale que nous avons eue dans le laboratoire et à l'extérieur de celui-ci. En espérant pouvoir retravailler avec toi un jour.

Etant maintenant un des plus vieux membres du laboratoire, j'ai eu la chance de côtoyer plusieurs personnes qui ont défilé au cours des années. Je désire remercier Lyne pour son aide indéfectible pendant toutes ces années. C'est grâce à toi que je suis maintenant un expert en EAE, une technique vitale pour mon projet de recherche. Merci d'avoir été ma deuxième maman pendant toutes ces années. Je veux aussi remercier Sandra avec qui j'ai partagé de bons moments, malgré des hauts et des bas. Merci pour ton support et merci d'avoir pris en charge la colonie ALCAM, tu sais à quel point je déteste faire des PCR. Je remercie aussi tous les étudiants du laboratoire qui ont été et sont encore de très bons amis. Merci Igal pour ta générosité, ton aide et ton support durant tes dernières années dans le laboratoire. Tu as été comme une encyclopédie, une source de savoir technique et théorique intarissable. Merci Hania pour ton aide dans mes débuts de cultures cellulaires. Merci pour les conversations que nous avons eues et merci pour ta plume. Tu es très doué pour écriture dans un contexte scientifique ; tu es une inspiration, un but à atteindre pour moi. Merci à Catherine pour ces années à se côtoyer dans le labo, pour ces discussions scientifiques et pour une aide très appréciée lors des sacrifices de souris. Merci aussi pour ton énergie, ta générosité et ta joie de vivre à l'extérieur du labo.

J'espère rester en contact avec toi dans le futur. Félicitations pour ton poste au CRCHUM, en te souhaitant la meilleure des chances possibles. Merci à Romain, qui a été mon mentor durant mes débuts au laboratoire. Merci à Laure avec qui j'ai partagé la meilleure molécule au monde, ALCAM. Merci pour ton aide et merci pour les discussions que nous avons eues. Merci à Bieke pour ça joie de vivre communicative dans le laboratoire. Merci d'avoir organisé tous ces sorties et ces événements durant une période où le laboratoire était plus monotone. Merci à Marc pour ton aide lors de sacrifices de souris et pour avoir roulé de nombreux des cerveaux avec moi. Merci à Jorge de m'avoir enseigné les spécificités de la microscopie. Merci à tous les autres membres du laboratoire Elizabeth, Soufiane, Simone, Steve, Aurore, Connie, Lamia, Olivia, Akiko, Takahiro et les nouveaux Camille G., Catherine Lachance, Evelyn, Florian, Jean-Philippe, Paula, Tesse et Stephanie. Merci pour toute votre aide, pour les discussions, conseils et sorties qui ont été essentiels à ma survie.

Je tiens à remercier particulièrement la Dre Nathalie Arbour pour son aide technique et scientifique durant mon PhD. Merci aussi pour ton support moral dans les moments un peu plus difficiles et merci de m'avoir aiguillé en tant que marraine scientifique de mon projet. Chaque étudiant du laboratoire Prat a toujours pu compter sur toi en cas de problèmes et nous t'en remercions. Un merci tout spécial à Camille Pittet qui a d'abord fait partie du laboratoire Arbour pour ensuite devenir technicienne dans notre laboratoire. Merci pour ton aide technique lors de mes multiples stainings. Merci également à Raphael pour toutes les discussions scientifiques lorsque tu étais dans le laboratoire de Nathalie et merci pour une belle amitié qui perdure depuis. Merci à tous les membres du laboratoire Arbour: Diane, Fatma, Alma, Gabrielle, Negar, Laurine, Florent, Florence et Cyril.

Je voudrais aussi remercier particulièrement certains chercheurs avec qui j'ai eu des discussions enrichissantes et qui m'ont aidé à compléter mon projet. Merci au Dr. Steve Lacroix pour ça générosité, pour m'avoir permis d'en apprendre davantage sur la microscopie intravitale et pour de nombreuses collaborations. Merci aux Dr. Réjean Lapointe, Dr. Jean-François Cailhier, Dr. Luc Vallières, Dr. Samuel David, Dr. Jack Antel et Dr. Pierre Duquette.

Finalement, je remercie ma famille, mon père, ma mère et mon frère, qui m'ont tout donné durant ces années et de nombreuses auparavant. C'est grâce à vous avant tout que j'aime la science. Merci aussi à tous mes amis et particulièrement à Eric et Janie qui ont toujours été là pour moi dans les moments difficiles, comme dans les bons moments. Tout simplement merci. Sans vous la vie serait tellement moins agréable !

Merci à tous ces gens sans qui tout cela n'aurait pas été possible.

Introduction

The central nervous system (CNS) has eluded many generations of scientists, clinicians and scholars owing to its inherent complexity and dynamic environment. While somewhat paradoxical, for generations, we could not understand the origin of our thoughts, nor the process behind it. With the rapid development of new technologies, we are slowly beginning to understand the genesis of new memories and abilities, while gradually deciphering innate capabilities both at a molecular and cellular levels. Although these scientific breakthroughs have allowed us to understand, as of now, a fraction of the CNS processes in homeostatic conditions, they have also fashioned the medical and pharmaceutical field in the context of CNS diseases.

The inflammation of the CNS can be induced by a wide variety of events, including infections, autoimmunity, traumatic brain injury and accumulation of misfolded proteins or toxic metabolites. Persistence of the inflammatory stimuli and/or failure to resolve the acute inflammatory response can lead to chronic inflammation of the CNS. Under homeostatic conditions, the CNS is widely regarded as an immunologically privileged site and its environment is well controlled and balanced by the presence of the neurovascular unit (NVU), which comprises specialized endothelial cells (ECs), pericytes, basement membranes and supporting glial cells, including astrocytes and microglia. The NVU, acting as a blood-brain barrier (BBB), restricts the ingress of peripheral leukocytes and the movement of soluble factors into the CNS. For reasons yet unknown, the immune system of some individuals can gain access to the CNS and start targeting some of its components, ultimately leading to an autoimmune disease called multiple sclerosis (MS). While MS has been studied for decades, we still haven't discovered a cure. This challenging scientific endeavour is the premise behind this thesis.

[†] Parts of the introduction are based on the article "Glial influences on BBB functions and molecular players in immune cell trafficking" published in Biochimica et Biophysica Acta and written by myself.

1. The Central Nervous System

The CNS is composed of two main groups of cells: the neurons, which transport electrical and chemical signals from one cell to the next, and the glial cells, which support the neurons and maintain an homeostatic environment in normal conditions. Astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and microglia (along with some progenitor/stem cells) are grouped under the latter category of cells. The most numerous cell types, the astrocytes, can be divided in sub-categories based on their location and morphology in the CNS, but ultimately, they all provide a physical support to the other cells, while maintaining a suitable extracellular environment for neurons (especially in neuronal-synapses). The oligodendrocytes are specialized cells that wrap around neuronal projections (the axons) of several neurons, and form lipid-rich multi-sheeted isolation membranes called myelin sheets. These sections of myelin sheets improve the rate of electrical signal propagation along the axons and are necessary to the proper functioning of the CNS [1]. Microglia are the resident macrophages of the CNS. They help maintain the neuronal network via synaptic pruning and also provide the innate immune response in case of pathogen infiltration or traumatic injury. Whereas all the previous CNS cells originate from the neuroectoderm, microglia have a mesodermal origin. Recently, they were shown to be derived from primitive erythromyeloid progenitor cells, which invade the brain from the yolk sac at a very early stage of embryonic development [2-4].

1. The CNS Vasculature

Neurons have a high requirement for oxygen and nutrients. In fact, about 20% of the oxygen and 25% of the glucose consumed by an individual are dedicated to the CNS and yet it constitutes only about 2% of the total body mass [5]. The CNS therefore requires a high volume of blood, which is carried by a dense network of highly regulated specialized vessels that provide the essential nutrients, while also restricting the entry of soluble factors. The vascular system carries freshly oxygenated blood via the two carotid arteries and the two vertebral arteries to the

circle of Willis. From there, cerebral arteries irrigate blood vessels contained within the subarachnoid space, a sub-section of the meningeal tissue surrounding the CNS (Figure 1).



Nature Reviews | Immunology



showing the vicinity of a blood vessel penetrating the CNS. Image from Ransohoff and Engelhardt [6].

Branching blood vessels then penetrate into the CNS parenchyma. The perivascular space found between the arterioles and the invaginating pia matter is called the Virchow-Robin space. It is an area where immune cells (meningeal macrophages or peripheral leukocytes) can accumulate during CNS inflammation. Deeper into the parenchyma, arterioles and capillaries are constituted of specialized endothelial cells forming the blood-brain barrier, which will be further discussed in the following chapters. Produced by ECs on their abluminal side, the endothelial basement membrane is fused with the parenchymal basement membrane. In postcapillary venules, however, these two basement membranes can separate to form a perivascular space where infiltrating immune cells preferentially accumulate before trafficking to the parenchyma. As this region lies outside the parenchymal basement membrane, which form a continuous boundary with the glia limitans, the perivascular space is considered outside the CNS parenchyma. It can therefore be populated by meningeal macrophages under homeostatic conditions, which can sample the interstitial fluid draining toward the surface of the CNS into the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) [6].

The CSF is carried by another network of compartments present in the CNS. This fluid occupies the subarachnoid space, the ventricles, the cisterns and sulci of the brain, as well as the central canal of the spinal cord. Under homeostatic conditions, the CSF moves within the CNS ventricular system carrying ions, glucose and some patrolling immune cells, but very few soluble proteins. The CSF also helps protect the CNS from impacts and abrasion, while adjusting to the changes in brain volume and intracranial pressure. Furthermore, it participates in the CNS environment stability by carrying away metabolic wastes and lipid-insoluble compounds. It is generated by the choroid plexus in the ventricles of the brain, where liquid from the blood permeates the fenestrated blood vessels and the ependymal cells by osmotic pressure. Since the CSF is constantly being produced, an equivalent portion is therefore continually reabsorbed. The reabsorption of the CSF by the blood can occur in the dural venous sinuses via the arachnoid villi. Besides this pathway, the CSF was demonstrated to flow through the cribriform plate, into

the nasal submucosal lymphatic channels and reaching the deep cervical lymph nodes (LN). This CSF egress is believed to be significantly important for the presentation of CNS antigens to peripheral immune cells [6-9]. While very few laboratories have studied leukocytes egress from a healthy or inflamed CNS, two recent studies have provided evidence suggesting that B lymphocyte egress from the CNS is possible [10, 11]. Using CNS tissue and draining cervical lymph nodes from the same patients, the two groups have demonstrated that B cell clones are shared between the two compartments. In addition, they demonstrated that, from the founding clones, subsequent maturation appeared to take place in the cervical lymph nodes rather than the CNS and involved a bidirectional exchange. The CSF flow towards the cervical LN and this bidirectional exchange could therefore play an important role in epitopes spreading, a phenomenon well described in animal studies whereby the antigenic targets of the CNS inflammatory attack shift over time as injury exposes additional epitopes [10-12]. Additionally, the recent rediscovery of the "CNS lymphatic system", dural lymphatic vessels, have reminded us that leukocytes and/or CNS antigens could also circulate from the subarachnoid space to the deep cervical LN via these vessels [11, 13-15]. Although this thesis will mainly focus on microvascular blood vessels, it is imperative to acknowledge the importance of the CSF and it's carrying compartments in the CNS homeostasis and during neuroinflammation.

2. Formation of the Blood-Brain Barrier

CNS blood vessel formation starts with the invagination of the perineural vascular plexus. Tip cells guide the outgrowing capillaries towards a vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) gradient to form vascular sprouts, in a process known as angiogenesis [16, 17]. At this early stage of neurovascular development, the primitive network of CNS vessels lacks functional barrier properties and proper organization of tight junction (TJ) complexes. Multiple signalling molecules and transcription factors, notably produced by the radial glial cells, are involved in the establishment of the anteroposterior and dorsoventral axes, which are essential during embryogenesis [18]. Many of these factors, in addition to VEFG, are involved during angiogenesis: these include Notch1, Wnt, ephrins, fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), Sonic Hedgehog and retinoic acid (RA) [19]. In conjunction, all these signalling pathways remodel and stabilize the embryonic vasculature and play a major role during the development of the BBB [20-25]. Indeed, BBB properties are not intrinsic to CNS-ECs, but emerge gradually during a maturation/specialization phase dependent on the association of ECs that line the newly formed vessels with perivascular glial cells and pericytes. This was evidenced by transplantation experiments in which peripheral vessels acquired functional and histochemical BBB features following prolonged contact with neuronal tissue [26]. In contrast, meningeal blood vessels, which express TJs but are not in direct contact with glial cells, display higher vascular permeability, as compared to BBB-ECs [23].

Pericytes are known to promote BBB properties in ECs. EC–pericyte interactions are primarily mediated by secreted Platelet Derived Growth Factor B homodimers (PDGF-BB), Notch, Transforming Growth Factor- β (TGF- β), and by N-cadherin homotypic interactions [27]. Gap junctions formed by pairs of connexin 43 hemichannels also allow direct molecular communication between the cytoplasm of pericytes and BBB-ECs. Of note, in larger blood vessels, smooth muscle cells replace pericytes and form a continuous layer surrounding ECs [27].

Although the ratio of pericytes to ECs is highest in the CNS microvasculature, the critical role of astrocytes in regulating BBB maintenance and integrity cannot be overlooked. Histological studies using fetal human brain tissue have demonstrated the presence of astrocytes in the CNS around the 9th week of gestation, and direct astrocyte-endothelial cell contact 8

weeks later [28, 29]. In the fully developed CNS, perivascular astrocytic end-feet almost completely ensheath the abluminal surface of the CNS microvasculature [30] (**Figure 2**).



Figure 2 – **The neurovascular unit (NVU).** The NVU is composed of specialized endothelial cells (ECs) surrounded by two basement membranes and perivascular astrocytes and microglia. Essential in maintaining the blood-brain barrier integrity, the different tight junction and adherens junction molecules efficiently link together adjacent ECs, as shown in the magnified window. In the context of neuroinflammation, leukocytes accumulate in the perivascular space located in-between both basement membranes. Upon acquiring the capacity to secrete matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), these leukocytes migrate into the central nervous system. *ZO-1, - 2, -3: Zonula occludens / PECAM-1: Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1 / VE-cadherin: vascular endothelial-cadherin (cadherin 5).* Image from Lécuyer et al. [31].

Although astrocytes are separated from pericytes and ECs by a thin and compact double basement membrane (BM) (endothelial BM and parenchymal BM), connexins allow direct communication between these cellular constituents of the NVU [27]. In fact, astrocytes are responsible for inducing proper relative positioning of pericytes and ECs in tube-like structures *in vitro* [32] and are known to impact on BBB-ECs via different molecular pathways. Our group

has shown that astrocyte-conditioned media induces or re-establishes partial BBB properties to *in vitro* cultures of meningeal and BBB-ECs, respectively [33, 34] (and non-published data).

Finally, beyond their important role during CNS neuronal development, microglial cells also contribute to CNS angiogenesis by promoting tip cell fusion and migration [35]. Evidence brought forward by Tammela et al. [36] shows that microglia-derived VEGF-C activates VEGF receptor-3 (VEGFR-3) in tip cells and promotes angiogenesis and vascular branching. Like astrocytes, microglia are found in close proximity to the mature CNS vasculature, suggesting their involvement in regulating BBB functions in adults (**Figure 3**). But whereas numerous studies have focused on the role of microglia in BBB breakdown, few have addressed their potential contribution to maintaining BBB properties.



Figure 3 – Microglial interaction with the CNS vasculature. Human brain microglia (Iba1, red) is shown to interact with capillaries (Laminin, green) in both normal appearing white matter (top) and multiple sclerosis lesion (bottom) by confocal microscopy. Nuclei = blue, Topro-3. Scale bar = $10 \mu m$. Image from Lécuyer et al. [31].

The concerted action of all these cellular components is required for the BBB to acquire and maintain its unique properties and functions. In the late stages of BBB formation, all these cellular inputs drive an increase in the organization and the complexity of TJs strands, forming inter-membranous networks of fusion points that can be visualized by freeze-fracture microscopy [37].

3. The Blood-Brain Barrier Endothelial Cells

The BBB is a highly organized multicellular complex responsible for maintaining CNS homeostasis by constantly regulating the exchange of molecules with the systemic circulation and restricting the ingress of peripheral immune cells into the CNS. The restrictive permeability of BBB-ECs is attributed in part to their inherent low pinocytic activity and their high concentration of efflux transporters. These specialized ECs also lack fenestrae and are tightly bound together by TJ and adherens junction (AJ) molecules, located in the intercellular space between adjacent ECs (Figure 2). TJs form the apico-lateral barrier and are composed of at least two 4-pass transmembrane protein families: the claudins [38] and TJ-associated MARVEL proteins (TAMP) (occludin [39], tricellulin [40, 41], and MARVELD3 [42]). Ig-like adhesion molecules, such as junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs), coxsackie and adenoviral serotype 2/5 receptor (CAR) [43], and endothelial cell-selective adhesion molecule (ESAM) [44] are also located at the apico-lateral barrier. Together, these proteins form large molecular aggregates located in cholesterol-rich cell membrane regions called lipid rafts [34, 45]. Along with actin filament-anchored adaptor molecules zonula occludens (ZO-1, -2 and -3) [46], cingulin [47] and membrane-associated guanylate kinase protein family (MAGUK) [48], they form a macromolecular complex capable of recruiting various protein kinases, phosphatases, and transcription factors that regulate cell polarity, proliferation and differentiation [49]. However, the contribution of TJs and TJ-associated adaptor molecules to intra- and inter-cellular signalling, gene transcription and the modulation of barrier function is still poorly understood.

AJs, which are located alongside the TJs, consist of transmembrane proteins of the cadherin family. BBB-ECs are known to express only two members of this family: vascular endothelial (VE)-cadherin and neuronal-cadherin (N-cadherin). However, N-cadherin does not play a role

at endothelial cell-cell junctions but instead establish contact between endothelial cells and pericytes [50, 51]. VE-cadherin associates via an extracellular domain with vascular endothelial protein tyrosine phosphatase (VE-PTP) [52]. A number of peripheral cytoplasmic proteins of the catenin family (α -, β -, P120) [53] also link cadherins to the cytoskeleton [54, 55]. Similarly, a third group of cell-cell junctional proteins called tight junction-associated cell adhesion molecules (TJaCAMs) are present at the basolateral side of BBB-ECs. These proteins include CD99 [56], platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1 (PECAM-1/CD31) [57, 58], intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) [59], melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM/CD146/S-endo-1) [60, 61], integrins and other poorly characterized proteins. TJaCAMs are known to have homophilic and heterophilic binding capacity and have been shown to mediate cell-cell or cell-basement membrane matrix adhesion [62, 63]. Together, all these junctional proteins highly restrict leukocyte transmigration under homeostatic conditions and are crucial to the molecular and cellular biology of ECs.

4. Blood-Brain Barrier Endothelial and Glial Cell Interactions in Homeostatic Conditions

Preserving neurovascular cell polarization by establishing a tightly controlled gradient between the luminal and abluminal surface of ECs is essential for maintaining the integrity and organization of TJ molecules, cell adhesion molecules, membrane receptors, ion channels, etc. The polarization of astrocytes is also critical for proper orientation of their own cellular machinery with respect to neuroglial cells and ECs, but also to establish the polarity of the BBB endothelium itself. This is exemplified in astrocyte end-feet, which are enriched in water channel aquaporin 4 (AQP4) and in inwardly rectifying potassium channel Kir4.1, both integral parts of the orthogonal arrays of particles (OAPs) [64] (Figure 4).



Figure 4 – Paracrine and autocrine regulation of the BBB during homeostasis and inflammation. Perivascular cells such as pericytes and glial cells have a major impact on bloodbrain barrier (BBB) functions. In homeostatic conditions, these cells provide a wide variety of secreted factors which, along with contact-dependent interactions, induces barrier properties. However, upon central nervous system inflammation, every cellular constituent of the neurovascular unit can promote barrier breakdown and facilitate immune cell transmigration. *N-cadherin: Neural cadherin / Pgps: Permeability glycoproteins / Glut1: Glucose transporter* 1 / Smo: Smoothened / Ptch: Patched-1 / PDGFR β : Platelet-derived growth factor receptors β / PDGF-BB: Platelet-derived growth factor subunit B / FGFs: Fibroblast growth factors / GDNF: Glia-derived neurotrophic factor / AQP4: Aquaporin 4 / ANG1-2: Angiopoietin-1-2 / AGT: Angiotensinogen / Shh: Sonic hedgehog / MMPs: Matrix metalloproteinase / ROS: Reactive oxygen species / NOS: Nitric oxide synthase / TGF- β : Transforming growth factor β / VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor / OAPs: Orthogonal arrays of particles / TNF: Tumor necrosis factor. Image from Lécuyer et al. [31].

OAPs are segregated towards the perivascular space through a specific isoform of agrin, a heparin sulphate proteoglycan located within the CNS vascular basement membranes. NtA-agrin 0, A/y0, B/z0 is the long N-terminus variant (basal laminae-binding region) that does not incorporate any amino acid at the three different possible insertion sites [65, 66]. This isoform

is secreted by both ECs and astrocytes [67, 68]. NtA-agrin forms, along with α -dystroglycan, α 1-syntrophin, laminin 1 and 2, perlecan and others, a molecular scaffolding complex (dystrophin–dystroglycan complex) that binds to OAPs and links various cytoskeletal-associated proteins [69, 70]. This protein complex is required to provide optimal BBB properties, as the deficiency in one of its members, glial- α -dystrobrevin, leads to an increase in BBB permeability, water retention and can cause progressive brain oedema. This phenotype is associated with the loss of OAPs and the formation of intracellular vacuoles in astrocyte end-feet. These defects are thought to modify astrocyte-endothelial interactions and cause a deregulation of TJ molecule expression [71]. However, Haj-Yasein et al. [72] have demonstrated that the absence of AQP4 in astrocytes significantly reduces CNS water intake and consequently, brain oedema, using a stroke model in AQP4 knockout (KO) mice. It is worth pointing out that these animals have an intact BBB, unlike α -dystrobrevin-deficient mice. These studies highlight the inherent complexity of the dystrophin–dystroglycan complex in regulating BBB properties.

A growing body of evidence points towards the critical role of astrocytes in inducing BBB features and functions by promoting the proper expression and assembly of intermolecular junctions [33, 73], transporters (permeability glycoprotein 24 (Pgp24), glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1), etc.) [74], and enzymatic pathways [75, 76]. Studies have also convincingly demonstrated that astrocyte-secreted factors, including VEGF, TGF-B, glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), FGFs, and angiopoietin-1 (ANG1), are at least partly responsible for modulating BBB functions [77, 78]. Angiopoietins bind BBB-ECs via the tyrosine kinase Tie-2 receptor. Specifically, ANG1 participates in angiogenesis and vascular homeostasis by upregulating the expression of TJs, thereby reducing EC permeability [79, 80]. Similarly, FGFs promote BBB-EC tightness by regulating catenin–VE-cadherin interactions. Murakami et al. [81] have demonstrated that FGF blockade triggers VE-cadherin internalization, which leads to a loss of BBB integrity. FGFs presumably act by downregulating VEGF downstream signalling, thus preventing a destabilization of AJs. VEGF is primarily known as a pro-angiogenic factor that promotes the growth of ECs through VEGFR-1, -2 and as such, can disrupt the BBB [82]. Conversely, GDNF has been shown to decrease vascular leakage by significantly increasing the trans-endothelial electrical resistance (TEER) of BBB-ECs via an upregulation of claudin-5

expression. Although astrocytes are the main source of GNDF, pericytes have also been shown to secrete it [83, 84]. Finally, of all astrocyte-secreted factors, TGF- β is undoubtedly the most studied and paradoxically one of the least well-understood molecules. This pleiotropic cytokine is secreted by, and acts on a wide variety of cell types. It is involved in a plethora of cellular processes, including apoptosis, wound healing, embryogenesis, cell proliferation and differentiation [85-89]. Although TGF- β was originally regarded as an anti-inflammatory cytokine, mainly because of its role in promoting regulatory T cell functions, we now know that it also drives the differentiation of pro-inflammatory Th17 cells [90]. Emerging evidences highlight the dual role of TGF- β and its increased expression in several neuroinflammatory diseases, including multiple sclerosis (MS) [89], Alzheimer's disease (AD) [91] and stroke [92]. TGF- β has a neuroprotective role in the developing CNS through its effects in modulating the expression of Pgp efflux transporter on BBB-ECs and astrocyte end-feet, thereby restricting the penetration of xenobiotics into the CNS [93]. In a recent study, Pgp expression was shown to be significantly downregulated by BBB-ECs within the inferior colliculus following chemically induced focal astrocyte-microglial cell death. During the subsequent repopulation phase, a prolonged astrogliosis was observed in the affected area, while Pgp expression returned to its basal level [94]. Assessment of gadolinium and fluorescently labelled-dextran leakage also demonstrated BBB integrity disruption. This increase in permeability was maintained till the end of the regenerative phase. Altogether, these experiments highlight the role of astrocytes in maintaining Pgp and TJ expression in BBB-ECs [94-96]. Many glial factors, including the aforementioned ones, play a prominent role in regulating the physiology and functions of the BBB during homeostasis. However, they may be differentially modulated in a neuroinflammatory context, either to promote tissue repair and prevent inflammation or to increase immune cell transmigration and BBB permeability.

5. Leukocyte Diapedesis across the CNS Barrier

In neuroinflammatory disorders such as MS, pro-inflammatory encephalitogenic immune cells migrate across the BBB to gain access to the CNS and cause disease. This process has been

extensively studied over the last three decades and is thought to involve a sequential cascade of events [97-101] (Figure 5).



Figure 5 – The transmigration cascade. The first step in this cascade of events is termed rolling, which initiate the interaction between leukocytes and activated endothelial cells (ECs). It is mediated by various selectins and their ligands. Chemokines secreted by the ECs trigger an increase in the binding affinity and avidity of integrins for their ligands, which mediates the complete arrest of immune cells. This adhesion step is also mediated by a wide variety of cell adhesion molecules. The adherent leukocytes then undergo a process called crawling, where they move against the blood flow in order to find a suitable area to migrate across the blood-brain barrier-EC layer. *PSGL1: p-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 / ESL1: E-selectin ligand 1 / PECAM-1: Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1 / ICAM-1,-2: Intercellular adhesion molecule 1,2 / JAM-A: Junctional adhesion molecule / ESAM: endothelial cell-selective adhesion molecule / MCAM: activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule / VCAM: vascular cell adhesion molecule / VLA-4: very late antigen 4 (integrin \alpha 4\beta 1) / LFA-1: Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1. Image from Lécuyer et al. [31].*

Initial contact between blood circulating leukocytes and the vascular endothelium is mediated by fluid dynamics. Leukocytes flowing into small capillaries and post-capillary venules tend to be off-centered, a phenomenon called margination [102]. This is caused by the

aggregation of rapidly flowing red blood cells (RBCs) in the center of blood vessels, as a result of their biconcave shape. When immune cells exit capillaries to enter post-capillary venules, RBCs push slower leukocytes on the vessel wall, at the blood-endothelium interface, where they are then free to probe the surface of BBB-ECs for potential ligands [102-104]. Not only are post-capillary venules physically favoured by fluid dynamics as the transmigration site of immune cells, but studies have also identified differences between the endothelial cells of postcapillary venules and the ones forming the rest of the vascular network. Electron microscopy studies have shown disorganization in TJ and AJ molecules in post-capillary venule ECs. These results corroborated previous data showing that post-capillary vessels cannot completely prevent the leakage of exogenous tracers into the perivascular space [105]. Additionally, recent work by the group of Dr. Sorokin has demonstrated that CNS post-capillary endothelial basement membrane lacks laminin $\alpha 5$, which selectively inhibits immune cell extravasation [106, 107]. These findings are substantiating experiments demonstrating the presence of different constituents in the venule basement membrane in periphery [108]. Collectively, this provides an explanation for the transmigratory tropism of leukocytes towards post-capillary vasculature in the CNS.

The short initial interaction between BBB-ECs and leukocytes is termed *capture*, *rolling* or *tethering* and is mediated by selectins and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), expressed on the surface of BBB-ECs, and their respective ligands: carbohydrates and α4-integrins expressed on immune cells. Slow rolling along the vessels' lumen allows leukocytes to sample chemokines secreted under inflammatory conditions, such as interleukin-8 (IL-8), monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1 or chemokine C-C motif ligand 2 (CCL2)), regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES or CCL5) and interferon gamma-induced protein 10 (IP-10 or chemokine C-X-C motif ligand 10 (CXCL10)) [109, 110]. This triggers G-coupled protein signalling and initiates an intracellular cascade that leads to integrin clustering and enhances their binding affinity for their ligands, a step called *activation* [111]. Integrin clustering allows adhesion strengthening and facilitates leukocytes firm *arrest*. This step is also mediated by endothelial cell adhesion molecules (CAMs: ICAM-1, VCAM-1, MCAM, Ninjurin and activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM)), the expression of which is highly upregulated upon inflammatory stimuli that originate from the

parenchyma or from the release of pro-inflammatory mediators by leukocytes [55, 112, 113]. Integrin/CAM-mediated cell adhesion is followed by *crawling* of immune cells preferentially against the direction of the blood flow to find a permissive site for transmigration [114-116]. Intraluminal crawling is dependent on ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 [115]. Of note, under certain circumstances, immune cells may adhere directly to BBB-ECs without apparent rolling [112, 117, 118]. However, it remains unclear whether prior *rolling/activation* occurred upstream of the observation site, or if it is a dispensable step of the leukocyte recruitment cascade. The final step of the cascade, *diapedesis*, is preceded by the formation of a docking structure called "transmigratory cup", whereby endothelial pseudopods reach out and surround the migrating leukocytes [119-121]. The existence of transmigratory cups, initially identified in non CNS-ECs, was confirmed using human and mouse CNS ECs [112, 113, 118]. Diapedesis can occur via two independent pathways: paracellularly, where leukocytes migrate in-between adjacent BBB-ECs or transcellularly, in which case, the immune cells extravasate directly through individual ECs by forming invasive podosomes (**Figure 6**) [122-124].



Nature Reviews | Immunology

Figure 6 – Dual cellular pathway of immune cells transmigration. A Immune cell firm adhesion can trigger intracellular signalling leading to an increase in BBB-EC contractility, which in turn can facilitate diapedesis. **B** Paracellular immune cell migration pathway showing possible interactions between BBB-EC TJ, AJ, TJaCAMs and leukocyte CAMs. **C** Transcellular migration route showing the invagination of the BBB-EC around the immune cell, creating a tunnel through the cell body and the mechanisms behind this cellular process (membrane internalization and reshuffling, actin polymerization, interaction with integrins/CAMs and their intracellular binding partners ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM)). **D** The migration of an immune cell across the basement membranes on the abluminal side of the BBB-ECs involving the secretion of MMP-2 and MMP-9 as well as different integrins and CAMs. Image adapted from Ley, K et al. [125].

In spite of the increasing knowledge on the mechanisms involved during diapedisis, the molecules that dictate whether a leukocyte extravasates via the paracellular or the transcellular routes are still ill-defined. [126]. For example, several TJaCAMs (JAM-A, CD99, PECAM-1 and MCAM) have been detected on both the apical and the basolateral surface of BBB-ECs under inflammatory conditions and therefore, could be involved in either transmigration processes [127]. One mechanism that was put forward to explain this dichotomy is the internalization of the aforementioned molecules in a complex lateral border-recycling compartment, whose functions are not fully understood yet but thoroughly discussed by Muller et al. [128, 129]. In sharp contrast, TJ and AJ molecules involved in diapedesis, such as ESAM and VE-cadherin, are present exclusively in the intercellular space between adjacent ECs and thus, could only participate in paracellular migration [129]. However, a study published by Riethmuller, C. and colleagues in 2008 has challenged this view by showing that leukocytes, in fact, migrated through ECs, albeit in close proximity to the intercellular space, without disrupting the continuity of junctions; thereby arguing against the concept of paracellular transmigration [130]. In a disease context, pro-inflammatory leukocytes can contribute to BBB disruption and increase its permeability by virtue of the cytokines they release [55, 98, 128]. In addition, transendothelial leukocyte migration can itself perpetuate the inflammatory cascade by favoring subsequent site-specific immune cell infiltration [131]. Finally, a number of yet unidentified molecules could play an important role in initiating site-specific transmigration. Therefore, this aging question stays as of yet unresolved.

While the transmigration of leukocytes across the BBB has been discussed, there are two other less well studied barriers, which can allow the passage of immune cells: the blood-meningeal barrier (BMB) and the blood-CSF barrier (BCB). The meninges are composed of three layers that surround the CNS (dura mater, arachnoid mater and pia mater) and contain the CSF located within the subarachnoid space (**Figure 1**). Though the meninges were initially considered as a simple protective tissue to the CNS, more recent studies have established that it is also the site of continual immune surveillance [132]. Leukocyte egress from meningeal blood vessels is facilitated by the increased permeability of this barrier as compared to the BBB. Further findings using intra-vital live imaging in animals have demonstrated that lymphocytes migrate across the BMB prior to the disease onset and get reactivated in the subarachnoid space
[116]. Corroborating with these results, spinal cord immune cell infiltration and lesion dissemination is usually found to originate from the meninges and progressing toward the center. Another point of entry to the CSF is the BCB or choroid plexus, which is also known to be more permeable than the BBB. There, leukocytes can migrate from the blood to the ventricles and the arachnoid space. As mentioned previously, the blood vessels forming the choroid plexus are fenestrated and the barrier is instead created by the ependymal cells surrounding the ventricles. Those cells constitutively expressed ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and P-selectins and might therefore be a point of entry for patrolling T lymphocytes in homeostatic conditions and pro-inflammatory encephalitogenic lymphocytes during neuroinflammation [6, 133].

6. Glial Influences on the Blood-Brain Barrier during Neuroinflammation

The role of gap junctions

A common denominator of many neurological diseases is the loss of BBB integrity and the presence of immune cell infiltrates in the CNS. However, it remains unclear whether BBB dysfunction precedes immune cell trafficking, or if it is a consequence of peripheral immune cell activation. While the migration process itself can modify the characteristics of leukocytes and that of BBB-ECs [134-136], astrocytes and microglia also play fundamental roles in regulating leukocyte effector function, either directly or via the modulation of BBB-EC phenotype. Our group has shown that the loss of BBB integrity associated with a dysregulation of TJ molecules occurs early during lesion formation and coincides with perivascular astrogliosis and upregulation of endothelial CAMs. These findings suggest that BBB disruption precedes any overt CNS immune cell infiltration and might be a direct consequence of glial cell activation [137]. Small molecules involved in cell signalling and metabolism can spread rapidly through the continuous astrocyte network formed by gap junctions, and also referred to as the astrocytic syncytium [138, 139]. This network allegedly also serves to coordinate effectively and unify the immune response to stimuli, either to maintain homeostasis or to propagate proinflammatory signals (Figure 4) [140]. As such, this mechanism might be implicated early during lesion formation. However, evidence against this hypothesis also exists: Brand-Schieber et al. demonstrated a significant decrease in expression of connexin 43 in astrocytes within

inflammatory lesions during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), an animal model of MS [141]. It remains unclear whether this decreased expression translates into loss of function, and if it precedes focal inflammation. Another study has shown that the absence of astroglial connexin 43 promotes the recruitment of leukocytes via the activation of BBB-ECs (upregulation of CAM expression and chemokine secretion), effectively compromising CNS quiescence [142]. Although the absence of connexin 43 is associated with a progressive weakening of the BBB, the immune cell infiltration was not the result of an early BBB breakdown or glial cell activation in these KO animals. Unlike in other neuroinflammatory conditions, the immune cell response within the CNS of these animals was efficiently and rapidly controlled [142]. This study demonstrates an essential role for connexin-43 in maintaining CNS homeostasis, but also reveals that its absence does not, by itself, trigger a chronic autoimmune reaction. Furthermore, another study from the same group reports a significant loss of AQP4 and β-dystroglycan in astrocyte end-feet, associated with a disrupted BBB and brain oedema in mice deficient for astrocytic expression of connexin 43 [143]. These findings are in agreement with several studies which correlated CNS inflammation with impaired segregation of AQP4 at the astrocyte end-feet, as well as a disruption of dystrophindystroglycan complex; both involved in the regulation of brain water uptake [144]. On the other hand, another study demonstrated that the loss of both connexin 43 and 30, in double KO mice, resulted in a much worse phenotype, namely widespread white matter pathology (oedema and vacuolation of astrocytes and oligodendrocytes) accompanied with region-specific astrocytic abnormalities [145]. Yet, it is unclear whether the modulation of connexin and/or OAPs expression during neuroinflammation is beneficial or detrimental for disease resolution. In fact, reactive astrocytes can either elicit a pro- or an anti-inflammatory response.

The role of anti-inflammatory astrocyte-secreted molecules

Our group has recently uncovered the critical role of astrocyte-secreted Sonic hedgehog (Shh) in dampening CNS inflammation. We showed that Shh, which expression is upregulated upon inflammatory challenge, alleviates neuroinflammation via activation of the signal transducer Smoothened (Smo), transcription factors of the Gli family and the Shh receptor Patched-1 (Ptch-1) expressed by BBB-ECs. BBB-ECs treated with Shh showed a reduced expression of CAMs, a decreased chemokine secretion and an increased TEER. In addition, *in vivo* permeability experiments performed on endothelial-specific Smo KO mice revealed a significant increase in BBB permeability that correlated with a deregulated expression of TJs and disrupted BMs, as compared to WT animals. [23]. We further recently demonstrated that Netrin-1 is a downstream effector of Shh that promotes BBB phenotype and functions during homeostasis and inflammation, via an autocrine signalling pathway. Netrin-1 treatment during EAE significantly reduced BBB disruption by upregulating endothelial junctional protein expression, while alleviating the clinical and pathological indices of disease. Aside from its ascribed role of promoting BBB formation, the hedgehog pathway acts with Netrin-1 as an important molecular repressor of CNS inflammation, while promoting BBB repair and integrity [146].

In order to control inflammation and promote homeostasis, astrocytes actively internalize glutamate and produce metabolizing enzymes and antioxidants, thus playing an important role in scavenging reactive oxygen species (ROS) and extracellular glutamate [147]. In a proinflammatory environment, activated astrocytes also selectively induce Toll-like receptor-3 (TLR3), which mediates the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines and neurotrophic factors [148]. Moreover, astrocytes can secrete angiotensinogen (AGT): a BBB-promoting factor that is cleaved into angiotensin-II, who then binds to type 1-angiotensin receptors expressed on BBB-ECs. Triggering this signalling cascade was shown to tighten the BBB via phosphorylation of occludin and its mobilization into intercellular lipid raft microdomains. In MS lesions, the expression of AGT by perivascular astrocytes is downregulated in a pro-inflammatory cytokine-dependent fashion, and is paralleled with a decreased expression of occludin on BBB-ECs. These findings were confirmed in AGT deficient animals, highlighting the ability of reactive astrocytes to contribute to BBB breakdown during neuroinflammation [34].

The role of VEGF

In contrast to AGT, several other astrocyte-secreted factors have been reported to promote inflammation in the CNS. Amongst them, VEGF has the capacity to disrupt the integrity of the

BBB by modulating the expression of junctional molecules, including VE-cadherin, claudin-5 and occludin; therefore, promoting immune cell migration into the CNS. The secretion of IL- 1β by activated microglia can also trigger the release of VEGF and thymidine phosphorylase (TYMP) by astrocytes [149, 150]. TYMP produces 2-deoxy-D-ribose which, along with VEFG, disrupts TJ proteins and increase BBB permeability. Both factors are also driving transcriptional pathways that result in the production of angiogenic and permeability genes [151]. However, it should be noted that VEGF can trigger independent pathways depending on which side of the BBB-ECs it is being secreted. A group has shown that the presence of VEGF on the abluminal side triggers signalling from VEGFR2, which in turns increase BBB permeability via p38. On the other hand, luminal VEGFR1 is activated by circulating factors and initiates Akt signalling pathways to promote cytoprotection. This highly polarized expression of VEGF receptors was found on CNS microvasculature, but not in peripheral vessels; illustrating the importance of BBB-ECs' polarity in responding to inflammatory cues originating from the blood or parenchymal tissue [152].

Apart from its direct role on the BBB, VEGF is also known to upregulate the surface molecule ephrinB2 on different cell subsets [153]. EphB receptors and ephrinB ligands are preferentially expressed by arterial ECs, but also by smooth muscle cells and pericytes [154, 155]. EphB2 was recently shown to be essential during blood vessel assembly suggesting a possible link between astrocyte-controlled angiogenesis, VEGF and EphB2-ephrinB2 [156]. Like VEGF, ephrins are also involved in neuroinflammation, particularly in leukocyte trafficking. They do so by acting as adhesion molecules or by regulating their activity. They have also been shown to modulate directly the activity of immune cells. For example, ephrinB2 was reported to be involved in T cell co-stimulation [80]. Our group is currently working on a study demonstrating that pro-inflammatory Th17 cells express high levels of ephrinB1 and ephrinB2, which facilitate their transmigration into MS lesions. This study also provides evidence that these ephrins are essential for Th17 differentiation and pathogenicity in the context of neuroinflammation [157].

VEGF, along with FGFs, can also indirectly promote neuroinflammation by modulating the secretion of angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2) by BBB-ECs. Ang-2 is synthesized and stored, like multiple other pro-inflammatory factors (IL-8, selectins), in endothelial granules called Weibel-Palade

bodies that are involved in the rapid response of ECs to external stimuli. Recent experiments have demonstrated that Ang-2 deficient animals are unable to trigger a prompt inflammatory response following infection. An in-depth analysis of the phenotype of Ang-2 KO mice revealed that Ang-2 is involved during the adhesion process, but does not affect the rolling ability of activated leukocytes. Ang-2 might also increase BBB permeability by regulating endothelial junctional molecules and integrins that bind to the matrix [80] and potentiate endothelial responses to pro-inflammatory cytokines, thus promoting the upregulation of CAMs [158].

The role of pro-inflammatory cytokines

Aside from leukocytes, which are the main source of cytokines in the inflamed CNS, activated astrocytes and microglia are known to secrete an array of pro-inflammatory molecules, including ROS, IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-17A, to name a few. Meeuwsen et al. reported the production of IL-17A (also known as IL-17) by stimulated astrocytes, although the relevance of their findings was not clear at the time [159]. Later, Tzartos et al. detected IL-17 mRNA and protein in perivascular lymphocytes but also in astrocytes and oligodendrocytes found within active MS lesions; clearly demonstrating that IL-17A is secreted by a broad spectrum of neuroglial cells, and that it might be implicated in pathways far more complex than previously anticipated [160]. More recently, Zimmermann et al. have shown, using glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-driven IL-17A transgenic mice, that overexpression of IL-17A by astrocytes alone can activate glial cells, but is not sufficient to cause parenchymal infiltration, demyelination or neurodegeneration. However, lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced endotoxemia in these animals triggers enhanced microglial activation along with increased pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion, as compared to controls [161]. Another study has demonstrated that IL-17A could promote neuronal injury in a dose-dependent manner in vitro [162]. Furthermore, microglia, and to some degree astrocytes, are also known to express IL-17A and IL- 17C receptors (IL-17RA, IL-17RC), which upon intracellular signalling can potentiate tumor necrosis factor (TNF) effects, and trigger the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and a wide range of chemokines involved in leukocyte trafficking, such as CXCL1 (GROa), CCL2 (MCP-1), CCL3 (macrophage inflammatory protein 1α (MIP-1α)), CCL20 (MIP-3α), CXCL2 (MIP-

2), CXCL9 (monokine induced by gamma interferon (MIG)), CXCL10 (IP-10) and CXCL11 (IP-9) [163-168]. Of note, MCP-1 was shown to increase BBB permeability by binding BBB-EC–expressed chemokine C-C motif receptor 2 (CCR2), which in turn activates small GTPase Rho and Rho kinases to trigger the reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton and redistribution of TJ proteins [169]. Conversely, IL-17A was also shown to displays CNS protective function by inducing neuronal repair via the expression of GDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factors (BDNF) and nerve growth factors (NGF). It is worth pointing out that whereas human IL-17A can bind both IL-17RA and IL-17RC receptors, mouse IL-17A only binds IL-17RA [170]. ECs, and even neurons, also upregulate their expression of IL-17RA receptors in the inflamed CNS. We have shown that IL-17RA is expressed at high levels on blood vessels within active MS lesions and that IL-17 increases BBB permeability in a dose-dependent manner, by disrupting TJ molecules. Similar to its effect on glial cells, IL-17 induces the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by BBB-ECs (IL-6, CCL2 and CXCL8), therefore, promoting leukocyte recruitment into the CNS [135].

IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine produced by astrocytes [171], brain endothelial cells [109] and microglia [171, 172] that is subjected to autocrine regulation. IL-6 expression can be induced by IL-17 alone or in synergy with TNF or IL-1 β . IL-6 has both neurotrophic effects (promotes neuron survival via BDNF [173]) and pro-inflammatory functions [174]. Therefore, both glial- and endothelial-produced IL-6 can influence BBB properties by modulating the expression of different CAMs, cytokines and chemokines [175]. IL-6 also induces the differentiation of naïve T cells into Th17 lymphocytes, in the presence of TGF- β . Th17 lymphocytes secrete IL-17, who acts in an autocrine feedback loop to stimulate the production of IL-6 by astrocytes. Within the CNS, Th17 lymphocytes can induce the expression of pro-inflammatory mediators by astrocytes and microglia through a contact-dependent manner, thus promoting myelin and neuronal damage [170, 176].

Another cytokine of the IL-6 family, oncostatin M (OSM) is highly produced by peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) obtained from MS patients [177]. It is also expressed by activated astrocytes and microglia surrounding MS lesions; suggesting that these cells might be an important endogenous cerebral source of OSM, in compromised CNS. OSM alone or in synergy with TNF has been shown to stimulate the expression of ICAM-1 and the production

of MCP-1 and IL-6 by BBB-ECs [178]. It can also act as a positive regulator of IL-6 expression by astrocytes [174]. More recently, OSM was also shown to decrease the TEER of rat BBB-ECs and impact on the integrity and organization of TJ molecules such as ZO-1 and claudin-5 [179]. Therefore, IL-6 family cytokines, secreted by astrocytes and microglia during neuroinflammation, contribute directly and indirectly to leukocyte trafficking across the BBB.

Reactive astrocytes and activated microglia are also known IL-15 producers. This proinflammatory cytokine induces the expression of hyaluronan on ECs, which in turn allows the extravasation of activated T lymphocytes into the CNS via a CD44-dependent adhesion cascade [180]. ECs themselves can secrete IL-15 and therefore, directly enhance the capacity of T lymphocytes to migrate into the CNS. IL-15 can also increase the avidity of lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) integrin to its ligand and affect the motility of immune cells [181]. Most notably, IL-15 is known to be involved in the activation of natural killer (NK) cells and can promote clonal expansion of NK-like CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, which exert cytotoxicity towards vascular ECs [182]. Another way by which IL-15 is implicated in neuroinflammation is by virtue of its role in maintaining and activating cytotoxic CD8⁺ T lymphocytes, known to contribute to MS pathogenesis. Saikali et al. have demonstrated that following stimulation with IL-15, CD8⁺ T lymphocytes up-regulated lytic enzyme production, NKG2D expression and antigen-directed cytotoxicity, which increased their ability to kill glial cells and migrate across BBB-ECs [183]. Our group has recently confirmed these data in a study which identified MCAM as a marker of encephalitogenic CD8⁺ T lymphocytes [184]. A report by Schneider et al. also shows that MS patients have elevated levels of IL-15 in their blood, as compared to healthy controls, and demonstrates that MS patient immune cells are more susceptible to the effects of this cytokine [185]. The fact that the majority of astrocytes and microglia present within demyelinating lesions express high levels of IL-15 underscores the critical role for IL-15 orchestrating multiple aspects of chronic inflammation in the CNS [183].

The role of ROS

Activated microglia produce ROS in response to NADPH oxidase activation. ROS are in part responsible for oligodendrocyte degeneration following oxidative damage during neuroinflammation [186]. While they can cause direct damage, ROS can also increase BBB permeability by activating the PI3K/ATK pathway and by decreasing the expression of VEcadherin, occludin and claudin-5 in BBB-ECs [187-189]. By doing so, the release of ROS facilitates leukocyte transmigration and allows leakage of plasma protein into the CNS, including fibrinogen. In a recent study, Davalos et al. have demonstrated a direct effect of fibrinogen on the activation state of microglia using two-photon live imaging. They observed an increased motility of microglia to form perivascular clusters prior to the development of CNS lesions [190]. Collectively, these data point to a feed-back/amplification mechanism between ROS production by microglia, BBB dysfunction, leakage of fibrinogen into the CNS and further activation of microglia, leading to enhanced ROS production. While we can speculate that, in experimental models of neuroinflammation, peripheral inflammation causes BBB leakage, which then induces activation of perivascular glial cells, the situation might be different in a disease context. In human neuroinflammatory diseases, it remains unclear whether glialsecreted inflammatory mediators induce the initial BBB breakdown, which causes the leakage of serum proteins that in turn promote glial cell activation in a positive feedback loop. The general consensus today is that microglia activation upregulates CAMs on the surface of brain ECs and compromises the integrity of the BBB in neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease and in MS [191-195].

The role of MMPs

Once they have crossed the BBB, infiltrating leukocytes accumulate in the perivascular space between the two BMs (**Figure 2**). In order to gain access to the CNS parenchyma, proinflammatory leukocytes need to secrete matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) and MMP-9, as well as extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer (EMMPRIN), which are required to cleave fibronectin, laminin and dystroglycans that form the parenchymal BM [196, 197]. As such, the parenchymal BM and the astrocyte end-feet constitute an additional physical barrier that renders the BBB more selective and tightly controlled, especially in an inflammatory environment. Microglia can also increase BBB permeability through secretion of MMPs (MMP-1, -2, -3, -9 and -19), which significantly destabilize the parenchymal BM. Microglial-produced MMPs have been detected within pre-active and active MS lesions, which suggest their possible involvement in early disease pathogenesis [198].

In spite of the remarkable increase of knowledge regarding the role of astrocytes and microglia during CNS inflammatory responses, further studies are needed to better understand their involvement in promoting leukocyte transmigration and BBB dysfunction, as well as their protective role in supporting cellular regeneration and CNS repair. It is becoming increasingly clear that the concomitant expression of multiple molecular and cellular effectors is required to initiate and sustain neuroinflammation, providing a mere glimpse into the complexity of the neuro-immune-glial crosstalk.

2. Leukocyte Populations

While leukocytes have been briefly mentioned in previous paragraphs, the following section will outline the different subsets of leukocytes and briefly discuss their role during an immune challenge.

1. Lymphocytes

Th1 Lymphocytes

The distinction between two different subsets of T helper cells was first made in 1986 in a now seminal study published by Mosmann, T.R. et al. [199]. It was proposed that CD4+ T lymphocytes could differentiate into a Th1 subset specialized in viral and intracellular pathogen clearance via the secretion of IFN γ or into a Th2 subset mediating humoral immune response and immune reaction against extracellular pathogens via the production of IL-4 [200]. Subsequent studies have also shown that Th1 differentiation is dependent on IL-12, which via its surface receptor, induces STAT4 regulated genes. Those genes, in turn, induce STAT1, the Th1-specific transcription factor Tbet and promote the secretion of IFN γ [201, 202]. Th1 cells are also known to secrete TNF and IL-2 following activation. Together these cytokines play a role in macrophages activation and cell cytotoxicity [203].

Th2 Lymphocytes

As previously mentioned, IL-4 is one of the major cytokines secreted by Th2 lymphocytes along with IL-5, IL-10, IL-13 and IL-25, which regulate the innate immune system. IL-4 also drives Th2 lymphocyte differentiation in a positive autocrine/paracrine feedback loop [204]. Mast cells and basophils can also produce high levels of IL-4 upon activation and are thus essential in priming Th2 cells against allergens and helminths [205]. An alternative activation pathway involves OX40-1 and the Notch ligands Jagged-1 and Jagged-2 on activated dendritic cells (DC) [206]. In either pathway, the transcription factor GATA-3 is induced and promotes Th2 differentiation, while also upregulating itself in a positive feedback loop [207].

Th3 Lymphocytes

Very little is known about Th3 lymphocytes, although they appear to be involved in the protection of gut mucosal surfaces from unwanted immune responses toward ingested antigens. In this regard, they are closely related to the other regulatory cells, such as Tr1 lymphocytes (discussed later), which are responsible for oral tolerance [208]. They mediate an antiinflammatory environment capable of inhibiting Th1 and Th2 lymphocytes by secreting primarily TGF- β but also to some extent IL-10 [209]. In this context, TGF- β is known to promote antibody class switch to IgA, which is essentially a non-inflammatory immunoglobulin. IgA does not trigger phagocytosis and it is a poor activator of the classic complement system. *In vitro* studies have also demonstrated that the differentiation of Th3 lymphocytes is enhanced by TGF- β , IL-4 and IL-10. Further findings suggest that Th3 lymphocytes can be differentiated from natural T regulatory lymphocytes (nTregs); however, it is still unclear whether Th3 lymphocytes and induced Tregs share the same lineage due to the absence of specific markers [210].

Th9 T Lymphocytes

IL-4 and TGF- β were found to promote the differentiation of naïve murine CD4+ T lymphocytes into IL-9-producing (Th9) T lymphocytes; however, no particular chemokine receptors have been linked to this potential T lymphocyte subset. On the other hand, recent studies have shown that PU.1 could be the unique transcription factor of Th9 cells [211]. Their exact function has yet to be completely determined, but they are thought to be involved in immunity against helminthic infections and they might promote inflammatory diseases via mast cells activation [212, 213]. They have also been linked to ulcerative colitis [214] and rheumatic diseases [215].

Th17 Lymphocytes

Although IL-17 (IL-17A) has been known as an important pro-inflammation molecule since the 1990s, the term Th17 has only been coined in 2005. The distinct nature of Th17 lymphocytes was established following the differentiation of naïve T lymphocytes into IL-17-secreting cells using only IL-23 in the presence of antigens and splenic feeder cells. These newly transformed cells were also not dependent on previously known Th1 or Th2 specific transcription factors [216, 217]. This major discovery was the direct consequence of previous studies that discredited Th1 lymphocytes as being solely responsible for some autoimmune diseases, such as MS. Indeed, Th1 response had been associated with autoimmunity since their discovery, as IFN γ molecules found in lesions usually correlated with the extent of the disease [218]. Further studies even showed that Th1 lymphocytes specific for cognate CNS antigens could adoptively transfer EAE into naïve host. However, the Th1 disease-driven hypothesis was challenged when mice lacking IL-12p35 [219], IL-12β2 receptor [220], IFNγ or IFNγ receptor were not protected from EAE, but rather developed a more severe disease [218]. Furthermore, at that time, a novel cytokine chain, p19, was discovered to heterodimerize with the p40 chain of IL-12. This novel cytokine was later named IL-23. Based on these new evidences, it became clear that disrupting p40 would affect not only IL-12, but also IL-23 pathways. The disease susceptibility of IL-23p19 and IL-12p35 deficient mice was therefore assessed and it was demonstrated that IL-23, but not IL-12 was necessary to induce EAE [221]. Two years later, the discovery of RORyt, a

transcription factor promoting Th17 genes, confirmed the independent nature of Th17 lymphocytes from the Th1 lineage [222].

In mice, TGF- β and IL-6 have been shown to be essential for the differentiation of naïve T cells into activated Th17 cells [223]. In humans, IL-6 and low level of TGF- β seems to be required (although debated [224, 225]), while the addition of IL-1 β induces a double positive phenotype (IL-17+/IFN- γ +) [224]. Even though IL-23 was first thought to be a key Th17 differentiation cytokines, the lack of receptors on naïve T lymphocytes demonstrated otherwise. It has since been linked to the stabilization of the phenotype [226]. As a result, we know that the combined signals of TCR binding, co-stimulatory molecules and cytokine receptors induce T-bet, ROR γ t and ROR α . In recent studies, the latter was reported to play a similar role, although not identical to ROR γ t, suggesting its implication in Th17 differentiation might be necessary [227]. Confirming these results, another study demonstrated that ROR γ t deficiency alone attenuated, but did not abolish the secretion of IL-17, while ROR α and ROR γ t double-KO completely inhibited the generation of Th17 [228]. Together, these transcription factors induce Th17 lymphocyte-lineage genes and trigger the production of IL-17, IL-17F, IL-21, IL-22, GM-CSF and under some conditions IFN γ .

The high interest given to Th17 lymphocytes in the last few years, and especially in autoimmune diseases such as MS, is mainly due to their implication in the pathogenesis of numerous inflammatory diseases. Dr. Prat's laboratory has also previously demonstrated that IL-17 and IL-22 were involved in the disruption of junctional molecules at the level of the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) during EAE. Furthermore, Th17 lymphocytes were shown to be very efficient at crossing the BBB and promoting directly brain lesions by secreting granzyme B or indirectly through the recruitment of effector lymphocytes [135]. Two years later, double positive Th17 lymphocytes were shown to preferentially cross the BBB, accumulating in the perivascular region in both EAE and MS [229]. However, adoptive EAE transfer of T lymphocytes deficient for IL-17A or IFNγ was shown to induce similar disease than the transfer of WT T lymphocytes [230]. By contrast, GM-CSF deficient T lymphocytes are incapable of inducing EAE and invading the CNS [231] and GM-CSF KO mice are resistant to EAE induction by MOG immunization [232, 233]. Corroborating these results, a recent study demonstrated that deleting the GM-CSF receptor on CCR2⁺Ly6C^{hi} monocytes prevented the induction of EAE, whereas the deletion of the receptor on dendritic cells (DCs) or neutrophils did not modify the course of the disease [234].

Th22 T Lymphocytes

Th22 lymphocytes have only been recently described following the identification of a subset of IL-22-secreting T lymphocytes distinct from Th17 lymphocytes [235]. Analogous to Th17 lymphocytes, experiments have shown the involvement of IL-6, but also TNF in the differentiation of Th22 lymphocytes [236]. However, as expected with *in vitro* studies, other groups have induced Th22 lymphocytes using other combinations of cytokines [235]. The exact cytokine cocktail has therefore yet to be completely determined. Borrowed from the Th17 studies and further studied in a Th22 context, the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) is a ligand dependent transcription factor that translocate into the nucleus and subsequently promotes IL-22 secretion [237]. IL-22 receptors are widely distributed in tissues, but IL-22 is a cytokine that acts mainly on epithelial cells. Therefore, Th22 T lymphocytes are presumed to play an important role in skin homeostasis and in the pathogenesis of skin diseases [236].

Naturally Arising Treg (nTreg)

Tregs are the most studied regulatory T lymphocytes. They have been discovered by comparing WT mice to animals with a mutated transcription factor forkhead box P3 (Foxp3). The phenotype of the transgenic animals (Scurfy mice) is characterized by an extensive multiorgan immune infiltration and drastically elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines level [238]. nTreg cells were further characterized as expressing CD4, high levels of CD25 and Foxp3 (and low levels of CD127 in humans). During the same year, Treg lymphocytes were identified in human peripheral blood and their ability to suppress T helper and cytotoxic cell proliferation was assessed *in vitro* [239]. Like other T lymphocytes, Treg express $\alpha\beta$ TCR and the costimulatory molecule CD28. They are also activated in a similar fashion via the interaction with the major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC-II) and B7 molecules, following which

they secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10, TGF-β). They can also act via the secretion of granzymes and perforins or via the CTLA-4 inhibitory co-stimulator on their surface. nTreg lymphocytes can therefore regulate both antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and effector T lymphocytes in a contact-dependent manner [240]. Naturally arising regulatory T lymphocytes are, as their name implies, developing naturally in the thymus and reside primarily in secondary lymphoid organs, where they express CCR7 and CCR6 chemokine receptors [241].

Induced Treg (iTreg)

On the other hand, adaptive or inducible Tregs exit from the thymus as naïve single-positive CD4 T lymphocytes. Once in the periphery, they differentiate into CD45RO, CD25 high and Foxp3 positive Tregs following antigenic stimulation in the presence of self-antigens and specialized immunoregulatory cytokines, such as IL-2, TGF- β , IL-10 and IL-4 [242, 243]. It was also demonstrated that iTregs can be induced by commensal immunomodulatory molecules such as polysaccharide A from *B. fragilis*. These cells were shown to effectively produce IL-10 during bacterial colonization [244] and to possess a shorter doubling time when compared to memory T helper lymphocytes. However, the same study also demonstrated that they are more prone to apoptosis [240]. Therefore, it is thought that iTregs are the primary cells responsible for immunoregulation at the sites of inflammation. In this context, iTregs are continuously stimulated by antigen presentation and the presence of growth factors facilitates their survival [242, 243].

Tr1

Tr1 cells were first discovered while studying colitis [245]. These T regulatory cells bear resemblance to other Treg lymphocytes, however, they do not express Foxp3 and possess only low amount of CD25 molecules on their surface [246]. More recently, they were shown to express the surface markers CD49b and lymphocyte activation gene (LAG-3), which facilitate their identification *in situ* but is not unique to this T lymphocyte subset. They have been shown to require IL-10 during their differentiation process and they, in turn, secrete high quantity of

IL-10 and to some extent TGF- β [247]. However, despite the discovery of these cells at the turn of the millennium, no specific transcription factor has yet been identified. We know that Tr1 cells are mostly found in the gut mucosa and are linked to oral tolerance and T lymphocyte immunoregulation in the context of intestinal flora [248].

Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte (CTL)

CD8+ T lymphocytes are cytotoxic cells from the adaptive immune branch. Like their CD4+ T lymphocytes relative, the vast majority of CTL express $\alpha\beta$ TCR on their surface, while the rest express $\gamma\delta$ TCR [249]. Their activation is thus regulated in a contact-dependent manner via the MHC-I/antigen complex present on APCs and on most of the cells in the body (target cells). Th1 CD4+ T lymphocytes are also known to provide them with indirect support via the secretion of cytokines [250]. As with other T lymphocyte subsets, CD8+ T lymphocytes possess a specific transcription factor called eomesodermin (Eomes) [249, 251]. It controls genes associated with the cytotoxic role of these cells. In order to accomplish their functions, CD8+ T lymphocytes are secreting perforins, which form pores in the target cells and allow granzymes to enter the cytoplasm. These enzymes mediate the induction of caspase cascades leading ultimately to program cell death. An alternative pathway using cell surface FAS ligands can also induce target cell apoptosis following its interaction with FAS receptors. Using their cytotoxic potential, CD8+ T lymphocytes are therefore responsible for controlling viral infection and tumor cells, but in the CNS of MS patients, these cells are known to attack directly oligodendrocytes and neurons [250, 252].

B Lymphocytes

While B cells have previously been characterized as antibody-secreting lymphocytes (plasma cells), studies have demonstrated that they can also act as efficient APCs by presenting the peptide that is recognized by their B cell receptor [253]. Furthermore, B lymphocytes can modulate the local inflammatory response of both T lymphocytes and myeloid cells through the secretion of pro-inflammatory (GM-CSF, IFN γ , IL-6, TNF α and lymphotoxin-alpha) or anti-inflammatory (IL-10 and IL-35) cytokines [254]. In a disease context, the abnormal presence of

antibodies in the CNS parenchyma or in the CSF continues to represent the most consistent diagnostic feature of patients with MS (discussed in the MS chapters). Early studies have demonstrated the presence of antibodies specific for myelin peptides or for the potassium ion channel KIR4.1 in the peripheral blood of MS patients [255-257]. Corroborating with these results, others have shown the presence of anti-myelin antibodies inside phagocytic cells within MS lesions [258]. However, more recent studies have analyzed the antibodies derived from CSF-expended B lymphocyte clones of MS patients and based on those results, concluded that autoantibodies may preferentially target neurons and astrocytes [259, 260]. Another debated theory around B lymphocytes is surrounding their presence in high number inside meningeal follicular-like structures during neuroinflammation [261-266]. Notwithstanding scientists' divergent opinions on this subject, the presence of B lymphocytes in the CNS of MS patients and their contribution to disease activity is more widely accepted. In fact, this knowledge as stem the development of an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody called Ocrelizumab, which is currently in phase III clinical trials and might soon be marketed as a therapy for MS. Anti-CD20 depletes B lymphocytes and substantially limits new disease activity [254], even though similar levels of endogenous antibodies can be found in the CSF of patients benefiting from the therapy [267]. This suggests that the therapeutic mechanisms of action by which B lymphocyte depletion limits new MS relapses are, at least in part, due to the antibody-independent role of B lymphocytes. As mentioned above, B lymphocytes can secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and multiple studies have demonstrated that MS patients tend to have increased frequencies of those pro-inflammatory immune cells, which are also more readily induced compared to cells from healthy controls [268]. Presumably, anti-CD20 treatment reduces overall inflammatory mediators, which affects both encephalitogenic lymphocytes and myeloid cells. In fact, B lymphocyte depletion studies have demonstrated a reduction in pro-inflammatory T lymphocytes in the CNS of treated MS patients [269, 270]. Similarly, using anti-CD20 to deplete B lymphocytes after EAE onset in mice significantly reduces disease progression and the number of CNS infiltrating leukocytes. This further demonstrates that B lymphocytes contribute to EAE pathogenesis even though they do not produce pathogenic CNS targeting antibodies in most models [271]. In contrast, B lymphocyte deficient mice were shown to have no remission following the initial disease onset. This failure to resolve the ongoing CNS inflammation

correlated with the absence of IL-10-producing B lymphocytes [272]. The importance of regulatory B lymphocytes to control the immune system was further demonstrated using B lymphocyte specific IL-10 KO mice infected with murine cytomegalovirus. With this infection model, WT regulatory B lymphocytes were shown to control virus-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes responses and plasma cell expansion [273]. Although there is no consensus on the targets of IL-10-secreting B lymphocytes, dendritic cells, which are involved in the induction of T lymphocyte activation and pathogenic T lymphocytes themselves have been proposed. Nonetheless, further research will need to be conducted to identify reliably pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory B lymphocytes subsets or their progenitors in an effort to target more specifically the encephalitogenic immune cells.

Other Lymphocytes

While many other subsets of lymphocytes exist, they will not be discussed in detailed here (NK T lymphocytes, innate T lymphocytes, etc.). Similarly, variations of lymphocytes discussed above also exist, such as Tc17 lymphocytes (CD8+ CTL expressing IL-17) and a vast number of IL-10-producing cells, which are thought to have transient regulatory effects [274, 275]. Finally, while some scientists believe that lymphocytes can be locked in one fate, others argue that most if not all T lymphocytes are intrinsically plastic, modifying their functions based on the environment surrounding them [276-278]. In any case, it is human nature to categorise and catalogue what we discover and therefore, it is likely that the current nomenclature will be maintained.

2. Antigen-Presenting Cells

Monocytes / Macrophages

Monocytes are innate immune cells of myeloid origin identified in part by their expression of CD11b in mice and CD14 and/or CD16 in humans. These cells, found in the blood and lymphoid organs, can transform into specialized APCs called macrophages once in the tissue. In an attempt to categorize these cells with a terminology reminiscent of the early T lymphocyte nomenclature, macrophages have been divided in two groups: the M1 or pro-inflammatory cells and the M2 or anti-inflammatory cells. Although many studies have identified "subset-specific" markers [279-281], most scientists agree that these myeloid cells are highly plastic and can adapt to their environment [282]. As such, this bi-modal taxonomy is a simple representation of what is really a complete spectrum of sub-populations and/or different stages of cell differentiation. To mitigate the inherent rigidity of this model, additional subgroups (M2a, M2b, M2c, M4, etc.) were defined by different researchers, adding to this still imperfect classification [283]. Anyhow, M1 cells have been generally identified as expressing high levels of Ly6C in mice, whereas high levels of CD14 and low levels or absence of CD16 is used to characterize this cell type in humans (classical monocytes). Once activated, these pro-inflammatory myeloid cells also express high level of co-stimulatory molecules (CD80/CD86), reactive oxygen species (ROS), nitric oxide (NO) and secrete inflammatory cytokines such as TNF, IL-12, IL-6, TNF, IL-1 β and IL-23. Conversely, M2 cells, which are believed to be patrolling immune cells involved in tissue repair, angiogenesis and tissue remodeling, secrete IL-10, TGF-B, glucocorticoids and express the prototypic enzyme arginase-1. They also express high levels of CD43, CD206 and low levels of Ly6C in mice, while low levels of CD14 and high levels of CD16 have been described in humans (non-classical monocytes). Macrophages respond to tissue invasion by external pathogens through the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines but also by engulfing the inflammatory stimuli via phagocytosis. To do so, macrophages express numerous pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on their surface, as well as MHC class I and II, which are used to present to T lymphocytes their engulfed antigens. Using a complex process combining adhesion molecules, co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines, macrophages form immune synapses with T lymphocytes and can activate/polarize them, allowing the activation of the adaptive division of the immune system [284, 285].

Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) carry functions similar to macrophages. They express PRRs and MHC class I and II on their surface, which makes them highly specialized APCs. As with the

monocytes/macrophages, DCs have been divided into two broad categories: conventional dendritic cells (cDCs or mDCs for myeloid dendritic cells) and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs). Whereas both mouse subset express CD11c, the prototypic mouse DC marker, the characterization of human DCs is somewhat more complex. Both human monocytes and cDCs can express CD11b, CD11c, CD13 and CD33, but DCs lack CD14/CD16. Analogous to macrophages, other sub-populations of DC have been observed. Human cDCs can be further divided into CD1c+ or CD141+ cells, which are homologous to mouse CD11b+ or CD8+ DCs, respectively [286]. On the other hand, human pDCs lack CD11b, CD11c, CD13 and CD33, but express CD123, BDCA-2 and BDCA-4 [287], whereas mouse pDCs express CD4, B220/CD45R, CD209 and Ly6C. Although cDCs and pDCs share similar precursors, the former cells are much more efficient at presenting antigens, while the latter produce massive amounts of IFN- α [288].

Additional non-lymphoid tissue APC subsets have been identified. These cells are usually referred to as tissue-resident macrophages and dendritic cells. Langerhans cells are found in the skin and mucosa, Kupffer cells in the liver, alveolar macrophages in the lungs and microglia in the CNS; each of which express different combinations of markers and perform slightly different functions adapted to their environments. Other resident-APCs without specific names, but nonetheless with highly important functions, have also been identified: meningeal macrophages, which survey the CSF, resident macrophages of the intestine, which maintain mucosal homeostasis, etc. [285, 289]. Although both of these immune cell populations are found in completely different regions of the body, they both have been implicated in the pathogenesis of MS. Indeed, a growing body of evidence suggests that the gut microbiome affects the development and the maintenance of the immune system, while being implicated in a range of disorders including inflammatory bowel diseases, autoimmune diseases, obesity, cardiovascular diseases, etc. [290-295]. The role of the gut microbiota as an MS risk factor will be further discussed in the next chapter.

3. Multiple Sclerosis

1. The History of the Disease

In 1868, Dr. Charcot, a French neurologist, described a neurological disease characterized by the presence of demyelinating plaques in the CNS. Adopting a descriptive nomenclature, he named the disease "sclérose en plaques", which can be directly translated as plaques of sclerosis, adapted in English as multiple sclerosis [296]. He also observed that patients affected by this disease showed intermittent neurological symptoms that varied between individuals and could be recurrent. He is generally regarded as being the father of MS clinical diagnosis and the basis of his histopathological work is still valid nowadays. In 1942, Dr. Kabat, well know for his work on antibodies, demonstrated the presence of gamma immunoglobulins in the CSF of MS patients and argued that these oligoclonal bands, as observed by electrophoresis, could help diagnose MS patients [297]. More recently, the development of new imaging technology using magnetic resonance and the marketing of novel immunomodulatory drugs have facilitated both the diagnosis and the treatment of MS. However, even if our knowledge on this illness has increased tenfold in the last few years, the cause(s) of MS is still unknown and as a result, it hampers our ability to cure the disease.

2. Clinical Aspects of the Disease

MS is an idiopathic demyelinating disease of the CNS characterized by the presence of inflammatory lesions disseminated both in time and space [298]. The loss of myelin sheets surrounding neurons slows down the transmission of electrical influx along the axonal projections, which in turn causes a large spectrum of symptoms in patients. In addition, the increased metabolic demand on the affected neurons, the collateral or direct inflammatory damages and the lack of adequate support contribute to Wallerian neuronal degeneration, which is the morphological basis of permanent clinical disabilities [299]. Depending on the area affected (brain or spinal cord, and their respective subregions), patients can demonstrate sensory deficiencies such as tingling, numbness or pain, as well as visual impairment, which is often

present during the first episode of neurologic symptoms (often referred to as clinically isolated syndrome (CIS)). Motor deficiencies are also a major component of MS symptoms, especially due to their inherent impact on the patient's daily activities. Again depending on the affected region and the degree of demyelination, symptoms can vary from a loss in coordination to partial or complete paralysis of one or multiple body parts. Gaiting difficulties and spasticity of the legs are two of the most recurrent motor deficiencies observed in patients. Finally, psychological and cognitive deficits, which are often subtler disabilities and not well represented in the measurement methods of MS progression (such as the expanded disability status scale (EDSS)), include fatigue (one of the most common symptoms in MS), emotional changes and depression to name a few [300, 301].



Figure 7 – Graphical representation of the different types of MS disease. Clinically measurable/perceived disabilities are shown over the dashed-line. Background/hidden disabilities and/or CNS damage are shown below the dashed-line. Copyright Marc-André Lécuyer.

Based on clinical observations, subtypes of MS disease have been described. Roughly 80 to 90% of MS patients will be affected by a relapsing-remitting form of MS (RRMS) following their CIS (**Figure 7**) [302, 303]. As the name implies, patients suffering from RRMS will have relapses (active disease with symptoms) followed by complete or incomplete remissions. A majority of these patients will later transition to a secondary progressive form of MS (SPMS), which is characterized by a progressive accumulation of disability, albeit episodic disease exacerbations may still occur. This form of the disease is believed to be the results of cumulative

hidden CNS damage and brain atrophy (**Figure 8**). A small number of patients present steady disease progression following disease onset. This form of the disease as been coined primary progressive MS (PPMS). It is the least understood form of the disease as patients present different disease courses with varying clinical and histopathological evaluations. Finally, a fourth form of the disease, progressive-relapsing MS (PRMS), was defined as having steadily worsening neurologic functions from the disease onset/diagnosis with occasional relapses [304]. In 2013, the US National Multiple Sclerosis Society Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials in Multiple Sclerosis redefined more accurately the different subtypes of MS based on the important advances in technology and clinical assessment. Patients who were previously diagnosed with PRMS are now considered primary progressive MS patients with either an active (during relapses/new lesions formation) or inactive phenotype [305].



Figure 8 – Graphical representation of the clinical disabilities, disease burden, brain volume and MRI activities of a mock average RRMS patient. Image obtained from Fox, R. J. and Cohen, J. A. [306]

As eluded previously, most MS patients will develop new lesions, observed by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), which won't translate into new clinically measurable deficiencies (Figure 8). In fact, the vast majority of MS patients exhibited disseminated lesions prior to their first neurologic symptoms, as revealed by MRI techniques [307]. This discordance between the lesions location/number and the clinical presentation is one of the limiting factors of MRI technology in terms of MS diagnosis. In fact, the MRI sensitivity and specificity can vary greatly depending on the location and the disease subtype. In the last few years, different imaging techniques and computer image analyses have been developed to cope with these issues. T1weighted, T2-weighted, T2-FLAIR (fluid-attenuated inversion recovery) and proton density (PD)-weighted MRI are just a few examples of different types of imaging techniques that can be used to observe more specifically different components of the CNS [308-310]. In addition, contrast agents, such as gadolinium, can be injected intravenously to enhance MR images. With MS patients, this technique is also used to find BBB leakage, which usually also correlates with active/acute MS lesions [311, 312]. On the other hand, longitudinal measurements of magnetization transfer ratio (MTR) allows the assessment of both demyelination and remyelination of MS lesions [313]. Using this technique, recent findings suggest that demyelinated lesions found during histopathological analysis of post-mortem CNS could be the result of multiple episodes of demyelination and incomplete remyelination [314].

Another technique, the magnetic resonance (MR) spectroscopy relies on the characteristic spectral signature of biochemical compounds to measure organic compounds *in vivo*. By comparing the spectral signal of *N*-acetylaspartate, which is a relatively specific neuronal marker, with that of creatinine, MR spectroscopy can successfully assess neuronal and axonal loss [315]. Using a different approach, optical coherence tomography (OCT) also allows the measurement of neurodegeneration, neuroprotection, and potentially even neurorestoration by generating high-resolution 3D reconstructions of the retinal anatomy. While the retina is unique within the CNS, in that it contains axons and glial cells but no myelin, it is an ideal structure within which to visualize the MS disease progression. Not only the ease of access facilitates precise data acquisition, but the retina also enables scientists and clinicians to investigate the early disease processes often observed during a CIS [316-318]. Although all these techniques have allowed rapid non-invasive longitudinal examinations of MS patients, further development

is still needed to improve their efficiency and specificity in order to solely rely on them as diagnostic tools. In the meantime, the analysis of CSF for the presence of oligoclonal bands, which are found in nearly 90% of MS patients and contribute to the criteria of dissemination in space, will continue to be conducted during the evaluation of patients [319, 320].

3. MS Pathology

Although the etiology of MS is still unknown, the mechanisms behind the clinical symptoms observed have been studied for decades. Early on, scientists concentrated on the histopathological analysis of the lesions (**Figure 9**). They demonstrated that the plaques observed in the CNS are in fact areas lacking myelin sheets. In addition, these regions are often characterized by the presence of infiltrating immune cells (both myeloid cells and lymphocytes), by the presence of activated microglia, by the presence of astrogliosis/glial scaring surrounding the lesions and by an increase in BBB permeability [321]. Further studies, using more modern techniques such as flow cytometry analysis of CNS infiltrating immune cells and high resolution immunofluorescence imaging using confocal and two-photon microscopy, have allowed a deeper understanding of the different mechanisms and players involved during the pathogenesis of the disease.



Figure 9 – Demyelinating lesion in the post-mortem brain of an MS patient. Perivascular infiltrating immune cells (dark purple) can be seen surrounding the central blood vessel in this Hematoxylin & Eosin / Luxol Fast Blue (H&E/LFB) tissue colouration. In the immediate vicinity of the vessel, the destruction of myelin sheet is denoted by the absence of blue staining. Copyright Alexandre Prat. The image was taken and stained by the group of Dr. Alexandre Prat.

T lymphocytes are one of the most important immune cell subsets involved in this process. CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes can directly attack the oligodendrocytes via FAS/FAS-L-mediated cytolysis and the granzymes/perforin pathway. CD4+ T helper lymphocytes, on the other hand, favour the antibody production/maturation in B lymphocytes and promote the activation of both innate and adaptive immune cells. Both T lymphocytes subsets are found in high number in lesions and in the CSF of MS patients [322-324]. Surprisingly, studies have

demonstrated that self-specific T lymphocytes are readily found in both MS patients and healthy controls, alluding to the complexity of the disease pathogenesis [325]. B lymphocytes have also been implicated in lesion formation, especially plasma cells, by secreting anti-myelin antibodies that can trigger opsonisation via the complement factor cascade and phagocytosis via Fcreceptors [258]. Likewise, myeloid cells are highly important during disease pathogenesis. In fact, untreated MS patients were shown to have higher levels of blood monocytes secreting IL-6, TNF and IL-12 and expressing higher level of co-stimulatory molecule CD86/CD80, as compared to treated patients or healthy controls [284, 326]. Studies using animal models have also demonstrated that neutrophil and monocyte/macrophages are the first immune cell to aggregate in the meninges and the perivascular cuffs following immunization, while also encompassing the majority of immune cells present in early lesions [327-329]. Whereas activated microglia and macrophages can induce CNS damage via the secretion of proinflammatory factors, they can also engulf debris found in lesions and thus promote a proinflammatory response by presenting new CNS antigens to T lymphocytes. Indeed, both microglia and macrophages found in lesions were shown to contain a wide variety of myelin proteins (myelin basic protein (MBP), proteolipid protein (PLP), myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), myelin associated glycoprotein (MAG)). Conversely, phagocytosis of dead cells and debris have also been demonstrated to favour remyelination by removing inhibitory molecules as well as providing trophic factors to oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs) [330-332].

Following the acute inflammatory phase, immune regulatory cells, along with glial cells, can mediate the resolution of the inflammation by secreting anti-inflammatory cytokines. OPCs present in the CNS and surviving oligodendrocytes surrounding the lesions then get recruited and begin remyelinating the denuded axons. However, the thickness and complexity of the original myelin sheets is not reached and therefore, despite compensatory redistribution of ion channels, the electrical propagation often remains impaired [333, 334]. The remyelination rate can vary from one lesion to the other and in-between different individuals based on the inflammatory lesion environment, the presence of myelin debris and mitochondrial damage, the level of axonal loss/damage and the lack of trophic factors [330, 334-337]. Whereas astrocyte activation can promote inflammation, as discuss before, they are also necessary during the

remyelination phase. However, astroglial scarring can impede the remyelinating process [334, 337].

More recently discovered, the presence of diffuse lesions in the "normal appearing white matter" (NAWM), which is often used as internal control to compare a lesion to "healthy" tissue, was described as another pathological aspect of MS. These diffuse white matter lesions, probably resulting from neuronal oxidative stress, are characterized by axonal swelling and by the presence of some activated microglia and astrocytes. As patients slowly progress towards a more chronic and progressive phase of the disease, more diffuse inflammation of the NAWM and cortical demyelination are observed [338-341].

In general, MS lesions can be classified based on their inflammatory stage. An active lesion is newly formed with massive amount of infiltrating immune cells containing macrophages filled with myelin debris. Chronic active lesions are characterized by an inactive center, mostly devoid of peripheral immune cells, and surrounded by an active border, defined by the presence of infiltrating leukocytes, activated microglia and astrocytes. Variable axonal damage can be observed in these lesions. Finally, chronic inactive lesions consist in well-defined areas of demyelination lacking immune cells. Extensive astroglial scarring can be observed in these lesions [298, 336, 342]. Our group has also published recently a study demonstrating the existence of pre-active lesions. Those lesions found in both MS and spontaneous EAE display considerable BBB disruption, perivascular astrogliosis, redistribution of junctional proteins and increased expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules, while being completely devoid of leukocytes [137].

4. Epidemiology

Prevalence

MS is a disease that affects predominantly people living between the 45th and 65th degree of the northern hemisphere, with a prevalence generally increasing with respect to the distance to the equator [343]. Canada has one of the highest prevalence rates in the world with roughly 280 cases per 100 000 inhabitants. This is probably due to a variety of confounding factors that

increase significantly the risk of developing autoimmune diseases; some of which will be discussed in further details in the following paragraphs. As comparison, Northern European countries, such as Norway, Sweden, Scotland, and Ireland, have prevalence rates ranging between 150 and 350 per 100 000 inhabitants. Conversely, Northern Asian countries are not as affected with levels lower than 70 cases per 100 000 inhabitants in Russia and between 1 and 13 cases per 100 000 inhabitants in Mongolia, Japan and China [343]. It should be noted that while these countries have lower MS prevalence rates than most north Western countries, their proportion of patients with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD), a new unifying term regrouping neuromyelitis optica (also known as Devic's disease) and what was previously described as the opticospinal form of MS, is much higher, accounting for 15 to 56 percent of MS-like cases. NMOSD is a relapsing inflammatory demyelinating disease (although a monophasic form exists) that affects the optic nerves and the spinal cord, but in some cases may also target other parts of the brain. The disease relapses tend to be more severe and often different from MS. Although the newly established nomenclature and diagnostic criteria have been left broad enough to encompass similar clinical manifestations, NMOSD is most often characterized by the presence of anti-aquaporin-4 antibodies, also known as NMO-IgG, in the serum of patients [344-346].

In northern countries, RRMS is predominantly a female disease with a ratio man to female that can reach 1:3-4. Conversely, similar number of male and female are affected by the primary progressive form of the disease [347-349]. Another striking difference between the two types of disease is the mean age of disease onset, which is between 20 and 50 years of age for RRMS and close to a decade later for PPMS [303]. However, close to half of the RRMS patients will convert to a secondary progressive form of the disease after 10 years of their initial diagnosis and this proportion keeps increasing in patients affected by the disease for longer periods of time [350].

Risk Factors

Although it is clear that MS has a geographic pattern of prevalence, other factors also contribute to the incidence of the disease. Genetic mutations, for example, have been demonstrated to play a determining role in the etiology of MS. Nevertheless, no mutation or collection of mutations are enough to guarantee the development of MS, as demonstrated by monozygotic twin studies showing a clinical-genetic concordance rate of 20 to 30%. Dizygotic twins, on the other hand, have between 2 and 5% chances of developing the disease if their sibling has MS, which is approximately the same risk that first-degree relative shares [321, 351]. Most of the discovered polymorphisms associated with MS are immune related, with the highest relative risk associated to the Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA)-DRB1-1501 allele. This subtype of MHC-II reportedly can present specific self-antigen to CD4+ T lymphocytes, which could lead to the activation of the immune system. Other haplotypes of the MHC class II and class I can confer either higher risk of developing MS or a protective effect [352-357]. Outside of the MHC molecules, other proteins involved in the immune system have been shown to influence MS susceptibility. Most of these genes are involved in T lymphocyte immune processes, such as activation (CTL-4, CD6), cytokine and chemokine production (IL-2) and transmigration (ALCAM) [354, 358-360].

Even if a high number of genetic mutations have been shown to contribute to MS etiology, the relatively low concordance rate of monozygotic twins demonstrates the existence of other non-genetic factors. Among them, environmental factors (often associated with socioeconomic factors) have been proposed to contribute to disease onset. One of the main supporting arguments in favour of an environmental aspect, aside the latitudinal distribution of the disease, is the dissimilarity in the prevalence rate between the Northern European descendants living closer to the equator and their ancestors. Indeed, studies have demonstrated that if an individual migrate from a region of high MS prevalence to a region with low prevalence before the age of 15, its risk of developing the disease is adjusted to the risk of the new region. The reverse being also true [361-363]. The geographical MS distribution might therefore be explained by events in someone's life that would alter significantly its immune system in a permanent way at a young age. One of the most important contributing factor to the overall quality of the environment is the socioeconomic level of a country, which, based on recent epidemiological studies, seems to be linked to the incidence rate of MS. For example, while the global MS prevalence rate is low in Asia, the highest rate is found in Japan, the most developed country [343]. Further longitudinal studies have also demonstrated that the risk of developing MS or other autoimmune

diseases increases in countries that have had major economic development in the last decades. Therefore, it is safe to assume that a portion of the environmental factor is due to the exposure to urban living conditions (pollution, chemicals, diet, smoking, stress, etc.) [364].

Industrialization has also considerably contributed to the ease of access to disease-free food and water, as well as to modern medicinal treatments. This reduced exposure to infectious agents at an early age and perhaps the overconsumption of antibiotics has given rise to the *hygiene hypothesis*, which states that exceeding cleanliness may increase the risk of allergic and autoimmune reactions by polarizing the immune system toward an immune over responsive state. In other words, the absence of regular benign infections and contacts with inflammatory triggers (pollen, dust, nuts, etc.) at an early age, which would normally shape the immune system reactivity, increases the propensity to react more aggressively to immune challenges in adulthood. Corroborating with this hypothesis, several studies concluded that parasitic infections diminish the number of relapses and the number of new demyelinating lesions in MS patients by favouring a Th2-mediated/Treg immune response [365-367]. Small clinical trials using live helminths to treat MS have been conducted and showed mitigated but encouraging results. In the future, mimicking their immuno-protective effects might lead to novel therapeutic compounds without the inconveniences [368].

The composition of the gastro-intestinal (GI) flora, a collection of thousands of different commensal organisms that covers the GI epithelium is also directly related to the consumption of antibiotics and the presence of pathogens/bacteria in the daily diet. Numerous research groups are currently studying the impact of these microorganisms on the human biology, both in homeostatic conditions and with respect to specific diseases such as MS [290, 364, 369-374]. Building up from the original studies, other groups have demonstrated that patients suffering from inflammatory bowel diseases are at greater risk of developing MS [375, 376]. Interestingly, studies have also shown that commensal gut bacteria can influence the blood-brain barrier integrity [377, 378], leukocyte polarization and even the susceptibility to EAE [379, 380], opening the way to new therapies involving faecal transplantation [381].

As opposed to the lack of infectious agents, the contact with specific viruses have been suggested as a possible cause of MS. The Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), which is present in almost

all MS patients (although also present in roughly 90% of the adult population), have been studied extensively in the last few years. EBV infection usually occurs early in life, but in industrialized countries, a late infection is possible and usually lead to the development of infectious mononucleosis. During the infection, the EBV genome is integrated in B lymphocytes DNA, where it can persist indefinitely. Studies have demonstrated that seronegative individuals are significantly less at risk of developing MS, while seropositive children with a CIS have a greater risk of being diagnosed with MS. In addition, the risk of developing MS is increased by roughly 50% in individuals that have had mononucleosis [353, 367, 382-384]. Another virus from the same family, the human herpes virus 6 has been associated with MS. Similar to EBV, it is found in the majority of the general population. Antibodies specific to the virus can be found in the CSF and the serum of MS patients in higher concentration, as compared to healthy controls. In addition, viral messenger RNA was detected surrounding MS lesions [385-389]. Based on these discoveries, several hypotheses were suggested to explain the etiology of MS. Viral antigens similar to human CNS proteins (often referred to molecular mimicry) could, once the immune system activated, divert the attack to target self-antigens. This theory is corroborated by several studies that have shown high homology between myelin peptides and proteins from the herpes virus family, the influenza virus family and some coronavirus [390-396]. The bystander cellular activation is an alternative theory put forward where a viral infection triggers the activation of the immune system (both the anti-viral and the self-specific T lymphocytes) leading to the formation of lesions, at least initially, close to infected areas of the CNS.

People in industrialized countries tend to spend more time inside, protected from the sun, than in third-world countries. Furthermore, people living closer to the poles are not exposed to as much ultraviolet (UV) radiation as people closer to the equator. This can lead to a deficiency in vitamin D, which has also been associated with a higher MS susceptibility rate [397]. Indeed, most vitamin D present in the human body is synthesized from 7-dehydrocholesterol found in the skin, which is converted to pre-vitamin D₃ following exposure to UVB rays. Next, this pre-vitamin is hydroxylated by the liver and the kidneys to become the biologically active vitamin (1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃). It can then bind to the vitamin D receptor on the cell surface, translocate inside the cell nucleus and regulate the transcription of genes via DNA regions called vitamin D-responsive elements. As such, although called a vitamin, this molecule acts more as

a hormone [398-400]. Vitamin D is known to play a critical role in many biological processes including the regulation of calcium in the blood, bone growth and remodeling and more importantly for MS, the regulation of the immune system [401]. While vitamin D was shown to inhibit the maturation of DCs and the proliferation/polarization of Th1/Th17 lymphocytes [398, 402-404], the efficacy of the administration of supplement to MS patients, although encouraged in the clinics, still needs to be demonstrated [301].

The fact that women with RRMS outnumber the number of men with the disease suggests that other hormonal factors are involved. This is also supported by data demonstrating a lower relapse rate during pregnancy and a disease rebound afterwards [364]. Likewise, the use of hormonal therapy to increase women's fertility have been found to significantly enhance the disease activity and clinical symptoms [405]. However, behavioural differences between the two sexes could also explain in part the risk variation. In fact, behavioural influences are the biggest unknowns in risk studies as it is difficult to account for every event in someone's life.

As briefly mentioned earlier, the diet is probably the easiest controllable and measurable behaviour, albeit with important ramifications on the overall health of an individual. Obesity, for example, is known to be responsible for many illnesses including, most notably, diabetes. Obesity has also been linked to low levels of vitamin D and an increase in MS susceptibility [406-408]. Indirectly related, a sodium rich diet has recently been associated with an increase number of pathogenic Th17 lymphocytes and a significant worsening of EAE [409, 410]. Thus, it is clear that the development of MS is a complex process involving multiple factors implicated at different levels of the human biology, and which, together, push the normally highly regulated immune system beyond its limit.

5. Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis

Similar to other autoimmune diseases, MS has not been observed in wild animals yet. Scientists have therefore relied on induced animal models to study the pathogenesis of the disease. As with many scientific and medical discoveries, the origin of EAE is the result of unrelated studies performed by Louis Pasteur at the end of the 19th century. While injecting animals with rabies infected brain homogenates in an effort to develop a vaccine, Pasteur noticed that some recipients demonstrated similar pathological and histological features. The disorder was characterized by an ascending paralysis, which could lead to the death of the animals. A similar disease was also observed in some human patients immunized the same way following an animal bite in order to prevent a rabies infection. While some people claimed that this disorder was likely due to a bacterial contaminant, Pasteur proved otherwise by pasteurizing the homogenates prior to the injections. The disease was then called experimental allergic encephalomyelitis [411]. The cause of this lethal illness was only explained in the 1930s, when a study showed that animals immunized with brain homogenates will produce autoantibodies damaging its CNS [412]. Thirty years later, another study demonstrated that EAE could be induced in healthy animals by transfer of sensitized lymphocytes from an EAE-affected animal [413], whereas autoantibodies were insufficient to trigger the disease [321]. Adjuvants were also developed to improve the induction of the disease and ameliorate the reproducibility in research studies [414].

Nowadays, three major types of EAE are routinely used for research purposes: active, passive and spontaneous EAE. [415]. Active EAE is induced by the subcutaneous injection of a myelin peptide (MOG, PLP, MBP; depending on the strain of the animal) in an emulsion of complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), which contain a variable quantity of inactivated Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Depending on the laboratory and the strain used, pertussis toxin can be injected intra-peritoneal (i.p.) at day 0 and/or day 2 post-immunization to increase leukocytes adhesion to the vasculature and favour a pro-inflammatory reaction [416-418]. Immunized animals develop a monophasic or polyphasic ascending paralysis (often followed by a chronic phase), allowing the study of different stages of the disease [419]. Passive EAE, often called adoptive EAE transfer, is induced by injecting i.p. or intravenously (i.v.) immune cells isolated from active EAE animals that have been reactivated in vitro. These proinflammatory immune cells trigger the classical ascending paralysis in the recipient animals, but atypical symptoms can sometimes be observed (ataxia, gaiting deficiency, prostration) [420, 421]. Spontaneous EAE is observed in transgenic animals. A majority of these mutations are targeted at the T cell receptor (TCR), forcing the expression of only one myelin-specific TCR. As their name implied, these animals spontaneously develop EAE after a certain period of time,

which can vary based on the transgenic modifications [422, 423]. Although not technically an EAE model, Theiler's murine encephalitis is a virus-induced demyelinating disease, which is used to study the possible viral etiology of MS. It is also useful to conduct studies on molecular mimicry and epitope spreading in the context of MS [424, 425]. Finally, many research groups are also using toxins to study different aspects of EAE pathogenesis. Allegedly the most frequently used toxin, Cuprizone is a copper chelator that causes rapid demyelination and gliosis in the CNS of the animals. It is generally used to study specifically the processes behind demyelination and remyelination, two exceedingly important aspect of MS [426].

While these models allow scientists to study different aspects of the disease both in time and space, something oftentimes difficult or impossible to accomplish in humans, they remain imperfect models which can't recapitulate completely MS pathogenesis. This was clearly demonstrated by discrepancies between human and animal results obtained following an anti-IFNa treatment. While the studies conducted on animals demonstrated a significant amelioration of EAE clinical scores, multiple studies and a clinical trial with MS patients showed an exacerbation of their symptoms. Monophasic CNS demyelination episodes and even new onset of MS disease were also described in patients with arthritis following treatment [427-432]. The lack of animal to human therapy translation can be blamed on a variety of intrinsic differences between the model and the human disease. For instance, MS is an idiopathic disease whereas EAE is artificially induced in otherwise resistant animals. These animals are also usually genetically identical and similar in age, weight, sex, etc. to facilitate the interpretation of the data by limiting the variability. It should be noted, however, that differences in disease severity, time of onset post-immunization, incidence rate, etc. do exist. This inter-laboratory variability is often caused by changes in the environment (cleanliness of the animal facility, stress level of the animals, etc.) or the genetic drifting of a colony from the source. Differences inside a colony can also be observed in a season-dependent fashion or may vary depending on the person manipulating the animals [433, 434]. Even though the animal models used in research are inherently flawed, they are still invaluable tools to study specific immunological mechanisms and biomolecular markers in an attempt to identify novel therapeutic targets.

6. Therapeutic Approaches

Relapse management therapies, which consist in steroid medications, help decrease the severity and duration of MS relapses. Their use over short periods of time is considered relatively safe with few side effects (difficulty sleeping, stomach upset, irritability, etc.). Approved MS treatments, called disease-modifying therapies, have only been demonstrated to be effective against RRMS and PRMS. However, some clinical trials are currently studying the effect of novel compounds on SPMS and PPMS patients.

The first-line treatments, IFN β and glatiramer acetate, have a moderate efficacy in diminishing relapses, yet they are considered the safest, with few side effects (flu-like symptoms and redness/swelling at the subcutaneous injection site are the most common). They act by reducing immune cell proliferation and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion, while also interfere with antigen presentation [298, 301, 342, 435].

Fingolimod was the first oral treatment to be approved for MS. Its mechanism of action is via the inhibition of the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor present on T lymphocytes, which prevent the cells from leaving peripheral LNs. Fingolimod has many possible side effects including the increased risk of opportunistic infections and progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PMLs), which is secondary to the uncontrolled multiplication of the John Cunningham virus (JC virus) in lymphopenic patients [301, 436, 437].

Teriflunomide is also an oral therapy that modulates the immune system. Its exact mechanism of action is still not fully understood, but studies have demonstrated that it inhibits the synthesis of pyrimidines in proliferating cells. Therefore, it is thought to reduce the number of peripheral immune cells. It has few minor side effects which include diarrhea, nausea, flu or sinus infection, upset stomach, abdominal pain, rash, abnormal liver tests and hair thinning or loss [436, 438, 439].

Dimethyl fumarate is an oral drug taken twice daily that causes T lymphocyte apoptosis and favours the production of Th2 cytokines. Dimethyl fumarate or rather its active metabolite, monomethyl fumarate, inhibits NF- κ B from translocating inside the nucleus and thus suppresses NF- κ B-dependent transcriptions, which impact a wide variety of pathways including the
secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, the expression of adhesion molecules and the modulation of oxidative mechanisms. It also favours the intra-nuclear translocation of Nrf2, which in turn exerts a neuroprotective effect by promoting the production of antioxidant enzymes. In addition, monomethyl fumarate is an agonist of the hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 2 (HCA₂), a G-coupled protein membrane receptor, via which it reduces neutrophil adhesion and chemotaxis. HCA₂ was also demonstrated to be essential for the therapeutic effect of dimethyl fumarate during EAE, as indicated by its absence of effect in HCA₂ KO animals. As with other lymphopenia inducing drugs, one of the most serious possible side effects of this medication is the risk of developing a PML [436, 440-443].

Natalizumab was the first second-line treatment available to treat MS. It is a monoclonal antibody specific to the alpha-4 integrin subunit of VLA-4, which is implicated in the transmigration of leukocytes by binding to its ligand, VCAM-1, on activated BBB-ECs. As with all immunosuppressive treatment, Natalizumab is significantly more effective at preventing relapses in MS patients as compared to first-line therapies. As expected, however, it also has significant side effects, of which the risk of PML is the most serious. Recent studies have demonstrated that the risk of PML significantly increases following 24 months of infusions. Similarly, the risks are increased in patients that have previously been treated with another immunosuppressive agent or with patients that have anti-JCV antibodies [444-449].

Alemtuzumab has recently been approved as a second-line treatment, which consists of three to five intravenous infusion of monoclonal anti-CD52 antibodies per year. Anti-CD52 antibodies cause the depletion of some T and B lymphocytes, NK cells and monocytes that express CD52 on their surface. This treatment is significantly better at preventing relapses compared to first-line therapies. However, due to its immunosuppressive effect, some patients might develop opportunistic infections. In addition, some patients demonstrated evidence of autoimmune dysfunction (autoimmune thyroid disease and autoimmune skin disease) [450-453].

While these drugs have proven to significantly prevent relapses in RRMS patients, the most effective second-line therapies come with highly debilitating and sometime health-threatening side effects. Identifying novel therapeutic targets involved in the pathogenesis of the disease is thus crucial for the development of new MS therapies. Whereas drugs aimed at promoting CNS repair and remyelination are cruelly missing, multiple laboratories have recently started to focus their efforts on this goal. Besides, our laboratory has been studying novel adhesion molecules expressed by encephalitogenic immune cell subsets and/or the inflamed BBB-ECs in an effort to discover new ways of promoting BBB integrity and decreasing leukocytes trafficking into the CNS during neuroinflammation.

4. Activated Leukocyte Cell Adhesion Molecule

MS is a complex disease with multiple potential therapeutic approaches. One of which consist in blocking the entry of encephalitogenic immune cells by disrupting their ability to interact with specific adhesion molecules and thus, interfere with the transmigration cascade. Following the mitigated success of Natalizumab, the alpha-4 integrin blocker with severe adverse effects, researchers are currently seeking a more elegant target instead of a broad immune-compromising agent [454]. The goal here would be to find cell-specific molecules that could be targeted and allow the sequestration of immune cell subsets outside of the CNS in a neuroinflammatory context. With this goal in mind, our group began studying activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule. ALCAM, also known as CD166, MEMD, SB-10, HB2, KG-CAM in rat/mouse/human, neurolin in fish and DM-GRASP/SC-1/BEN in chicken, is part of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Given all its names, it is easy to presume the rich history behind this molecule. Indeed, it has been cloned independently in several organisms, hence the eclectic names found in the literature. ALCAM has been and still is heavily studied in the fields of cancer, embryology, haematopoiesis and angiogenesis. However, it was only recently that we, amongst others, have started to study this adhesion molecule with respect to leukocyte transmigration during inflammatory processes.

1. The Discovery

ALCAM, or rather its chicken homologue BEN (90% homology), was discovered in 1990 by Pourquié and colleagues. They had raised antibodies against chicken Bursal epithelium and identified a glycoprotein located in the B lymphocyte differentiation zone. Additional

immunohistochemistry stainings lead to the identification of the same protein in neurons of both the peripheral and central nervous system. Hence, they named the protein BEN for bursal epithelium and neurons [455]. Two years later, they published another article describing the presence of BEN in all three embryonic germinal layers, although differently glycosylated in the different tissues. Of outmost interest, their group also identified BEN as belonging to the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily with its two N-terminal variable chain-like domains, three membrane-proximal C2 domains, a transmembrane domain, and a small cytoplasmic tail composed of 33 amino acids [456]. In 1991, DM-GRASP was identified as a 95 kiloDalton (kDa) glycoprotein expressed on chicken axons and involved in neurite extension [457]. In the same year, another group independently isolated a spinal cord chick protein, which they called SC-1. Using purified SC-1, they demonstrated that SC-1+ cells could bind a SC-1 coated surface, indicating a homophilic interaction [458].

Following the discovery of other orthologues (mentioned previously), CD166 was finally characterized in human in a series of four publications in 1995. It was identified in thymic epithelial cells as a ligand for CD6, a lymphocyte costimulatory molecule extensively studied in the 90's [459, 460]. The group therefore coined the name activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule. Furthermore, the same laboratory also identified the membrane-proximal scavenger receptor cysteine-rich (SRCR) domain (D3) of CD6 as containing the ALCAM binding site (**Figure 10**) [461, 462]. This heterotypic interaction is now known to regulate T lymphocyte development in the thymus and play a major role in the immunological synapse formation between activated APCs (ALCAM) and lymphocytes (CD6) [463].



Figure 10 – **Schematic representation of ALCAM homophilic and ALCAM-CD6 heterophilic interaction.** ALCAM is a type 1 transmembrane cell adhesion molecule with a size of 583 amino acids (aa) and a native weight of 65 kDa (glycosylated 100-110 kDa). It has a 27 aa signal peptide, a 500 aa N-terminal extracellular domain (aa 28-527) containing three Ig-like C2-type domains and two Ig-like V-type domains, a 24 aa transmembrane domain and a

33 aa cytoplasmic domain, which is associated with β -actin cytoskeleton filaments (pink) [464]. ALCAM has a high sequence identity between species homologues especially at the N-proximal domain (V1), which mediate trans-ligand binding with CD6 and ALCAM [465]. The CD6 binding site is located in the membrane-proximal SRCR domain 3 region (D3). The membrane-proximal C2-type domains (C2) mediate lateral oligomerization and control the avidity of ALCAM binding (only groups of two ALCAM molecules are represented for simplicity, but macromolecular complexes can be formed) [466]. The intracellular binding partners of ALCAM in endothelial cells (at the bottom) are represented (ZO-2, cingulin, coronin 1C, TARA, CD9; further discussed in the results and discussion sections). The potential binding partners of ALCAM in leukocytes (Ezrin and Syntenin-1) are also depicted. Those molecules in turn bind to actin filaments (pink) and the surrounding tropomyosin fibres (yellow). Copyright Marc-André Lécuyer.

2. The Genome

In humans, the ALCAM gene is located at 3q13.1-3q13.2 and it is organized into 16 exons of nearly 150 kilobases (kb) in length [460]. As of yet, we have a limited knowledge on the different transcriptional and translational regulation of ALCAM. Studies, performed on cancerous tissues and cell lines, demonstrated that the promoter region is devoid of a canonical TATA-box, but rather has multiple GC-boxes. It also contains cis regulatory sequences such as NF- κ B and GATA-1 binding sites [467-469]. Other studies provided evidences suggesting that ALCAM expression is also controlled by microRNAs. One group found that both miR-192 and miR-215 are upregulated in gastric tumors and can suppress ALCAM [470]. Similarly, miR-9 was demonstrated to inhibit ALCAM translation in different cancerous cells. Interestingly, the transcription of the miR-9 precursor RNA is induced by the P50/P65 subunits of NF- κ B, which as mentioned previously, also promote the production of ALCAM, thus creating an autoregulation [469, 471].

3. The Protein

In 2001, using a series of truncated ALCAM mutants, van Kempen and colleagues demonstrated that the homophilic ALCAM-ALCAM interaction in trans is dependent on the membrane-distal amino-terminal Ig domain and that binding avidity is controlled by ALCAM cis-clustering at the cell surface (**Figure 10**). Analogous to other members of the Ig superfamily, this mechanism was shown to be mediated by the membrane-proximal Ig domains [466]. Although the complete crystal structure of ALCAM has not been published yet, Hanka Venselaar, a PhD student at the Centre for Molecular and Biomolecular Informatics at the University of Nijmegen, has performed computer 3D model analyses of ALCAM based on its amino acid sequence and previously published crystal structure of analogous proteins (immunoglobulin light chain, immunoglobulin heavy chain and other Ig-like molecules [472]). Using her work, I completed a probable 3D model of ALCAM, where each subunit is shown with different colors (**Figure 11**).



Figure 11 – Computer generated 3D model of ALCAM. This is an approximation of the 3D structure of ALCAM. The transmembrane and intra-cytoplasmic tail are shown in red. The ALCAM homotypic and heterotypic binding site is located in the dark-blue N-terminal domain. Image created by Marc-André Lécuyer with data adapted from http://www.cmbi.ru.nl/~hvensela/alcam/ALCAM 2.html.

More recently, a group has published the crystal structure of the two N-terminal domains of ALCAM along with the three SRCR domains of CD6 [473]. While this study demonstrated in detail the interaction between CD6 and ALCAM at a molecular level, this binding had been well characterized in the past by using a selective mutation approach (**Figure 10**) [459, 461, 462, 474-476]. Using single-molecule force spectroscopy, a more recent study has demonstrated that the homotypic interaction is weaker than the heterotypic ALCAM-CD6 bond, even following the disruption of the actin cytoskeleton [464]. Those results were based on several studies that had previously demonstrated a linked between ALCAM and the actin cytoskeleton

[477, 478]. One study in particular demonstrated that clustering of ALCAM is essential for cell adhesion and that it is mediated partly by actin polymerization. Their study also suggested a strengthening of the cytoskeleton linkage following ALCAM ligand binding [479].

Although publications had demonstrated a link between ALCAM and the cytoskeleton, the specific molecules involved were not known as of recently. This will be further discussed in the results and discussion sections. Moreover, the signalling pathways leading to the modulation of ALCAM adhesion still remain elusive, with only one major publication on the subject. This group first demonstrated that, in contrast to some integrins and other CAMs, small GTPases RhoA (Ras homolog gene family member A), Rac1 (Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1) and Cdc42 (cell division control protein 42 homolog), which are key players in the organization of the actin cytoskeleton, are not involved in ALCAM-mediated adhesion. Instead, their results suggested that PKC α plays a dominant role in modulating the cytoskeleton-dependent avidity of ALCAM. They also concluded that ALCAM is not a direct substrate of PKC α due to a lack of phosphorylation on the molecule and the dispensable nature of the serine and threonine residues for ALCAM-mediated adhesion. Therefore, they concluded that PKC α indirectly controls ALCAM binding via cytoskeletal rearrangements [478].

4. The Functions

As mentioned previously, ALCAM is expressed during various phases of the organism development and by a wide variety of cell types. Therefore, the roles it plays can vary accordingly. ALCAM has probably been studied the most extensively in the context of cancer. It has been observed consistently in metastatic lesions of numerous cancer types, including prostate carcinoma, breast cancer, cutaneous melanoma, colorectal cancer, etc., and is thus considered a marker of cancer metastasis [480]. ALCAM has also been linked to the progression of a cancerous lesion. It was observed that as some types of tumor progress in stage and in size, ALCAM expression is proportionally increased. These results correlates with its role as a cell adhesion molecule, which consists in maintaining the cohesiveness of cellular aggregates [481]. Conversely, another study demonstrated that the lack of ALCAM or the presence of truncated mutants enhances the metastatic potential of cancerous tissues as it promotes cell motility

despite decreasing tumor growth/cell clustering [482]. Likewise, the metalloprotease ADAM17 has been demonstrated to cleave ALCAM, leading to the generation of soluble ALCAM (sALCAM) in circulation. The sALCAM molecules can compete for membrane-bound ALCAM and thus effectively block other homotypic interactions, which increases the risk of metastases [483, 484]. One hypothesis put forward to explain the importance of ALCAM in cancer proposes that the modification of a cell's genetic material to become cancerous may involve the expression of stem cell genes. This theory is based on the fact that those cells behave similar to cancerous cells (de-differentiated cells) and that ALCAM is expressed on the surface of many stem cells and embryonic tissues [480]. Finally, other groups also emphasised the importance of ALCAM in metastatic cell invasion by suggesting that it allows cancerous cells to adhere to vessel walls, similar to its role in immune cell trafficking [480].

As discussed in detail in chapter 1, ALCAM has been shown to play an important role during leukocyte transmigration. The first study to show such a role was published in 2006. It demonstrated that ALCAM is involved in the transmigration of a human monocyte cell line (THP1) across pulmonary rat microvascular endothelial cells [485]. Another study suggested a similar role for ALCAM on Tregs during their transmigration across pancreatic tumor-derived endothelial cells [486]. More recently, we have demonstrated the presence of ALCAM on human and mouse CNS microvascular endothelial cells and its high upregulation during neuroinflammation. Furthermore, ALCAM increased expression mostly co-localized with lesions present in MS and EAE tissues, which presented with disrupted TJs proteins staining and the presence of immune cells. We have also demonstrated the recruitment of ALCAM into lipid rafts upon pro-inflammatory stimuli as well as its participation in the formation of transmigratory cup upon contact with immune cells [98, 113]. A role for ALCAM in MS was further demonstrated by showing its involvement in the transmigration of ex vivo human CD4+ T lymphocytes, CD19+ B lymphocytes and CD14+ myeloid cells across a monolayer of BBB-ECs in an in vitro model of the BBB. Finally, ALCAM blocking antibodies were shown to reduce EAE clinical severity and the number of inflammatory lesions [113]. Recently, the group of Dr. Berman confirmed, in an HIV setting, the upregulation of ALCAM on infected monocytes and its crucial role during transmigration across human BBB [487, 488]. Another study also confirmed these results in HIV+ patients consuming cocaine. In addition, it demonstrated the

upregulation of ALCAM on human and mouse BBB-ECs upon the infectious immune challenge or simply following the intake of cocaine. Furthermore, the study suggested that cocainemediated induction of ALCAM is possible via the translocation of cocaine hijacks σ 1 receptors to the plasma membrane, followed by phosphorylation of PDGF- β receptors, which in turn, activate the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), protein kinase B and NF-kB pathways leading to ALCAM expression [489]. This year, Curis and colleagues provided evidences upon the fact that ALCAM is overexpressed on the surface of HTLV-1-infected lymphocytes, resulting from the activation of the NF-kB pathway by viral proteins. Corroborating with previous results, they demonstrated that ALCAM blockade significantly reduced the infiltration of HTLV-1-infected lymphocytes into the CNS [490]. Collectively, these studies support the hypothesis that ALCAM plays an important role in the transmigration cascade and thus permits the infiltration of pathogenic peripheral blood leukocytes into the CNS. In the context of MS, targeting ALCAM would represent a viable therapeutic strategy to reduce the ongoing neuroinflammation especially considering that it does not seem to be involved in CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes transmigration. Therefore, those immune cells could theoretically provide constant protection against JC viruses and thus potentially prevent PML in MS patients treated with anti-ALCAM antibodies.

Objectives and Hypothesis

While studying MS, one has to integrate its immunological expertise with the complexity of the neuronal system. In trying to understand the etiology of the disease and perhaps finding a target for a treatment, our laboratory has studied extensively in the past years the protective barrier of the CNS and the different molecules involved in leukocyte transmigration across the BBB. While therapeutic compounds restricting the capacity of pro-inflammatory leukocytes to migrate inside the CNS already exist, their lack of specificity inhibits the immune patrolling of the CNS and gives rise to multiple undesirable side effects. The identification and characterization of novel adhesion molecules implicated specifically and exclusively in the transmigration of encephalitogenic leukocytes is therefore required. The research leading to this Ph.D. thesis has been conducted in this context.

The general hypothesis of this work is that the activated BBB-ECs can modulate the inflammatory reaction, in coordination with the other cellular constituents of the NVU, via a tight control over the expression of extracellular molecules, especially cell adhesion molecules. A previous study from the laboratory has established the existence of ALCAM on human BBB-ECs using a proteomic approach. The study also demonstrated the upregulation of ALCAM on primary human BBB-EC culture upon inflammatory stimulation [45, 113, 491]. The same study has provided evidence upon the fact that ALCAM can be found in lipid rafts in the extracellular cell membrane and that it is involved in the transmigration of leukocytes into the CNS of both mice and humans. However, the characterization of the specific role of ALCAM during EAE and leukocyte transmigration was not elucidated.

The first hypothesis of this project was that ALCAM plays a role in the firm adhesion, crawling and diapedesis of encephalitogenic pro-inflammatory leukocytes across BBB-ECs. The aims were thus to study independently the cascade of events leading to monocytes, Th1 and Th17 lymphocytes diapedesis using a modified adhesion assay under shear-stress and a static migration assay.

The second hypothesis was that the absence of ALCAM on BBB-ECs and leukocytes of ALCAM KO mice significantly diminishes their EAE clinical symptoms, while reducing the absolute number of monocytes and T lymphocytes infiltrating the CNS upon immunization. The

aim was to study the role of ALCAM during neuroinflammation in mice. More specifically, the objectives were to study both *in vivo* and *in vitro* the impact of the absence of ALCAM on the immune system, the BBB and the onset of the disease, as a model to study the potential modulation of ALCAM in MS patients. All those aspects of my project will be further discussed in the following sections of this thesis.

Results:

Manuscript 1

<u>Title</u>: ALCAM (CD166) is involved in extravasation of monocytes rather than T cells across the blood-brain barrier

<u>Authors</u>: Ruth Lyck*, Marc-André Lécuyer*, Michael Abadier, Christoph B. Wyss, Christoph Matti, Maria Rosito, Gaby Enzmann, Laure Michel, Ana Garcia, Urban Deutsch, Alexandre Prat, Britta Engelhardt

* = Authors contributed equally.

<u>Journal</u>: In press in The Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism. Manuscript ID: JCBFM-0511-16-ORIG

<u>Contributions</u>: The project, initiated by myself as a follow-up of Cayrol et al., 2008, consisted in studying in more detail the role of ALCAM during leukocyte transmigration across the bloodbrain barrier. To conduct this study, I have developed and optimized the adhesion assay under shear stress using human cells. I have also performed the majority of the *in vitro* and *in situ* experiments using human cells and tissues. Following the publication of abstracts at international conferences, the group of Dr. Engelhardt approached us to collaborate on this project. We agreed that they would conduct the mouse experiments of the study. Therefore, Michael Abadier has performed the adhesion studies under flow using mouse cells. Christoph B. Wyss, Christoph Matti and myself have performed the Western blot on the mouse and human tissue/cells. Gaby Enzmann has performed the histology on the human CNS tissue. Maria Rosito has performed endothelial cell cultures in the laboratory of Dr. Engelhardt and helped with the adhesion assays. Laure Michel has helped with the Boyden assays performed with human cells. Ana Garcia has performed FACS analysis of the Th1 (sorted) mouse cells. Urban Deutsch has performed the mouse genotyping and managed the colony in Dr. Engelhardt's laboratory. Ruth Lyck, Britta Engelhardt, Alexandre Prat and myself have participated in the scientific discussions, the elaboration of the different experiments and the analysis of the results. We have also constructed the figures and wrote the manuscript.

ALCAM (CD166) is involved in extravasation of monocytes rather than T cells across the

blood-brain barrier

Ruth Lyck^{1*}, Marc-André Lécuyer^{2*}, Michael Abadier¹, Christof B. Wyss¹, Christoph Matti¹, Maria Rosito¹, Gaby Enzmann¹, Thomas Zeis³, Laure Michel², Ana Garcia¹, Federica Sallusto⁵, Fabien Gosselet⁴, Urban Deutsch¹, Joshua A. Weiner⁶, Nicole Schaeren-Wiemers³, Alexandre Prat^{2*}, Britta Engelhardt^{1*}

¹Theodor Kocher Institute, University of Bern, Freiestrasse 1, 3012 Bern, Switzerland; ²Neuroimmunology Research Laboratory, Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CRCHUM), Montréal, Québec, Canada. ³ Neurobiology, Department of Biomedicine, University Hospital Basel, University of Basel, Hebelstrasse 20, CH-4031 Basel, Switzerland; ⁴Artois University, Sciences Faculty Jean Perrin, Rue Jean Souvraz, 62307 Lens cedex - SP18, France; ⁵Institute for Research in Biomedicine,Via Vincenzo Vela 6, 6500 Bellinzona, Switzerland; ⁶Departments of Biology and Psychiatry, The University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA 52242, USA.

* = These authors contributed equally to this work

Corresponding author

Ruth Lyck, Theodor Kocher Institute, University of Bern, Freiestrasse 1, P.O Box 938, CH-3000 Bern 9

E-Mail: ruth.lyck@tki.unibe.ch

Funding

This work was financially supported by grants from the Swiss Multiple Sclerosis Society to RL and to NSW and by grants from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada (MSSOC) and ERA-NET NEURON MELTRA BBB consortium (European Commission and CIHR/FRQS) to AP. Further funding was from the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF), grant no. 31003A 133092 to R.L. and B.E., and 31003A 141185 to NSW, the SNSF funded ProDoc Program "Cell Migration" grants no. PDFMP3 137079 and PDAMP3 137087 to BE and RL, the Swiss University Conference, Sinergia UnmetMS CRSII3_154483 to B.E and F.S., the Germanine de Stael program to FG and BE and the Microscopy Imaging Center of the University of Bern. M-A.L. holds a scholarship from Fonds de Recherche du Québec-Santé (FRQS). L.M. holds a scholarship from the MSSOC. A.P. holds a Senior Scholar Award of the FRQS and holds a senior Canada Research Chair in Multiple Sclerosis. M.A. and A.G. were enrolled in the Graduate School for Biomedical and Cellular Sciences of the University of Bern.

Running title

ALCAM in immune cell extravasation across the BBB

Abstract

Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM) has been proposed to mediate leukocyte migration across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) in multiple sclerosis (MS) or experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Here, we confirmed vascular ALCAM expression in human brain tissue samples *in situ* and on two different human *in vitro* BBB models. Antibody mediated inhibition of ALCAM reduced diapedesis of human CD4⁺ Th1 but not of Th17 cells across the human BBB *in vitro*. In accordance to human Th1 cells, mouse Th1 cells showed reduced diapedesis across an ALCAM^{-/-} *in vitro* BBB model under static but no longer under flow conditions. In contrast to the limited role of ALCAM in T cell extravasation across the BBB, we found a contribution of ALCAM to rolling, adhesion and diapedesis of human CD14⁺ monocytes across the human BBB under flow and static conditions. Taken together, our study highlights potential differences in the CNS expression of ALCAM in mouse and human and supports a prominent role for ALCAM in the multi-step extravasation of monocytes across the BBB.

Keywords:

ALCAM, blood-brain barrier, immune cell extravasation, multiple sclerosis, neuroinflammation

Introduction

The blood-brain barrier (BBB) is formed by microvascular endothelial cells (ECs) of the central nervous system (CNS). It establishes a particularly tight endothelial barrier that protects the brain or spinal cord parenchyma from the changeable milieu in the blood stream while also limiting immune cell trafficking into the CNS.¹ During autoimmune neuroinflammation such as multiple sclerosis (MS) or its animal model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), high numbers of immune cells extravasate across the BBB and critically contribute to disease pathogenesis.² Preventing immune cell entry into the CNS has been successfully translated into the clinic with the release of the humanized anti- α 4–integrin antibody natalizumab.³ However, the low but serious concurrent risk of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) makes pressing the need for more detailed knowledge on the extravasation of autoagressive immune cells across the BBB.

Extravasation of immune cells across the BBB is a highly dynamic multi-step process mediated by the sequential interaction of cell adhesion and signaling molecules on the immune cell surface with their respective endothelial counter receptors.⁴ *In vivo* and *in vitro* live cell imaging have revealed that upon firm adhesion, effector T cells not only resist flow, but polarize and crawl along the luminal face of the BBB endothelium until they reach a site permissive for transcellular or paracellular diapedesis.⁵⁻⁹ Thereby, EC adhesion molecules and their leukocyte ligands fulfill critical roles. Previously, we have shown an essential role for intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 in shear resistant arrest of encephalitogenic CD4⁺ Th1 cells. We have also demonstrated that high level of ICAM-1 is involved during CD4⁺ Th1 cell crawling against the flow and favors a transcellular diapedesis across the BBB.^{5, 6}

Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM; CD166) on human and mouse brain ECs has also been assigned a role in the extravasation of CD4⁺ T cells across the BBB and in the development of EAE.¹⁰ Similar to ICAM-1, ALCAM harbors five extracellular immunoglobulin (Ig)-like domains, a single spanning transmembrane domain and a short cytoplasmic tail.¹¹⁻¹³ During homophilic ALCAM-ALCAM interactions, the first N-terminal Ig-domain of cis-clustered ALCAM binds to the N-terminal Ig-domain of another ALCAM in trans.¹⁴ The stronger heterophilic ALCAM-CD6 interaction is mediated by the N-terminal Ig-domain of ALCAM and the membrane proximal scavenger receptor

71

cysteine-rich (SRCR) domain of CD6.¹⁵ CD6-mediated interaction of T cells ^{16, 17} with ALCAM on antigen presenting cells ¹⁸ or on thymic epithelium ¹¹ has been assigned a role in T cell activation and selection of thymocytes, respectively. In humans, the risk for MS development is associated with a distinct ALCAM polymorphism¹⁹ and one MS risk allele, named rs17824933G, is located in intron 1 of the CD6 gene ^{20, 21}. Thus, ALCAM as a BBB specific ligand for neuroinflammatory cells could be an interesting candidate in the search for alternative pharmaceutical targets aiming to prevent pathological immune cell infiltration into the CNS.

We here addressed the role of endothelial ALCAM in the extravasation of immune cell subsets critically involved in EAE and MS pathogenesis across the human and mouse BBB. We revealed differences in the expression of ALCAM on the human versus mouse BBB and delineated a limited role of ALCAM in the diapedesis of CD4⁺ Th1 or Th17 cells across the human or mouse BBB. In contrast, prominent impairment occurred at various steps of CD14⁺ monocyte extravasation upon functional ablation of ALCAM. This suggests that ALCAM might influence MS pathogenesis by interfering with myeloid recruitment to the CNS but less so with T cells.

Materials and Methods

Mice

Wild type C57BL/6J mice were obtained from Harlan (Horst, Netherlands) and Janvier (Genest Saint Isle, France). ALCAM^{-/-} mice ²² backcrossed into C57BL/6J background for 8 or more generations were kindly provided by Prof. Cornelia Halin, ETH Zürich, Switzerland. Mice were housed in individually ventilated cages under specific pathogen-free conditions. Animal procedures were performed in accordance with the Swiss legislation on the protection of animals or the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care and were approved by the Veterinary Office of the Kanton of Bern or the Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CRCHUM) Animal Care committee (N11023APs).

In vitro models of the BBB

<u>Human brain-like endothelial cells (HBLECs).</u> CD34⁺ cells and pericytes were isolated and differentiated exactly as described before.^{23, 24} For the collection of human umbilical cord blood, infants' parents signed an informed consent form, in compliance with the French legislation. The protocol was approved by the French Ministry of Higher Education and Research (CODE-COH Number DC2011-1321).

<u>Human brain endothelial cells (HBECs).</u> HBECs were isolated from non-epileptic surgical human CNS material (resection path) exactly as published. ^{10, 25, 26}

<u>Human meningeal endothelial cells (HMECs).</u> HMECs were isolated from leptomeningeal tissue removed from the CNS material. The tissue was extensively washed in PBS, cut into small pieces, and centrifuged at 1045 g for 15 min. The pellet was incubated in collagenase IV (1 mg/ml) (Sigma) at 37°C for 15 min, then washed in culture media and centrifuged at 485 g for 10 min. The pellet was resuspended in culture media and passed through a 30 μ m nylon filter (Miltenyi). The fraction < 30 μ m was cultured in 6-well plates pre-coated with 0.5% gelatin.

<u>HBECs and HMECs.</u> Informed consent and ethic approval were given prior to surgery (Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal research ethic committee approval number HD04.046).

<u>Primary mouse brain microvascular endothelial cells (pMBMECs).</u> Isolation and culture of pMBMECs was performed exactly as described before.^{5, 27} Cytokine stimulation of pMBMECs was done with TNF- α at 10 ng/ml, IL-1 β at 20 ng/ml or TNF- α /IFN- γ at 10ng/ml and 100 U/ml for 16–20 h prior to the experiments.

Mouse brain or spinal cord microvessel

Isolation of mouse brain or spinal cord microvessels was performed as described before ²⁸ and immediately processed for protein lysate.

Immune cell subsets

<u>Ex vivo human CD4+CD45RO+ T cells.</u> Venous blood samples were obtained from consenting healthy donors in accordance with institutional guidelines (Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal research ethic committee approval number SL05.022, SL05.023 and BH07.001), and immune cells were isolated as previously published.²⁹

In vitro polarized Th1 or Th17 cells. *Ex vivo* human CD4⁺CD45RO⁺ T cells were *in vitro* polarized as previously published.³⁰ Briefly, 0.5×10^6 CD4⁺CD45RO⁺ T cells/ml were cultured with autologous monocytes at a 1 to 0.6 ratio and soluble anti-CD3 (clone OKT3 at 2.5 µg/ml, eBioscience). For Th17 differentiation recombinant human IL-23 (25 ng/ml), anti-human IL-4 antibody (5 µg/ml) and anti-human IFN-γ antibody (5 µg/ml) were added, whereas IL-12 (10 ng/ml) in the presence of anti-IL-4 was added for Th1 differentiation (all reagents from R&D Systems). Th1 cells were harvested at day 5 and Th17 cells at day 6 of culture to be used in adhesion and transmigration experiments using HMECs or HBECs.

<u>CD4⁺CD45RO⁺</u> Th1 cells sorted from peripheral blood. Human CD4⁺ CD45RO⁺ Th1 cells were directly sorted from healthy human blood donors according to differential expression of chemokine receptors (CXCR3⁺, CCR4⁻, CCR6⁻) as previously described.^{31, 32} Th1 cells were cultured in the presence of IL-2 (500 U/ml) for a total 20 days and then employed for adhesion assay.

<u>Human monocytes.</u> *Ex vivo* human CD14⁺ monocytes were isolated from venous blood of consenting healthy donors in accordance with institutional guidelines (Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal research ethic committee approval number SL05.022, SL05.023 and BH07.001) as previously published.²⁹ In brief, peripheral blood mononuclear cells were obtained using density gradient centrifugation on Ficoll-Paque[™] (GE Healthcare) followed by immune-positive MACS® beads (Miltenyi) isolation and used directly (ex vivo) for monocyte/endothelial interaction under flow, adhesion and transmigration experiments with HBECs or HMECs.

<u>Mouse CD4⁺ Th1 cells.</u> The encephalitogenic CD4⁺ proteolipid protein (PLP) $_{aa139-153}$ specific Th1 cell line SJL.PLP7 (IFN- γ^+ GM-CSF⁺IL-4⁻IL-17⁻) was used for studying mouse Th1 cell interaction with pMBMECs. Activation with the cognate antigen and culture of Th1 cells was as previously published. 5, 33

Antibodies and cytokines

Antibodies and cytokines are named in the figure legends and specified in supplementary material.

Immunohistochemistry and ALCAM quantification on human brain tissue

Human brain tissues were obtained from post-mortem autopsies supplied by the UK Multiple Sclerosis Tissue Bank (UK Multicentre Research Ethics Committee, MREC/02/2/39), funded by the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (registered charity 207495, Supplementary Table 1). Immunohistochemistry on cryostat sections (12 µm) from fresh frozen tissue blocks was performed as described before.³⁴ ALCAM immunostaining was evaluated by

calculating the average signal intensity of all microvessels (\emptyset <15µm) in randomly taken pictures from control (30 pictures from 6 cases) and MS cases (NAWM: 28 pictures from 6 cases, chronic Lesion: 21 pictures from 5 cases). Average signal intensities were first calculated for single cases and tissue type and were then compared in between the different tissue types. Differences between the tissue groups were calculated using the student's t-test.

Immunofluorescence (IF)

<u>IF staining on HBLECs.</u> The human *in vitro* BBB was stimulated as indicated with TNF- α (10 ng/ml), IL-1 β (20ng/ml) or TNF- α /IFN- γ (10 ng/ml each) for 16 h and then incubated with mouse anti-human ALCAM antibody clone 105901 (10ug/ml) or with mouse IgG1 isotype control for 30 min at 37°C. The BBB was washed, fixed in 1% PFA, unspecific binding sites were blocked in skimmed milk (5% in PBS) and incubated for 45 min with donkey anti mouse IgG-Cy3 (1:500). Images were acquired with a Nikon Eclipse E600 microscope equipped with a digital camera.

<u>IF staining on HBECs or HMECs.</u> HBECs or HMECs were grown to confluency in Ibidi μ -slides VI^{0.4} and then treated for 24 h with TNF-α/IFN-γ (at 100 U/ml each). Cells were washed with PBS and then fixed at room temperature with 70% ethanol. Staining was performed as previously reported ³⁵ using anti-human ALCAM antibody clone 105901 followed by donkey anti-mouse Cy3. TOPRO-3 lodide (1:300 in Mowiol mounting medium) was used to stain nuclei. Images were acquired with a LEICA SP5 confocal microscope.

Quantitative RT-PCR

RNA was extraction, cDNA synthesis and SYBR green qPCR was exactly as described before.⁶ Primers (Eurogentec S.A., Seraing, Belgium) were as follows. ALCAM (NM_009655): CTTCAGTGTTTGGGGGAATGG (sense) and TTATGCCTTCAGGCTGTCCT (reverse); ICAM-1 (NM_010493): CACGCTACCTCTGCTCCTG (sense) and TCTGGGATGGATGGATGGATACCT (reverse);

76

and ribosomal protein S16 (Rps16) (the endogenous control) (NM_013647): GATATTCGGGTCCGTGTGA (sense) and TTGAGATGGACTGTCGGATG (reverse).

EAE, protein lysates, Western Blot and protein quantification

Active EAE, Western Blot and protein quantification were performed according to standard methods. Details are described in supplementary material.

Adhesion assay

Adhesion of ex vivo sorted human CD4⁺ Th1 cells to HBLECs. After 6 days of co-culture with pericytes on 3 µm pore size Transwell[®] inserts, HBLECs were treated with cytokine for 16 hours. Both, the HBLECs and human CD4⁺ Th1 cells were pre-incubated with mouse anti-human ALCAM antibody (10µg/ml), anti-human ICAM-1 (15 µg/ml) or mouse IgG₁ control antibody (15µg/ml) for 30 min at RT. Soon after incubation 10⁴ human Th1 cells labelled with CMFDA cell tracker (Life Technologies, ThermoFisher) were added on top of the human *in vitro* BBB and allowed to adhere for 30 min. Non adherent cells were then gently washed away with PBS and cells were fixed with 1% PFA in PBS, blocked in 5 % skimmed milk in PBS and incubated for 45 min with donkey anti mouse Cy3 antibody (1:500). The human *in vitro* BBB treated with mouse isotype control was incubated after fixation with mouse anti-human VE-cadherin (1:200). Assays were analyzed by fluorescence microscopy (Nikon Eclipse E600) and Th1 bound cells per pre-defined field were determined by counting five fields per filter. Assays were performed in triplicates for each value.

Diapedesis assay

<u>Diapedesis of human immune cell subsets across HBECs or HMECs</u>. HBECs or HMECs $(3.5 \times 10^4$ cells per filter) were grown on gelatin-coated 3 µm pore size Boyden chambers (Fisher Scientific) in culture media supplemented with 40% astrocyte-conditioned media for 72 h (to confluency). When

indicated, antibodies specific for ALCAM (clone 105901, R&D Systems, 30 µg/ml), ICAM-1 (clone BBA3, R&D Systems, 10 µg/ml) or the appropriate isotype control were added to endothelial cells and immune cell subsets 1 h prior to the experiment. In presence of the blocking or control antibody, a suspension of 1x 10⁶ specified leukocyte subset was added to the upper chamber and allowed to migrate for 16 - 18 h. Absolute number of cells that transmigrated to the lower chamber was then assessed. All conditions were performed in triplicate for each donor.

<u>Diapedesis of mouse Th1 cells across pMBMECs.</u> T cell diapedesis across pMBMECs under static conditions was assessed as described before.^{5, 36}

Imaging of extravasation under flow

<u>In vitro live cell imaging of mouse CD4⁺ Th1 cell interaction with pMBMECs</u>. Imaging of mouse Th1 cell dynamic interaction with pMBMECs cultured on matrigel coated cell culture surfaces (μ -dish^{35 mm-low}, ibidi Vitaris, Baar, Switzerland) was performed as described before.^{5, 37}

In vitro live cell imaging of human monocyte, Th1 cell or Th17 cell interaction with HBECs. Imaging of human leukocyte subset interaction with HBECs under flow was performed as previously published ^{29, 38}.

Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 6.0 software (Graphpad software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Asterisks indicate significant differences (*P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001 and ****P<0.0001). Nonspecific differences are without label. Unless otherwise specified, data are expressed as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM) and statistical differences of two groups were calculated by unpaired Student's *t*-test with equal SD.

78

Results

ALCAM expression in chronic MS lesions in situ and on the human BBB in vitro

Previously, we have described prominent ALCAM staining on brain vessels in acute MS lesions.¹⁰ Here, we addressed expression of ALCAM in chronic MS lesions. Immunostaining of post-mortem brain tissue from MS cases confirmed ALCAM on small human brain vessels in chronic MS lesions as well as on microvessels in normal appearing white matter (NAWM) and control brain tissue samples (Fig. 1A). Quantification of staining signal intensity revealed no significant difference of microvascular ALCAM between all three types of human brain samples (Fig. 1 B). ALCAM immunostaining was also detected on large diameter brain vessels, which were however excluded from analysis because they are not involved in immune cell extravasation. Thus, unlike in acute MS lesions,¹⁰ microvessels in chronic MS lesions do not show increased ALCAM staining.

In line with our previous observations, we here confirmed ALCAM immunostaining on primary human brain endothelial cells (HBECs) (Fig. 1C).¹⁰ We further demonstrated ALCAM immunostaining on a second *in vitro* model of the human BBB established from CD34⁺ cell derived human brain-like endothelial cells (HBLECs) (Fig. 1E).^{23, 24} Immunofluorescence staining confirmed upregulation of endothelial ALCAM following stimulation with TNF- α , IL-1 β or a combination of TNF- α and IFN- γ (TNF- α /IFN- γ) on HBECs or HBLECs (Fig.1C, E). As leptomeningeal immune cell infiltration is an important aspect in EAE and potentially in MS, we have additionally compared primary cultures of HBECs, HMECs stained more prominently for ALCAM in resting conditions and no significant increase in staining was observed under inflammatory conditions (Fig.1C). Differential cell surface expression of ALCAM by HBECs and HMECs was confirmed by flow cytometry analysis, which also confirmed upregulation of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on both HBECs and HMECs upon cytokine stimulation (Fig.1D).

Limited involvement of ALCAM in the interaction of human CD4⁺ T cells with the BBB in vitro

We have previously assigned a role for ALCAM in the extravasation of monocytes and CD4⁺ T cells across the human BBB.¹⁰ However, neither the precise effector T cell subset nor the precise step of extravasation affected by blocking ALCAM has been identified. Here, we aimed to address the role of ALCAM in the extravasation of activated CD4⁺ Th1 and Th17 cells across the human BBB. First, we tested the adhesion of ex vivo human CD4+CD45RO+ Th1 cells sorted from human peripheral blood as described before.³⁹ These T cells expressed CD6 and ALCAM on their surface as determined by flow cytometry (Supplementary Fig. 1) and readily adhered to HBLECs in a static environment (Fig. 2A, B). As expected, increased numbers of Th1 cells adhered to the cytokine stimulated HBLECs when compared to unstimulated HBLECs (Fig. 2A, B). However, masking ALCAM with a function-blocking antibody did not interfere with Th1 cell adhesion to the unstimulated or stimulated HBLECs. At the same time, antibody-mediated blocking of endothelial ICAM-1 significantly reduced T cell adhesion to the unstimulated and cytokine stimulated HBLECs (Fig 2A, B). Using an *in vitro* flow system, we also tested rolling and initial arrest of human *in vitro* polarized Th1 and Th17 cells on HBECs. Th1 and Th17 cells used for this experiment were generated by in vitro polarization of ex vivo human CD4⁺CD45RO⁺ T cells as described.³⁰ These T cells expressed similar cell surface levels of CD6 but lower cell surface levels of ALCAM when compared to ex vivo sorted Th1 cells (Supplementary Fig. 1). The addition of function-blocking anti-ALCAM antibodies to HBECs and Th1 or Th17 cells did neither reduce their rolling nor their arrest on resting or stimulated HBECs (Fig. 2C, D and data not shown). Taken together, we concluded that ALCAM is not involved in rolling, shear resistant arrest and firm adhesion of human Th1 and Th17 cells to human in vitro models of the BBB.

To address the role of endothelial ALCAM in T cell diapedesis across HBECs, we used a modified Boyden chamber assay. In line with our previous observations, we found that inhibition of ALCAM reduced the diapedesis of *ex vivo* sorted CD4⁺CD45RO⁺ T cells across HBECs (Fig. 2E).¹⁰ However, no effect of ALCAM blockade occurred when CD4⁺CD45RO⁺ T cells were allowed for diapedesis across HMECs (Fig. 2E). For refinement, we then analyzed the diapedesis of *in vitro* polarized Th1 versus Th17 cells and observed that pre-treatment of HBECs with the function-blocking anti-ALCAM antibody significantly reduced diapedesis of Th1 but not of Th17 cells (Fig. 2F, G). At the same time

antibody-mediated blocking of ICAM-1 had a more pronounced effect on the diapedesis of both T helper cell subsets across HBECs (Fig. 2F, G). Taken together, blocking ALCAM failed to reduce diapedesis of human CD4⁺ Th17 cells across HBECs and exerted a limited effect on the diapedesis of human CD4⁺ Th1 cells across the human BBB.

Prominent neuronal ALCAM masks endothelial ALCAM at the BBB in mice

Research using mouse in vivo EAE models or mouse in vitro BBB models has been fundamental in improving our understanding of the immune pathogenesis of MS.⁴⁰ Previously, we have demonstrated that anti-ALCAM antibody treatment ameliorates MOG(aa35-55)-induced EAE in C57BL/6 mice.¹⁰ To determine ALCAM expression in vivo in the mouse CNS during EAE, we next analyzed protein lysates from inflamed CNS tissue of C57BL/6 mice suffering from acute EAE compared to age and gender matched healthy controls. ALCAM protein levels were comparable in lysates from the brain cortex and cerebellum of both cohorts (Fig. 3A-C). In lysates from the inflamed spinal cord ALCAM protein was lowered concomitant with an increase of the ICAM-1 protein level compared to control samples (Fig. 3A, D, E). As expected, protein lysates from healthy ALCAM^{-/-} C57BL/6 mice were devoid of ALCAM (Fig. 3F). To localize the cellular sources of ALCAM in the mouse brain, we performed immunofluorescence staining on frozen naïve brain or spinal cord sections and on respective tissue sections from ALCAM^{-/-} mice (Supplementary Fig. 2). We found strong ALCAM immunostaining in the meninges of the mouse brain and a more moderate, widespread staining in the parenchyma of the cerebral cortex and the striatum (Supplementary Fig. 2A, C). Strong ALCAM immunoreactivity was also observed in neurons and axons of the dorsal root ganglia, the dorsal and the ventral horn (Supplementary Fig. 2D-F), and in the axons that projected to a particular dorsal lamina (Supplementary Fig. 2H). However, multi-color immunofluorescence staining failed to locate ALCAM staining on IB4-positive CNS vessels in brain and spinal cord sections of C57BL/6 mice (Supplementary Fig 2J). We therefore hypothesized that the strong signal intensity of neuronal ALCAM did not allow the detection of lower endothelial ALCAM levels in situ.

Therefore, we next tested the expression of ALCAM on freshly isolated CNS vessels and in primary mouse brain microvascular endothelial cells (pMBMECs) from C57BL/6 mice. ALCAM protein was readily detectable in protein lysates from brain and spinal cord vessels of wild type mice but was absent in the respective samples from ALCAM^{-/-} C57BL/6 mice (Fig. 3G). Similarly, *ALCAM* mRNA was detected in unstimulated and cytokine stimulated pMBMECs from wild type C57BL/6 mice (Fig. 3H). Remarkably, the stimulation of pMBMECs with IL-1 β induced a 3-fold upregulation of *ALCAM* mRNA, as compared to controls, whereas TNF- α provided no change (Fig. 3H). At the same time the levels of *ICAM-1* or *VCAM-1* mRNA were upregulated 23-fold and 8-fold upon stimulation pMBMECs with IL-1 β (Fig. 3I, J). Taken together, endothelial ALCAM is expressed in mouse CNS microvascular endothelial cells but at a lower level than in human.

Endothelial ALCAM plays a limited role in mouse Th1 cell diapedesis across the BBB

We next investigated the role of ALCAM during diapedesis of Th1 cells in mouse. To specifically target the role of endothelial ALCAM, we took advantage of the ALCAM^{-/-} C57BL/6 mouse as a source of pMBMECs.^{22, 41} ALCAM and CD6 protein expression on mouse encephalitogenic Th1 cells ^{5, 33} was confirmed by flow cytometry (Supplementary Figure 3). Using the modified Boyden chamber assay, we found, in accordance with the observations made with human Th1 cells, a reduction of mouse Th1 cell diapedesis across unstimulated ALCAM^{-/-} pMBMECs compared to wild type pMBMECs (Fig. 4A). However, the difference was abrogated by the stimulation of pMBMECs with TNF- α , IL-1 β or TNF- α /IFN- γ (Fig. 4A). Compensatory upregulation of ICAM-1, ICAM-2 or VCAM-1 in the absence of ALCAM on stimulated ALCAM^{-/-} compared to wild type pMBMECs was ruled out through side-by-side analysis of their cell surface expression (data not shown). Possibly, low levels of ALCAM on resting BBB-ECs contribute to Th1 cell migration, but ALCAM may become dispensable when other molecules involved in T cell extravasation, such as ICAM-1 or VCAM-1, are upregulated under inflammatory conditions.

To dissect the precise role of endothelial ALCAM leading to reduced Th1 cell diapedesis, we next employed *in vitro* time-lapse live cell imaging under physiological flow.³⁷ This approach has proven

valuable for dissecting the different roles of other CAMs during the extravasation cascade across the BBB.^{5, 6, 42} First, we compared the shear resistant arrest of Th1 cells on the unstimulated or cytokine stimulated wild type or ALCAM^{-/-} pMBMECs (Fig. 4B). Irrespective of the presence or absence of cytokine stimulation, we found comparable numbers of Th1 cells arresting on wild type and ALCAM^{-/-} pMBMECs (Fig. 4B), demonstrating that ALCAM does not contribute to mouse Th1 cell arrest on the BBB. Next, we compared the dynamic post-arrest behavior of Th1 cells on ALCAM-^{/-} and wild type pMBMECs (Fig. 4C-I). On unstimulated wild type pMBMECs, the majority of the arrested Th1 cells continuously crawled on the endothelial surface and another substantial fraction detached due to low sustained adhesive interactions, while only a minor fraction of the Th1 cells migrated across the pMBMEC monolayer (Fig. 4C). In contrast, the majority of arrested Th1 cells crossed the cytokine stimulated-endothelial monolayer and another substantial fraction of Th1 cells continuously crawled on the endothelial surface with only rare events of detachment (Fig. 4D, E). Importantly, the comparison of the dynamic Th1 cell behavior on wild type versus ALCAM^{-/-} pMBMECs did not show any significant differences (Fig. 4C-E). We also assessed shorter periods of evaluation to focus on early diapedesis which, however, did not reveal any significant difference in the dynamic Th1 cell behavior on wild type versus ALCAM^{-/-} pMBMECs (Fig. 4E, F). Furthermore, the speed of Th1 cell crawling (Fig. 4G), the time elapsed between Th1 cell arrest and diapedesis (Fig. 4H) or the duration of diapedesis (Fig. 4I) were comparable on wild type and ALCAM^{-/-} pMBMECs. Taken together, our detailed live cell imaging analysis did not reveal any role for endothelial ALCAM in the multi-step Th1 cell migration across mouse BBB-ECs in vitro. Thus, the observed role for endothelial ALCAM in mediating Th1 cell diapedesis across the BBB under static conditions is abrogated under physiological flow.

ALCAM is involved in multiple steps of monocyte migration across the BBB

Considering our previous findings on ameliorated EAE upon anti-ALCAM treatment ¹⁰ but the limited role of ALCAM in Th1 cell diapedesis across the BBB, we finally aimed to delineate the role of ALCAM in monocyte migration across the BBB. After extravasation across the BBB, monocytes can differentiate into dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages and contribute to disease pathogenesis.^{43,}

⁴⁴ Here, we used *ex vivo* sorted human CD14⁺ monocytes of which 60 to 85% expressed ALCAM, as demonstrated by us and others before.^{10, 45} Using the *in vitro* flow system, *ex vivo* human CD14⁺ monocytes were allowed to interact with HBECs over a period of 30 minutes and were recorded in real time for multiple intervals of 30 seconds. Tracking of individual monocytes overtime demonstrated that blocking both, monocyte and endothelial ALCAM with a function-blocking antibody significantly reduced monocyte/HBEC interactions and interfered with an overall decrease in monocyte speed, as compared to the isotype control (Fig. 5A). More specifically, anti-ALCAM antibody treatment blocked both, rolling (Fig. 5B) and firm adhesion (Fig. 5C) of CD14⁺ monocytes on unstimulated HBECs. The function-blocking anti-ALCAM antibody also significantly reduced firm adhesion of CD14⁺ monocytes on TNF- α /IFN- γ stimulated HBECs (Fig. 5D). Using the modified Boyden chamber assay, we found that antibody-mediated blocking of ALCAM reduced the migration of CD14⁺ monocytes across resting HBECs (Fig. 5E). We also correlated the diapedesis of monocytes across HMECs obtained from the same donors as the HBECs. As expected, monocytes migrated in higher numbers across the more permeable HMECs, while also being significantly blocked upon the addition of anti-ALCAM antibodies (Fig. 5E). Importantly, the effect of antibodymediated inhibition of ALCAM on monocyte diapedesis was comparable to the extent of antibodymediated blockage of ICAM-1 (Fig. 5E). In conclusion, ALCAM contributes to the extravasation of human CD14⁺ monocytes across the human BBB at various individual steps, namely rolling, firm adhesion and diapedesis. Thus, we conclude that a therapeutic targeting of ALCAM in the treatment of neuroinflammation would affect the recruitment of monocytes into the CNS but exert limited effect on the recruitment of CD4⁺ effector T cells.

Discussion

MS is an inflammatory disease of the CNS with no cure available to date. However, treatments that ameliorate and delay the progression of the disease exist. Successful therapeutic strategies targeting immune cell trafficking have been translated into the clinics such as the humanized anti- α 4-integrin antibody natalizumab and the sphingosine-analogue fingolimod.^{2, 3} Unfortunately, natalizumab and fingolimod harbor a low risk of developing the fatal disease PML, which is due to the complete inhibition of the CNS immune surveillance.^{46, 47} To define alternative therapeutic targets aimed at inhibiting pathological immune cell entry into the CNS during MS, more detailed knowledge on the multi-step extravasation of different immune cell subsets across the BBB is required. In previous studies, we have defined the individual roles of endothelial selectins, VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 in CD4⁺ Th1 cell extravasation across the BBB during EAE.^{5, 6, 49, 50} However, further endothelial cell surface proteins expressed at the BBB, such as melanoma cell adhesion molecule (MCAM, CD146),^{29, 51} netrin-1,²⁸ Ninjurin-1,^{38, 52} and ALCAM ¹⁰ were recently proposed as additional players in the migration of different immune cell subsets including Th1 and Th17 cells across the BBB and hence as potential pharmaceutical targets for the treatment of MS. However, the precise steps mediated by these additional molecules within the extravasation cascade have not been solved. To this end, we here analyzed the role of ALCAM in various steps of extravasation using human Th1 or Th17 cells and monocytes, as well as mouse Th1 cells across both human and mouse in vitro models of the BBB. Functional analysis was complemented by the analysis of ALCAM expression in human and mouse CNS tissue or on their respective in vitro models of the BBB.

In a previous study, we found increased ALCAM expression on brain vessels in acute MS lesions.¹⁰ Similarly, inflamed vessels in the CNS of drug-abusing or HIV-infected patients ⁵³ show increased ALCAM expression. In the present study, we confirmed the expression of ALCAM protein in human brain BBB-ECs. However, we also found that, in chronic MS lesions, vascular ALCAM is not enhanced compared to NAWM or control tissues from individuals without neurological diseases. Obviously, specific inflammatory conditions play a decisive role in the upregulation of ALCAM at the human BBB *in situ*. On the other hand, ALCAM was readily detectable on both, unstimulated stem cell- and primary cell-derived *in vitro* models of the human BBB and increased upon cytokine

stimulation in line with our previous observations.¹⁰ Thus, our data confirm the expression of ALCAM on the human BBB *in situ* and *in vitro*.

In our previous study, we have demonstrated a role for ALCAM in the diapedesis of human CD4⁺ but not CD8⁺ T cells across the human BBB.¹⁰ In apparent contrast, another study failed to find a role for endothelial ALCAM in the migration of human CD3⁺ T cells across an in vitro model of the human BBB consisting of commercially available human brain microvascular endothelial cells co-cultured with astrocytes.⁴⁵ However, the latter study was based on a different experimental setup including a chemotaxis component towards CCL2 or CXCL12, longer duration of the T cell migration period and a different anti-ALCAM antibody.⁴⁵ In addition, the more heterogeneous population of CD3⁺ T cells investigated in that study might have superseded the role of ALCAM in mediating the diapedesis of specific T cell subsets across the BBB. The role of ALCAM in the extravasation of CD4⁺ Th1 and Th17 cells has not been addressed hitherto. Here, we confirmed the role of ALCAM in the diapedesis of mixed populations of ex vivo CD4+ T cells across unstimulated HBECs. However, antibodymediated inhibition of ALCAM neither blocked rolling nor flow resistant arrest of in vitro polarized human Th1 cells nor adhesion of ex vivo sorted human Th1 cells to unstimulated or stimulated HBECs or HBLECs, respectively. Nonetheless, antibody-mediated inhibition of ALCAM significantly reduced the diapedesis of in vitro polarized human Th1 cells across HBECs but neither adhesion nor diapedesis of human Th17 cells. Thus, our results suggest that ALCAM plays a limited role in T cell extravasation across the BBB by contributing solely to the diapedesis of human CD4⁺ Th1 but not Th17 cells across the human BBB.

Research based on mouse species offering knock-out models for *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies for the inhibition of leukocyte trafficking has been fundamental for the clinic.^{3, 40} To set the stage, we here investigated the expression of ALCAM in the mouse CNS and its role in Th1 cell extravasation across the BBB. We determined that either equal or lower amount of ALCAM protein is present in the brain or spinal cord of C57BL/6 mice during acute EAE. The inflamed condition of the samples was confirmed by the upregulation of ICAM-1 compared to control samples.^{54, 55} While the expression of ALCAM on neurons has been described before,^{22, 56} we here confirmed ALCAM expression *in situ* on neurons and in the meningeal layers whereas the parenchymal CNS vasculature did not visibly

stain positive for ALCAM. We concluded that in contrast to the human brain, ALCAM protein in mouse CNS vessels might be difficult to detect due to its low level compared to its high level in neurons.

To test whether the role of ALCAM in the diapedesis of Th1 cells across the BBB is conserved between human and mouse in spite of the obvious differences in ALCAM protein levels on the BBB, we used encephalitogenic mouse Th1 cells ⁴¹ and a mouse in vitro BBB model composed of pMBMECs.^{27, 36} Isolation of pMBMECs from ALCAM^{-/-} C57BL/6 mice ²² and wild type littermates in parallel enabled a direct comparison of Th1 cell interaction with the BBB in the presence or absence of ALCAM. To model an inflamed BBB with high levels of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, pMBMECs were stimulated with pro-inflammatory cytokines.^{5, 6} Under static conditions, mouse Th1 cell diapedesis was reduced across unstimulated ALCAM-/- compared to wild type pMBMECs. In vitro live cell imaging under physiological flow has proven valuable in delineating the different roles of endothelial ICAM-1, ICAM-2 and VCAM-1 during the extravasation of immune cell subsets across the BBB.^{5, 6,} ^{36, 57, 58} Interestingly, our detailed analysis revealed comparable Th1 cell shear resistant arrest, diapedesis, crawling speed or duration of diapedesis on wild type and ALCAM^{-/-} pMBMECs. Upon stimulation with pro-inflammatory cytokines, the diapedesis rate of mouse Th1 cells across ALCAM-^{/-} or wild type pMBMECs was also equal under static and under flow conditions. Following the strong upregulation of mouse endothelial ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 upon cytokine stimulation as compared to ALCAM and considering their essential roles in the multi-step extravasation cascade, our data suggest that ALCAM could be involved in the diapedesis of mouse Th1 cells across the BBB in unstimulated low shear stress conditions in vivo, but becomes dispensable during neuroinflammation.^{5, 6}

To explain the prominent role of ALCAM previously observed during the development of EAE,¹⁰ we investigated the role of monocytes, which can differentiate into DCs and macrophages after infiltrating the CNS and thus contribute to EAE and MS pathogenesis.⁵⁹ In particular, early depletion of monocytes completely abrogates clinical development of EAE ⁴⁴ and depletion of monocytes after disease onset still protects from axonal loss during EAE.⁶⁰ This led us to finally analyze the role of ALCAM in various steps of monocyte extravasation across the BBB. We here confirmed a significant role of ALCAM in monocyte diapedesis across unstimulated and cytokine stimulated HBECs that previous studies have described before.^{10, 45, 61} In the present study, we found additional roles for

87

ALCAM during monocyte rolling and shear resistant arrest on the human BBB not addressed by others hitherto. Possibly, higher levels of ALCAM on monocytes versus Th1 or Th17 cells could explain the increased effect of blocking ALCAM on the multi-step extravasation of monocytes across the BBB, as compared to the T cell subsets. In support, overexpression of ALCAM on the surface of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1)-infected lymphocytes was identified as a cause for their increased migration across the human BBB.⁶²

In conclusion, we here demonstrate a higher expression of ALCAM on the human BBB, as compared to the mouse BBB. Nevertheless, in both species, ALCAM is involved in the diapedesis of Th1 cells across the uninflamed BBB, though it is not involved in shear resistant arrest, adhesion strengthening and diapedesis of Th1 cells under flow. In contrast, the prominent role of ALCAM in multiple steps of the monocyte extravasation cascade across the BBB suggests that the function blocking anti-ALCAM antibody specifically interferes with monocyte infiltration into the CNS during autoimmune neuroinflammation and thus lead to the amelioration of EAE as observed before.¹⁰ Considering the prominent expression of ALCAM on the human BBB, ALCAM might be a suitable therapeutic target for specifically targeting myeloid cell migration into the CNS, while leaving T cell mediated CNS immune surveillance intact.

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Cornelia Halin (ETH Zürich, Switzerland) for providing the ALCAM^{-/-} C57BL/6 mice. Mark Liebi, Therese Périnat, Claudia Blatti, Lyne Bourbonnière and Sandra Larouche receive our thank for expert technical assistance. Special thanks go to Dr. Silvia Tietz for providing protein samples.

Author Contribution statement

AG, CW, CM, FG, JW, LM, MA, MR, LM and TZ each made substantial contributions to performing experiments, acquisition and analysis of data. FS, GE, NSW and UD contributed to design of the study and provided input to the manuscript. MAL and RL substantially contributed with concept and design of the experiments, writing of the manuscript and acquisition, analysis and interpretation of data. AP and BE were involved in the overall design of the study and made substantial contributions to writing the manuscript.

Disclosure of Interest

The Authors declare that there is no conflict of interest

Supplementary material for this paper is available at:

http://jcbfm.sagepub.com/content/by/supplementary-data.

References

1. Keaney J and Campbell M. The dynamic blood-brain barrier. *The FEBS journal*. 2015; 282: 4067-79.

2. Lopes Pinheiro MA, Kooij G, Mizee MR, et al. Immune cell trafficking across the barriers of the central nervous system in multiple sclerosis and stroke. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2016; 1862: 461-71.

3. Engelhardt B and Kappos L. Natalizumab: targeting alpha4-integrins in multiple sclerosis. *Neuro-degenerative diseases*. 2008; 5: 16-22.

4. Lyck R and Engelhardt B. Going against the tide--how encephalitogenic T cells breach the blood-brain barrier. *Journal of vascular research*. 2012; 49: 497-509.

5. Steiner O, Coisne C, Cecchelli R, et al. Differential roles for endothelial ICAM-1, ICAM-2, and VCAM-1 in shear-resistant T cell arrest, polarization, and directed crawling on blood-brain barrier endothelium. *J Immunol*. 2010; 185: 4846-55.

6. Abadier M, Haghayegh Jahromi N, Cardoso Alves L, et al. Cell surface levels of endothelial ICAM-1 influence the transcellular or paracellular T-cell diapedesis across the blood-brain barrier. *Eur J Immunol.* 2015; 45(4).

7. Bartholomaus I, Kawakami N, Odoardi F, et al. Effector T cell interactions with meningeal vascular structures in nascent autoimmune CNS lesions. *Nature*. 2009.

8. Sage PT and Carman CV. Settings and mechanisms for trans-cellular diapedesis. *Front Biosci.* 2009; 14: 5066-83.

9. Carman CV. Mechanisms for transcellular diapedesis: probing and pathfinding by 'invadosome-like protrusions'. *J Cell Sci*. 2009; 122: 3025-35.

10. Cayrol R, Wosik K, Berard JL, et al. Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule promotes leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system. *Nat Immunol*. 2008; 9: 137-45.

11. Bowen MA, Patel DD, Li X, et al. Cloning, mapping, and characterization of activated leukocyte-cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM), a CD6 ligand. *J Exp Med*. 1995; 181: 2213-20.

12. Pourquie O, Corbel C, Le Caer JP, Rossier J and Le Douarin NM. BEN, a surface glycoprotein of the immunoglobulin superfamily, is expressed in a variety of developing systems. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992; 89: 5261-5.

13. Matsumoto A, Mitchell A, Kurata H, et al. Cloning and characterization of HB2, a candidate high density lipoprotein receptor. Sequence homology with members of the immunoglobulin superfamily of membrane proteins. *J Biol Chem*. 1997; 272: 16778-82.

14. van Kempen LC, Nelissen JM, Degen WG, et al. Molecular basis for the homophilic activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM)-ALCAM interaction. *J Biol Chem.* 2001; 276: 25783-90.
15. Bowen MA and Aruffo A. Adhesion molecules, their receptors, and their regulation: analysis of CD6-activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM/CD166) interactions. *Transplant Proc.* 1999; 31: 795-6.

16. Gangemi RM, Swack JA, Gaviria DM and Romain PL. Anti-T12, an anti-CD6 monoclonal antibody, can activate human T lymphocytes. *J Immunol.* 1989; 143: 2439-47.

17. Morimoto C, Rudd CE, Letvin NL, Hagan M and Schlossman SF. 2H1--a novel antigen involved in T lymphocyte triggering. *J Immunol*. 1988; 140: 2165-70.

18. Hassan NJ, Barclay AN and Brown MH. Frontline: Optimal T cell activation requires the engagement of CD6 and CD166. *Eur J Immunol*. 2004; 34: 930-40.

19. Wagner M, Wisniewski A, Bilinska M, et al. ALCAM - Novel multiple sclerosis locus interfering with HLA-DRB1*1501. *J Neuroimmunol*. 2013.

20. Kofler DM, Severson CA, Mousissian N, De Jager PL and Hafler DA. The CD6 multiple sclerosis susceptibility allele is associated with alterations in CD4+ T cell proliferation. *J Immunol*. 2011; 187: 3286-91.

21. De Jager PL, Jia X, Wang J, et al. Meta-analysis of genome scans and replication identify CD6, IRF8 and TNFRSF1A as new multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci. *Nat Genet*. 2009; 41: 776-82.

22. Weiner JA, Koo SJ, Nicolas S, et al. Axon fasciculation defects and retinal dysplasias in mice lacking the immunoglobulin superfamily adhesion molecule BEN/ALCAM/SC1. *Mol Cell Neurosci*. 2004; 27: 59-69.

23. Pedroso DC, Tellechea A, Moura L, et al. Improved survival, vascular differentiation and wound healing potential of stem cells co-cultured with endothelial cells. *PLoS ONE*. 2011; 6: e16114.

24. Cecchelli R, Aday S, Sevin E, et al. A stable and reproducible human blood-brain barrier model derived from hematopoietic stem cells. *PLoS ONE*. 2014; 9: e99733.

25. Prat A, Biernacki K, Becher B and Antel JP. B7 expression and antigen presentation by human brain endothelial cells: requirement for proinflammatory cytokines. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*. 2000; 59: 129-36.

26. Ifergan I, Wosik K, Cayrol R, et al. Statins reduce human blood-brain barrier permeability and restrict leukocyte migration: relevance to multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol*. 2006; 60: 45-55.

27. Lyck R, Ruderisch N, Moll AG, et al. Culture-induced changes in blood-brain barrier transcriptome: implications for amino-acid transporters in vivo. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 2009; 29: 1491-502.

28. Podjaski C, Alvarez JI, Bourbonniere L, et al. Netrin 1 regulates blood-brain barrier function and neuroinflammation. *Brain*. 2015; 138: 1598-612.

29. Larochelle C, Lecuyer MA, Alvarez JI, et al. Melanoma cell adhesion moleculepositive CD8 T lymphocytes mediate central nervous system inflammation. *Ann Neurol*. 2015; 78: 39-53. 30. Kebir H, Kreymborg K, Ifergan I, et al. Human TH17 lymphocytes promote bloodbrain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. *Nat Med*. 2007; 13: 1173-5.

31. Engen SA, Valen Rukke H, Becattini S, et al. The oral commensal Streptococcus mitis shows a mixed memory Th cell signature that is similar to and cross-reactive with Streptococcus pneumoniae. *PLoS ONE*. 2014; 9: e104306.

32. Sallusto F, Schaerli P, Loetscher P, et al. Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. *Eur J Immunol*. 1998; 28: 2760-9.

33. Laschinger M and Engelhardt B. Interaction of alpha4-integrin with VCAM-1 is involved in adhesion of encephalitogenic T cell blasts to brain endothelium but not in their transendothelial migration in vitro. *J Neuroimmunol*. 2000; 102: 32-43.

34. Weil MT, Mobius W, Winkler A, et al. Loss of Myelin Basic Protein Function Triggers Myelin Breakdown in Models of Demyelinating Diseases. *Cell reports*. 2016; 16: 314-22.

35. Alvarez JI, Dodelet-Devillers A, Kebir H, et al. The Hedgehog pathway promotes blood-brain barrier integrity and CNS immune quiescence. *Science (New York, NY*. 2011; 334: 1727-31.

36. Steiner O, Coisne C, Engelhardt B and Lyck R. Comparison of immortalized bEnd5 and primary mouse brain microvascular endothelial cells as in vitro blood-brain barrier models for the study of T cell extravasation. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*. 2011; 31: 315-27.

37. Coisne C, Lyck R and Engelhardt B. Live cell imaging techniques to study T cell trafficking across the blood-brain barrier in vitro and in vivo. *Fluids and barriers of the CNS*. 2013; 10: 7.

38. Ifergan I, Kebir H, Terouz S, et al. Role of Ninjurin-1 in the migration of myeloid cells to central nervous system inflammatory lesions. *Ann Neurol*. 2011; 70: 751-63.

39. Sallusto F, Lenig D, Mackay CR and Lanzavecchia A. Flexible programs of chemokine receptor expression on human polarized T helper 1 and 2 lymphocytes. *J Exp Med*. 1998; 187: 875-83.

40. Krishnamoorthy G and Wekerle H. EAE: an immunologist's magic eye. *Eur J Immunol*. 2009; 39: 2031-5.

41. Engelhardt B, Laschinger M, Schulz M, Samulowitz U, Vestweber D and Hoch G. The development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the mouse requires alpha4-integrin but not alpha4beta7-integrin. *J Clin Invest*. 1998; 102: 2096-105.

42. Bartholomaus I, Kawakami N, Odoardi F, et al. Effector T cell interactions with meningeal vascular structures in nascent autoimmune CNS lesions. *Nature*. 2009; 462: 94-8.

43. Mildner A, Mack M, Schmidt H, et al. CCR2+Ly-6Chi monocytes are crucial for the effector phase of autoimmunity in the central nervous system. *Brain*. 2009; 132: 2487-500.

44. Fife BT, Huffnagle GB, Kuziel WA and Karpus WJ. CC chemokine receptor 2 is critical for induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 2000; 192: 899-905.

45. Williams DW, Anastos K, Morgello S and Berman JW. JAM-A and ALCAM are therapeutic targets to inhibit diapedesis across the BBB of CD14+CD16+ monocytes in HIV-infected individuals. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2015; 97: 401-12.

46. Derfuss T, Kuhle J, Lindberg R and Kappos L. Natalizumab therapy for multiple sclerosis. *Semin Neurol.* 2013; 33: 26-36.

47. Kappos L, Cohen J, Collins W, et al. Fingolimod in relapsing multiple sclerosis: An integrated analysis of safety findings. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. 2014; 3: 494-504.

48. Kawakami N and Flugel A. Knocking at the brain's door: intravital two-photon imaging of autoreactive T cell interactions with CNS structures. *Seminars in immunopathology*. 2010; 32: 275-87.

49. Sathiyanadan K, Coisne C, Enzmann G, Deutsch U and Engelhardt B. PSGL-1 and E/P-selectins are essential for T-cell rolling in inflamed CNS microvessels but dispensable for initiation of EAE. *Eur J Immunol*. 2014; 44: 2287-94.

50. Coisne C, Mao W and Engelhardt B. Cutting edge: Natalizumab blocks adhesion but not initial contact of human T cells to the blood-brain barrier in vivo in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol*. 2009; 182: 5909-13.

51. Duan H, Xing S, Luo Y, et al. Targeting endothelial CD146 attenuates neuroinflammation by limiting lymphocyte extravasation to the CNS. *Scientific reports*. 2013; 3: 1687.

52. Ahn BJ, Le H, Shin MW, et al. Ninjurin1 deficiency attenuates susceptibility of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *J Biol Chem.* 2014; 289: 3328-38.

53. Yao H, Kim K, Duan M, et al. Cocaine hijacks sigma1 receptor to initiate induction of activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule: implication for increased monocyte adhesion and migration in the CNS. *J Neurosci*. 2011; 31: 5942-55.

54. Wolburg K, Gerhardt H, Schulz M, Wolburg H and Engelhardt B. Ultrastructural localization of adhesion molecules in the healthy and inflamed choroid plexus of the mouse. *Cell Tissue Res.* 1999; 296: 259-69.

55. Bullard DC, Hu X, Schoeb TR, Collins RG, Beaudet AL and Barnum SR. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression is required on multiple cell types for the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol*. 2007; 178: 851-7.

56. Buhusi M, Demyanenko GP, Jannie KM, et al. ALCAM regulates mediolateral retinotopic mapping in the superior colliculus. *J Neurosci*. 2009; 29: 15630-41.

57. Rudolph H, Klopstein A, Gruber I, Blatti C, Lyck R and Engelhardt B. Post-arrest stalling rather than crawling favors CD8+ over CD4+ T-cell migration across the blood-brain barrier under flow in vitro. *Eur J Immunol.* 2016.

58. Gorina R, Lyck R, Vestweber D and Engelhardt B. beta2 integrin-mediated crawling on endothelial ICAM-1 and ICAM-2 is a prerequisite for transcellular neutrophil diapedesis across the inflamed blood-brain barrier. *J Immunol.* 2014; 192: 324-37.

59. Lussi F, Zipp F and Witsch E. Dendritic cells as therapeutic targets in neuroinflammation. *Cell Mol Life Sci*. 2016; 73: 2425-50.

60. Moreno MA, Burns T, Yao P, Miers L, Pleasure D and Soulika AM. Therapeutic depletion of monocyte-derived cells protects from long-term axonal loss in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol*. 2016; 290: 36-46.

61. Williams DW, Calderon TM, Lopez L, et al. Mechanisms of HIV entry into the CNS: increased sensitivity of HIV infected CD14+CD16+ monocytes to CCL2 and key roles of CCR2, JAM-A, and ALCAM in diapedesis. *PLoS ONE*. 2013; 8: e69270.

62. Curis C, Percher F, Jeannin P, et al. Human T-Lymphotropic Virus (HTLV)-1-Induced Overexpression of Activated Leukocyte Cell Adhesion Molecule (ALCAM) Facilitates Trafficking of Infected Lymphocytes through the Blood-Brain Barrier. *J Virol*. 2016.

63. Molliver DC, Radeke MJ, Feinstein SC and Snider WD. Presence or absence of TrkA protein distinguishes subsets of small sensory neurons with unique cytochemical characteristics and dorsal horn projections. *J Comp Neurol*. 1995; 361: 404-16.

Figure 1



Figure 1:

ALCAM protein expression on the human BBB

A, ALCAM expression pattern on control, MS NAWM and chronic MS lesion tissue samples from the subcortical white matter region of post-mortem human brains as detected by immune histochemistry (polyclonal goat anti-human/mouse ALCAM antibody). Scale bar = 50 μ m. B, Densitometry of ALCAM signal intensities on human brain microvessels (Ø<15 μ m) as shown in representative images in A. Randomly taken pictures from control (30 pictures from 6 cases) and MS cases (NAWM: 28 pictures from 6 cases, chronic Lesion: 21 pictures from 5 cases) were evaluated. ALCAM intensity is presented as arbitrary units. C, D, Anti-ALCAM immunoreactivity (clone 105901) on unstimulated or cytokine stimulated HBECs and HMECs (C) and HBLECs (D, ctrl, control antibody) is in red. Cytokine stimulation as labelled, nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). Representative of n = 3 independent experiments. Images were acquired with a 20x objective (C, scale bar = 10 µm) and 40 x objective (D, scale bar = 20 µm). E, Quantification of ALCAM (antibody clone 3A6), ICAM-1 (antibody clone HA58) and VCAM-1 (antibody clone 51-10C9) protein expression on HBECs (n = 10) or HMECs (n = 7) as determined by flow cytometry. Values show % of positive endothelial cells.

Figure 2



Figure 2:

Role of ALCAM during the interaction of human Th1 or Th17 cells with HBLECs, HBECs or HMECs

A-B, Adhesion of ex vivo sorted human CD4⁺ Th1 cells to HBLECs after treatment with function blocking antibodies to ALCAM or ICAM-1 or with isotype control. HBLECs were unstimulated or stimulated with TNF-α (10 ng/ml), IL-1β (20 ng/ml) or TNF-α/IFNγ (10 ng/100 U/ml). A, Representative images of CD4⁺ Th1 cells (green, CMFDA loaded) adherent on the human BBB stained for VE-cadherin, ALCAM or ICAM-1 (red). Cell nuclei are stained with DAPI (blue). Images were acquired with a 40x objective. Scale bar, 20 µm. B, Quantification of CD4⁺ Th1 cell adhesion to HBLECs. Values are of 3 independent experiments performed in triplicates and expressed relative to Th1 cell adhesion to isotype control treated and unstimulated HBLECs (1.0). C-D, numbers of adherent in vitro polarized CD4⁺ Th17 cells on resting (C) or cytokine (TNF-α/IFN-γ) stimulated HBECs 20 minutes after Th17 cell perfusion. Th17 cells from individual healthy donors are compared side-by-side (Horizontal lines) (n = 8 experiments). E, Diapedesis of ex vivo human CD4+CD45RO+ T cells across HBECs or HMECs that were pre-treated with ALCAM or ICAM-1 blocking antibodies or isotype control antibody (n = 4). HBECs and HMECs from the same donors were tested side-by-side and diapedesis rates were normalized to T cell diapedesis across isotype control treated HBECs (100 %). F-G, Diapedesis of human in vitro polarized CD4⁺ Th1 cells (F) or Th17 cells (G) across unstimulated HBECs that were pre-treated with ALCAM or ICAM-1 blocking antibodies or isotype control antibody (n = 4 experiments). Data are expressed relative to isotype control treated HBECs (100 %). Antibodies were anti ALCAM clone 105901 (A-G), anti ICAM-1 clone 15.2 (A, B) and clone BBA3 (E-G).

Figure 3



Figure 3:

ALCAM expression in the mouse CNS and on the mouse BBB

A, ALCAM or ICAM-1 protein in lysates from the brain cortex (ctx), cerebellum (crb) or spinal cord (sc) of wild type mice afflicted with acute paraplegic EAE or healthy gender and age matched control mice by Western Blot. Each lane represents protein samples from one individual mouse. Staining of β -actin proves equal loading, which was 20 µg/lane. B-E, Quantitative densitometry evaluation of the Western Blot shown in A. ALCAM or ICAM-1 signal intensities were normalized to β -actin and expressed as fractions of the healthy control set to 100 %. F, Analysis of ALCAM protein in brain cortex (ctx) or cerebellum (crb) lysates from an ALCAM^{-/-} (ko) or wild type (wt) mouse by Western Blot. Equal loading of total protein amount (20 µg/lane) was confirmed through β -actin assessment. G, ALCAM protein in brain (left) or spinal cord (right, sc) microvessel lysates from healthy wild type (wt) or ALCAM^{-/-} (ko) mice was assessed by Western Blot. Equal loading (20 µg/lane of brain vessels, 9 µg/lane of spinal cord vessels) was ensured by α -actin staining in parallel. A, F, G, polyclonal anti mouse/human ALCAM antibody. H-J, Relative quantification of ALCAM, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 mRNA level in RNA lysates from wild type pMBMECs that were unstimulated (open bars) or stimulated for 4 hours with TNF- α (grey bars) or IL-1 β (dark grey bars) as assessed by qPCR. Unstimulated condition was set to 1.0. Bars show the mean \pm SD from five independent experiments, each performed in triplicate.

Figure 4



Figure 4:

Comparison of mouse CD4⁺ Th1 cell interaction with ALCAM^{-/-} or wild type pMBMECs.

A, Diapedesis of CD4⁺ Th1 cells across wild type (wt, black bars) or ALCAM^{-/-} (ko, grey bars) pMBMECs was tested under static conditions. pMBMECs were without cytokine stimulation (w/o) or stimulated with TNF- α , TNF- α /IFN-y or IL-1 β as labelled. Diapedesis of mouse Th1 cells across ALCAM^{-/-} (ko) is shown relative to Th1 cell diapedesis across wild type pMBMECs (wt) set to 1.0. Data are mean of 10 samples from three independent experiments (w/o) or mean of six samples (TNF- α , TNF- α /IFN- γ) or three samples (IL-1β) from one representative experiment. Error bars are SD. B-I, Dynamic interaction behavior of mouse Th1 cells on wild type (wt) or ALCAM^{-/-} (ko) pMBMECs evaluated through *in vitro* live cell time lapse imaging under physiological flow. B-F, pMBMECs were without cytokine stimulation (w/o) or stimulated with IL-1 β or TNF- α /IFN- γ as indicated. Values are the mean of 3 independent experiments. B, numbers of arrested Th1 cells per field of view (FOV). C-F, Dynamic post-arrest interaction of the Th1 cells on the pMBMECs is described in 4 behavioral categories: Diapedesis (black bars), crawling but no diapedesis (hatched bars), detachment (dark grey bars) or stationary (light grey bars). Numbers of arrested Th1 cells were set to 100 % and the behavioral categories are expressed in fractions of arrested T cells. Period of observation was 30 minutes (C, w/o), 20 minutes (D, TNF-α/IFNy) or 25 and 10 minutes (E, F, IL-1β). G, crawling speed of Th1 cells on the surface of IL-1β stimulated pMBMECs. Each dot represents the crawling speed of one Th1 cell. H, time elapsed between initial arrest and start of diapedesis in seconds on IL-1ß stimulated pMBMECs. Each dot represents mean values from at least 50 CD4⁺ Th1 cells in one experiment. I, duration of T cell diapedesis across IL-1β stimulated pMBMECs. Each dot represents one T cell.

Figure 5



Figure 5:

Role of ALCAM in the extravasation of human monocytes across the human BBB

A-D, Monocyte/HBEC interactions were analyzed under flow conditions. HBECs and CFSE-labeled human CD14⁺ monocytes were treated with a function-blocking anti-ALCAM antibody or isotype control (n = 7 individual experiments). A, Monocytes were perfused over HBECs and 30-second-movies were acquired at 1 min, 5 min, 10 min, 15 min, 20 min or 30 min (x-axis: 1, 5, 10, 15, 20, 30; c, ctrl; A, anti-ALCAM). Each dot represents the mean velocity of a single CFSE⁺ cell. The horizontal bars are representative of the mean per data set. B, Numbers of rolling monocytes (1-20 µm/sec) per FOV at 1 min, 5 min, 10 min, 15 min, 20 min or 30 min after monocyte perfusion are shown. C-D, numbers of adherent CD14⁺ monocytes on resting (C) or cytokine (TNF-α/IFN-γ) (D) stimulated HBECs 20 minutes after monocyte perfusion. Monocytes from individual healthy donors are compared side-by-side (horizontal lines). E, Diapedesis of human monocytes across HBECs or HMECs; both cell types were pre-treated with ALCAM or ICAM-1 blocking antibodies or isotype control antibody (n = 4). HBECs and HMECs from identical donors were tested side-by-side and diapedesis rates were normalized to monocyte diapedesis across isotype control treated HBECs (100 %). Antibodies were anti ALCAM clone 105901 (A-E) and anti ICAM-1 clone BBA3 (E).

Supplementary material

Antibodies and cytokines

For immunofluorescence, flow cytometry and functional blockade of HBLECs, HBECs or HMECs or immunohistochemistry on post-mortem human brain tissue, we used monoclonal mouse anti-human ALCAM clone 105901 (R&D Systems) or clone 3A6 (BD Biosciences), VCAM-1 clone BBIG-V1 (R&D Systems) or clone 51-10C9 (BD Biosciences), ICAM-1 clone BBA3 (R&D Systems), clone HA58 (BD Biosciences) or clone 15.2 (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), mouse anti-human VE-cadherin clone F-8 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Heidelberg, Germany) and polyclonal goat anti-human/mouse ALCAM antibody (R&D Systems). For On-Cell Western on pMBMECs, we used rat anti-mouse monoclonal to ICAM-1 clone 29G1, VCAM-1 clone 6C7.1, ICAM-2 clone 3C4, and control anti-human monoclonal to CD44 clone 9B5 described previously.⁵ For immunofluorescence on mouse tissue, we used polyclonal rabbit anti-Substance P (AB1566, 1:500, Chemicon), rat anti-mouse ALCAM clone 33.1,22 and Isolectin B4 (IB4) from Griffonia Simplificolia directly labeled with FITC (1:100, Vector Laboratories). For Western Blot, we used anti-β-Actin (AC-15) from Sigma-Aldrich (Buchs, Switzerland), polyclonal goat anti ALCAM (R&D Systems) and polyclonal rabbit anti-ICAM-1 raised against mouse immune globulin domains 1 and 2 (custom made, Eurogentec, Seraing, Belgium). For FACS analysis of human or mouse T cells, we used mouse anti-human CD6 clone M-T605 (BD-Pharmingen), rat anti-mouse CD6 clone 96123 (R&D Systems), rat anti-mouse ALCAM clone eBioALC48 (eBiosciences, Vienna, Austria), polyclonal goat anti-ALCAM (R&D Systems).

Secondary antibodies used for Western Blot and On-Cell Western were goat anti-mouse IgG-IRDye® 800CW (Li-Cor, Bad Homburg, Germany) or –horse radish peroxidase (HRP), donkey anti-goat IgG-Alexa Fluor® 680 or –HRP, goat anti-rat IgG-Alexa Fluor® 680 and goat anti-rabbit IgG-Alexa Fluor® 680 (ThermoFisher Scientific). Secondary antibody used for immunohistochemistry was donkey anti-goat IgG-biotin (Jackson ImmunoResearch). Secondary antibodies used for immunofluorescence staining were donkey anti-mouse IgG-Cy3 (1:500), donkey anti-goat IgG-Cy3 (1:200) and goat anti-rat

IgG-Cy3 (1:500) (Jackson ImmunoResearch). Secondary antibodies used for FACS analysis were goat anti-rat, goat anti-mouse donkey anti-goat IgG-Phycoerythrin (PE) (Jackson ImmunoResearch).

For stimulation of pMBMECs, we used recombinant murine TNF- α from PromoKine (Vitaris AG, Baar, Switzerland), recombinant murine IL-1 β and recombinant murine IFN- γ from PeproTech (Rocky Hill, NJ, USA). For stimulation of HBLECs we used recombinant human TNF- α , human IL-1 β and human IFN- γ (R&D Systems, Bio-Techne AG, Zug, Switzerland). For stimulation of HBECs or HMECs we used recombinant TNF- α and IFN- γ (Gibco, Carlsbad, CA).

Cytokines used for T cell differentiation are named with the method.

Immunofluorescence staining of mouse tissue

Animals were anesthetized using isoflurane anesthesia (Abbott, Wiesbaden, Germany), and were perfused with PBS followed by 4 % formaldehyde (PFA) in PBS through the left ventricle of the heart. Tissue was removed, equilibrated in 30 % sucrose and then embedded in Tissue-Tek (OCT, Miles Inc., Vogel, Giessen, Germany), and snap-frozen in a 2-methylbutane (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) dry ice bath at -80 °C. Cryostat sections (6-18 μm) were air dried overnight. For immunofluorescence staining, frozen tissue sections were blocked for 20 min with 2.5 % BSA, 0.1 % Triton X-100 in PBS followed by incubations with primary antibody (1 hour to overnight) and secondary antibody for 1 hour with PBS washing steps in between. After a final PBS-wash, sections were mounted in Mowiol (Calbiochem, Grogg Chemie AG, Stettlen/Deisswil, Switzerland). Images were acquired with a Leica DM5000B microscope at 20x magnification with a Leica DFC350 camera.

Flow cytometry

Human or mouse CD4⁺ Th1 cells were washed twice with FACS buffer (PBS supplemented with 2.5% FBS and 0.1% NaN₃) and aliquoted at 0.5-1x 10⁶ cells per well in a 96 round bottom well plate. HBECs at confluency prior to any passage (at passage 0) and HMECs at passage 3 - 4 were trypsinized, washed in serum containing media and then in FACS buffer. The cells were then aliquoted at 0.5x - 1x 10⁵ cells per well in a 96 round bottom plate. Antibody incubation was performed for 30 min with primary

antibodies and with the PE-conjugated secondary antibodies at 4°C with washing steps in between. Cells fixed in 1% PFA/PBS or without any fixation were then analyzed by flow cytometry using a FACSCalibur and CellQuest or a BD LSR II Flow Cytometer and BD FACSDiva software (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA) and FlowJo software (Tree Star Ashland, OR) for data analysis.

EAE, protein lysates, Western Blot and protein quantification

Active EAE was induced in 8-week-old female wild type C57BL/6J mice with 200 µg of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG)_{aa35-55} in complete Freund's adjuvants (CFA) (LabForce; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) supplemented with 4 mg/ml nonviable, desiccated Mycobacterium tuberculosis (H37RA; Difco/BD Biosciences/BD Clontech) subcutaneous. A total of 300 ng of pertussis toxin from Bordetella pertussis (List; LuBioScience) per mouse was administered intraperitoneal (i.p.) at days 1 and 3 postimmunization. Mice were euthanized at acute paraplegic EAE. Healthy age and gender matched C57BL/6J mice served as controls. Cortex of the cerebrum, the cerebellum and the spinal cord of PBS perfused healthy or EAE mice were harvested separately and homogenized in RIPA (50 mM Tris, pH 7.6, 150 mM NaCl, 1 % NP-40, 0.5 % sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) supplemented with 2 mM EDTA and protease inhibitors (Roche Diagnostics, Rotkreuz, Switzerland). Homogenates were centrifuged at 13'800xg for 10 minutes at 4 °C. Supernatants were frozen in aliquots at -20 °C. Protein concentration was determined using the PierceTM BCA Protein Assay Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). SDS-PAGE and Semi-Dry Western Blotting on nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad Life Science, Cressier, Switzerland) was according to standard procedures. Western Blot signal detection was with the ECL system (Amersham Biosciences) combined with the Bio-Rad Gel Doc system to digitalize images or with the Odyssey® infrared reader (Li-Cor GmbH, Bad Homburg, Germany). For quantification ALCAM, ICAM-1 or β-Actin signal intensities were determined with the Odyssey® software. Then, signal intensities were normalized to β -Actin and expressed relative to the healthy control samples set to 100 %.

Supplementary Table:

Human brain tissues

Control patients

Patient	Gender	Age at death	Postmortem time	Disease Duration	MS type	Cause of death	Tissue block
						Carcinoma of the lung	
C11	M	77	26			metastasised	C11-1
C15	М	64	18			Cardiac failure	C15-1
C20	F	60	13			Ovarian cancer	C20-2
C21	М	75	17			cva, aspiration pneumonia	
C23	F	88	20			Bronchopneumonia	
C25	М	84	5			Bladder cancer C25	

Multiple Sclerosis patients

Patient	Gender	Age at death	Postmortem time	Disease Duration	MS type	Cause of death	Tissue block
M01	F	56	8	31	SPMS	Breast carcinoma	M1-2
M02	F	58	16	22	PPMS	Peritonitis	M2-2
M03	F	78	18	33	SPMS	Myocardial infarction	M3-3
M05	F	74	19	26	SPMS	Septicaemia	M5-1
M07	F	20	17	17	PPMS	Pulmonary embolus	M7-1
M20	F	86	21	56	?	Pneumonia	M20-2

Statistics

Multiple Sclerosis patients		Stdev
Average Age	62.00 years	23.63 years
Average Postmortem time	16.50 years	4.51 years
Average Disease duration	30.83 years	13.64 years
Control patients		
Average Age	74.67 years	10.95 years
Average Postmortem time	16.50 years	7.06 years
ttest age	0.2720657	
ttest postmortem time	1	

Legend to supplementary table:

Cortical tissue with subcortical white matter from six cases without any diagnosed neurological disease was taken as controls. These subjects had an average age of 74.7 years (\pm 10.95 SD) and an average post-mortem time of autopsy was 16.5 h (\pm 7.06 SD). Cortical tissues from six cases with multiple sclerosis with average disease duration of 30.8 years (\pm 13.6 SD) were used for this study. Their average age was 62 years (\pm 23.63 SD), and an average post-mortem time of autopsy was 16.5 h (\pm 4.51 SD).

Supplementary Figure 1:

ALCAM and CD6 expression on human Th1 or Th17 cells



Legend to supplementary figure 1

Flow cytometry analysis of cell surface expression of ALCAM and CD6 on *ex vivo* sorted human CD4⁺ Th1 cells (A, anti-ALCAM clone 105901, anti-CD6 clone M-T605) or on *in vitro* polarized human CD4⁺ Th1 cells or Th17 cells (B, anti-ALCAM clone 3A6). Isotype control staining is shown as thin dotted lines and CD6 staining is shown in thick continuous lines. Y-axes show numbers of CD4⁺ Th1 cells measured per intensity. Anti-ALCAM antibodies used were clone 105901 (A) and clone 3A6 (B). Anti-CD6 was clone M-T605 (A, B). Data are from one representative experiment out of 3 independent experiments.

Supplementary Figure 2:

ALCAM immune fluorescence on mouse CNS tissue



Legend to supplementary Figure 2

A-L, Representative ALCAM immunoreactivity in the CNS of an ALCAM heterozygous (cont, A, C-F, H, J), an ALCAM^{-/-} (ko, B, G, I, J) and a C57BL/6J wild type mouse (wt, J). ALCAM immunoreactivity was detected with antibody clone 33.1 and is shown in red. A,C, Strong ALCAM signal in the meninges of the cerebral cortex (A) and striatum (C). D-F, strong ALCAM immunoreactivity in neurons and axons of the dorsal root ganglion (D), the dorsal (E) and the ventral horn (F). H-I, merged images of ALCAM with isolectin B4 (IB4, green) and Substance P (blue) shows ALCAM highly concentrated in the axons projected to the inner part of lamina II and to lamina III, as ALCAM immunostaining was ventral to both Substance P- and IB4-positive terminals in lamina I and the outer part of lamina II, respectively (H).⁶³ The laminar projections of Substance P and IB4-positive terminals did not appear to be disrupted in ALCAM^{-/-} mice consistent with the lack of overt neurological phenotypes in this mouse (I).²² J, high magnification of merged images of ALCAM with IB4 (green) of a wild type (wt, left), an ALCAM^{+/-} (het) and an ALCAM^{-/-} (ko, right) mouse do not reveal ALCAM immune reactivity of vessels (green). Objectives were 10x (A,B), 20x (C-I) and 63x (J).

Supplementary Figure 3:

ALCAM and CD6 expression on mouse CD4⁺ Th1 cells



Legend to supplementary figure 3:

A-C, Flow cytometry analysis of cell surface expression of ALCAM and CD6 on mouse CD4⁺ Th1 cells. Isotype control staining is shown as thin dotted lines, ALCAM and CD6 staining is shown in thick continuous lines. Y-axes show numbers of CD4⁺ Th1 cells measured per intensity. Antibodies used were anti-mouse ALCAM clone eBioALC48, polyclonal anti human/mouse ALCAM 105901 and anti-mouse CD6 clone 96123. Data are from one representative experiment out of 3 independent experiments.

Manuscript 2

Title: The Dual Role of ALCAM in Neuroinflammation and Blood-Brain Barrier Homeostasis.

<u>Authors</u>: Marc-André Lécuyer, Olivia Saint-Laurent, Lyne Bourbonnière, Sandra Larouche, Catherine Larochelle, Laure Michel, Marc Charabati, Michael Abadier, Neda Haghayegh Jahromi, Camille Pittet, Stephanie Zandee, Ruth Lyck, Britta Engelhardt, Alexandre Prat

Journal: Submitted to Immunity. Manuscript ID: IMMUNITY-D-16-00720.

Contributions: The project was initiated by myself as a follow-up of Cayrol et al., 2008. To conduct this study, I have genotyped and managed the colony of ALCAM KO mice with the help of Lyne Bourbonnière. This task was later performed entirely by Sandra Larouche. I have also performed all the EAE experiments with the help of Lyne Bourbonnière and Sandra Larouche. Additionally, I have performed all the *in vitro*, *ex vivo* and *in situ* experiments with, occasionally, the help of the following students. Olivia Saint-Laurent has helped with the isolation and flow cytometry analysis of mouse immune cells from both naïve and EAE animals. She has also helped with the immunofluorescence staining of tight junction and adherens junction molecules. Lyne Bourbonnière, Sandra Larouche, Catherine Larochelle, Laure Michel and Marc Charabati have also helped with the isolation of mouse leukocytes and mouse endothelial cells. Sandra Larouche has helped with the *in vivo* CNS permeability assay. Michael Abadier has performed TEER experiments in Dr. Engelhardt's laboratory. Neda Haghayegh Jahromi has performed the EAE experiment in Dr. Engelhardt's laboratory. Camille Pittet has cut the mouse CNS tissue used to perform immunofluorescence staining. Ruth Lyck, Britta Engelhardt, Alexandre Prat and myself have participated in the scientific discussions and the revision of this manuscript. Alexandre Prat and myself have elaborated the different experiments, analyzed the results, constructed the figures and wrote the manuscript.

The Dual Role of ALCAM in Neuroinflammation and Blood-Brain Barrier Homeostasis.

Marc-André Lécuyer^{1*}, Olivia Saint-Laurent¹, Lyne Bourbonnière¹, Sandra Larouche¹, Catherine

Larochelle¹, Laure Michel¹, Marc Charabati¹, Michael Abadier², Neda Haghayegh Jahromi²,

Camille Pittet¹, Stephanie Zandee¹, Ruth Lyck², Britta Engelhardt², Alexandre Prat^{1,3}

¹ Neuroimmunology Research Laboratory, Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CRCHUM), Montréal, Québec, Canada.

² Theodor Kocher Institute, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

Corresponding author: A. Prat MD, PhD, Neuroimmunology Research Laboratory (R09-312), CRCHUM 900 rue Saint-Denis, Tour Viger Montréal, Québec, Canada, H2X 0A9 E-mail: a.prat@umontreal.ca Phone: 514-890-8000 ext. 24734

Running title: ALCAM in Neuroinflammation

Keywords: ALCAM, CD166, CD6, multiple sclerosis, MS, BBB, EAE, transmigration, tight junctions, lymphocytes.

³ Department of Neurosciences, Faculty of Medicine, Université de Montréal, Montréal, Québec, Canada.

Abstract

ALCAM is a cell adhesion molecule found on blood-brain barrier endothelial cells (BBB-ECs), which was previously shown to be involved in leukocyte transmigration across the endothelium. In the present study, we found that ALCAM knock-out (KO) mice developed more severe MOG35-55-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). This was associated with a significant increase in the number of CNS-infiltrating pro-inflammatory leukocytes, as compared to WT controls. Passive EAE transfer experiments suggested that the pathophysiology observed in active EAE was linked to the absence of ALCAM on BBB-ECs. In addition, phenotypic characterization of un-immunized ALCAM KO mice revealed a reduced expression of BBB junctional proteins. Further *in vivo, in vitro* and molecular analysis confirmed that ALCAM is associated with tight junction molecules assembly at the BBB, explaining the increased permeability of CNS blood vessels in ALCAM KO animals. Collectively, our data point to a biologically important function of ALCAM in maintaining BBB integrity.

Introduction

The loss of blood-brain barrier (BBB) integrity is a hallmark of multiple sclerosis (MS). It is associated with the disorganization of junctional molecules which normally form complex apicolateral molecular aggregates located in cholesterol-rich cell membrane regions called lipid rafts (1, 2). These molecules are highly regulated and are integral to the maintenance of the barrier. They can be divided in two major categories, the tight junction molecules (TJs) and located abluminally, the adherens junction molecules (AJs). The junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs), occludin and the claudins are well-characterized transcellular TJs molecules. Zonula occludens 1 and 2 (ZO-1, -2) and cingulin are adaptor molecules located intracellularly which anchor the TJs to the actin filaments and regulate them spatiotemporally (3, 4). AJs are composed of cadherin molecules, such as vascular-endothelial (VE)-cadherin and are linked to the cytoskeleton via proteins of the catenin family (α -, β -, p120) (5). Together, all these junctional proteins highly restrict leukocyte transmigration under homeostatic conditions.

Upon inflammation, cell adhesion molecules, such as intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), which are two of the most studied molecules involved in immune cell transmigration and recruitment to the brain and spinal cord, are upregulated (6). Proof of concept that targeting CAMs for the treatment of autoimmune neuroinflammatory diseases, e.g. MS, was provided by the clinical success of Natalizumab, which targets the alpha4 integrin subunit of very late antigen-4 (VLA-4; binding partner to VCAM-1). However, use of Natalizumab in clinical practice is limited due to the emergence of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy and rebound MS activity following withdrawal (7). Identifying novel key players involved during leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system (CNS) during neuroinflammation.

Although the roles of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 during leukocyte transmigration in most vascular beds have been extensively studied (8-10), additional adhesion molecules have also been shown to partake in the transmigration process of encephalitogenic immune cells, including activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM/CD166) (11), MCAM (12-14), MadCAM (15, 16), VAP-1 (17, 18), Ninjurin-1 (19) and JAM-L (20). We have previously demonstrated that ALCAM is part of a group of novel adhesion molecules, found on blood-brain barrier endothelial cells (BBB-ECs), that are involved in immune cell diapedesis (11). ALCAM was initially discovered as a ligand for CD6, a co-stimulatory molecule involved in the formation of the immune synapse between lymphocytes and antigen-presenting cells (21-23). ALCAM can also bind to itself (homotypic ALCAM-ALCAM), although ALCAM-CD6 binding was later found to be the stronger of two possible interactions (24-26). Recently, both ALCAM and CD6 alleles were associated with an increased risk of developing MS (27-30).

In the current study, we found that ALCAM knock-out (KO) mice develop a more severe active experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) due to an increased permeability of the BBB. We also present data indicating that ALCAM indirectly links junctional molecules to the cytoskeleton, suggesting that in addition to its role in transmigration, ALCAM regulates and maintains tight junction stability by acting as an adaptor molecule.

Results

ALCAM is absent from blood-brain barrier endothelial cells and the immune compartment of ALCAM knock-out mice.

To test the hypothesis that ALCAM plays an important role during leukocyte transmigration across the BBB, we used an ALCAM knock-out mouse. We first evaluated whether ALCAM was indeed absent in the animal cells. Using Western blot, ALCAM was detected on both freshly isolated brain and spinal cord microvessel from wildtype (WT) but not from ALCAM KO animals (Fig 1A). These results were corroborated by the analysis of primary cultures of WT and ALCAM KO BBB endothelial cells (BBB-ECs) mRNA via RT-PCR. Following activation with TNF and IFN γ , *ALCAM* mRNA expression was up-regulated in EC cultures derived from WT animals, while *ALCAM* mRNA could not be detected in ALCAM KO samples (Fig 1B). Similar results were obtained by flow cytometry analysis of PECAM-1+ BBB-EC primary cultures (Fig 1C). This confirmed the absence of ALCAM on BBB-ECs, and thus allowed us to use ALCAM KO CNS blood vessels in order to study the role of ALCAM in transmigration.

Next, we assessed by flow cytometry the expression of ALCAM on *ex vivo* CD4+ T lymphocytes isolated from the CNS of early symptomatic active EAE animals, as well as CD11b+ monocytes/macrophages and CD11b+CD11c+ dendritic cells isolated from the spleen of the same animals. Whereas myeloid cells of WT animals express high levels of ALCAM even in resting state, T lymphocytes express low to intermediate levels of ALCAM only once highly activated (Fig 1D). Resting T lymphocytes do, however, express constitutively CD6, which is a co-stimulation marker and one of the ligands of ALCAM (Fig S1A-B). ALCAM KO animals had normal absolute numbers, proportion and distribution of peripheral immune cells in the spleen, lymph nodes (LNs) and thymus, as compared to their WT littermates (data not shown). Nevertheless, to assess the effect of ALCAM deficiency on lymphocyte proliferation in more details, we conducted in *vitro*

proliferation assays using WT CD4 T lymphocytes in combination with WT or ALCAM deficient antigen-presenting cells. Both mixed leukocyte reactions and control assays showed similar percentages of cellular proliferation ($50.9\% \pm 3.2$ and $51.6\% \pm 2.4$, respectively). Likewise, no significant difference was observed in the production of IL-17 and IFN γ by CD4 T lymphocytes (IL-17: WT= $20.9\% \pm 5.9$ and KO= $23.4\% \pm 7.3$; IFN γ : WT= $26.1\% \pm 4.7$ and KO= $24.7\% \pm 3.2$). These data confirmed results obtained beforehand using anti-ALCAM blocking antibodies (11), demonstrating that the absence of ALCAM does not significantly influence the activation of lymphocytes and *in vivo* immune homeostasis.

ALCAM KO mice develop a more severe active EAE associated with a significant increase in pro-inflammatory leukocyte infiltrating the CNS.

To assess the role of ALCAM during the pathogenesis of EAE, active EAE was induced in WT and ALCAM KO mice using MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in complete Freund's adjuvant. As opposed to what we had expected based on previous publications (11, 23), ALCAM KO mice developed more severe clinical symptoms (Area under the curve (AUC) WT: 86.48 ± 6.80 , ALCAM KO: 117.6 ± 7.21), showing a diminished remission and often an earlier disease onset (1 day prior to their WT littermates) (Fig 2A). Additional active EAE experiments induced with recombinant human MOG corroborated these results (data not shown). Furthermore, these observations were made in two different animal facilities using independently bred ALCAM KO mice and their WT littermates, demonstrating the certainty of the outcome. While the absolute number of immune cells found in the draining inguinal LNs of both groups were virtually identical throughout the disease course, the absolute number of splenocytes was significantly higher in ALCAM KO animals at 9 days post-induction (dpi) (Fig 2B). On the other hand, the highest absolute number of immune cells infiltrating the CNS of ALCAM KO mice occurred 3 days earlier than in their WT littermates (Fig

2C). Of those CNS infiltrating immune cells, IFN γ +, IL-17+, as well as IFN γ +/IL-17+ CD4 and CD8 T lymphocytes were found to enter the CNS of ALCAM KO animals earlier and in greater number than in WT animals, as assessed by flow cytometry (Fig 2D). In addition, the number of CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T lymphocytes was found to be similar throughout the disease process in both ALCAM KO and WT CNS (Fig 2E), which suggests that the increased disease severity observed in ALCAM KO mice was not due to a deficiency in the immune regulatory system. Finally, and importantly, we did not observe differences in cytokine production in the periphery (data not shown), suggesting that enhanced and early recruitment of encephalitogenic lymphocytes in the CNS of ALCAM KO animals was not caused by an enhanced number of circulating activated peripheral immune cells.

While EAE is mainly a CD4+ T lymphocyte driven disease, myeloid cells also play a crucial role both in the establishment of the disease and in the remission phase. Therefore, we have assessed by flow cytometry the ratio of M1 (pro-inflammatory) versus M2 (anti-inflammatory/tissue repair) monocytes/macrophages present in the CNS. As expected from the ongoing increased clinical scores, ALCAM KO mice had a higher M1 over M2 ratio at peak of disease (12 dpi), as well as in the chronic phase of the disease (Fig 2F). Interestingly, ALCAM positive monocytes, dendritic cells and CD4 T lymphocytes were also enriched in the CNS of WT EAE animals, as compared to the periphery (data not shown); clearly suggesting the importance of ALCAM during EAE pathogenesis. Collectively, these results were corroborated by *in situ* immunofluorescence confocal microscopy of spinal cord material from ALCAM KO and WT animals harvested at 12 dpi (Score 3.0 and 2.5 respectively). Immunostainings for CD4 and F4/80 in conjunction with pan-laminin confirmed the significant increase in the number of helper T lymphocytes and macrophages in the CNS of ALCAM KO EAE mice, as compared to WT animals (Fig 2G-H).

The absence of ALCAM on BBB-ECs increase EAE disease severity.

Different cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) (i.e. ICAM-1 and VCAM-1) can compensate for the lack of specific CAMs in KO animals (31-33). We have therefore chosen to compare, by flow cytometry, the expression of other CAMs on primary cultures of WT and ALCAM KO mouse CNS ECs, under resting or stimulated conditions (TNF and IFNγ). While we confirmed that some CAMs are upregulated upon inflammation, we could not demonstrate the presence of such compensatory mechanism in ALCAM KO endothelial cells (Fig 3A). MCAM, Ninjurin-1 and CD62E, previously shown to be involved in the recruitment of specific immune cell types to the CNS (13, 14, 19, 34, 35), were also assessed and showed no significant differences between ALCAM KO and WT MBECs either in resting or stimulated conditions (data not shown).

We then performed passive (adoptive transfer) EAE by injecting WT MOG-reactivated splenocytes into both WT and ALCAM KO mice (Fig 3B). ALCAM KO recipients demonstrated the first sign of symptoms 2 days earlier than their WT littermates, and had higher clinical scores at peak of disease and subsequently during the remission phase (AUC: WT recipients: 21.43 ± 1.94 , ALCAM KO recipients: 38.06 ± 5.03). The disease incidence rate was also slightly more elevated in ALCAM KO recipients as compared to WT with 100% and 95%, respectively. In addition, the absolute number of CNS infiltrating immune cells were higher in ALCAM KO recipient after 12 days following cell transfer, corroborating the clinical scores (Fig 3C). From these immune cells, the percentage of CD4+ T lymphocytes was higher in ALCAM KO, whereas the percentage of CD8+ T lymphocytes was lower in ALCAM KO animals as only the donor cells express that protein. However, it demonstrates that roughly 20% of CD4+ T lymphocytes and CD11b+ monocytes present in the CNS of ALCAM KO originated from the donor cells (Fig 3D).

While the percentage of CD4 and CD8 T lymphocytes were different in the two recipient groups, the percentage of those cells positive for IFN γ or IL-17 were not that different, with the exception of IFN γ +CD4+ T lymphocytes (Fig 3E). Overall, this means that more pro-inflammatory cytokine-secreting CD44hiCD4+ T lymphocytes were present in the CNS of ALCAM KO at day 12, while the reverse was true for CD8 T lymphocytes. Ultimately, this transfer experiment allowed us to hypothesize that the absence of ALCAM on BBB-ECs might destabilize the BBB and therefore explain the increased EAE severity observed in MOG-induced active EAE.

We then performed the reverse transfer experiment, in which ALCAM KO splenocytes are injected into either ALCAM KO naïve recipients or their WT littermates. The disease onset was slightly earlier in ALCAM KO recipients and animals developed more severe EAE scores, as compared to WT recipients (AUC: ALCAM WT recipients: 60.85 ± 8.89 , ALCAM KO recipients: 90.67 ± 10.69) (Fig 3F). The disease incidence was also higher in ALCAM KO mice with 83%, as compared to 72% for the WT. While the absolute number of CNS infiltrating immune cells were not significantly higher in ALCAM KO recipient after 12 dpi, a noticeable trend can be observed, albeit with a large variability (Fig 3G). Similar to the WT to KO/WT transfer experiment, a higher percentage of CD4 T lymphocytes could be observed by flow cytometry in the CNS of ALCAM KO recipients, while a smaller percentage of CD8 T lymphocytes was present (Fig 3H). Since ALCAM positive leukocytes present in the CNS can only originate from the recipient, virtually no ALCAM+ signal was detected in ALCAM KO animals as expected (Fig 3I). Finally, the percentage of CD4 cells positive for IFNy, IL-17 or expressing high levels of CD44 were greater in ALCAM KO recipients (Fig 3J). Similar results were obtained while gating on CD8+ T lymphocytes with the exception of IFNy, which was expressed at equally high levels in both groups (Fig 3J). Overall, this transfer experiment corroborated our hypothesis that ALCAM expression on the BBB helps maintaining its integrity.

The blood-brain barrier of ALCAM KO animals is more permeable.

We next tested the integrity of the ALCAM KO BBB in vitro and in vivo. Using a transendothelial electrical resistance (TEER) assay, we first demonstrated that confluent monolayers of primary mouse brain microvascular endothelial cells (pMBMECs) from ALCAM KO mouse were significantly more permeable (i.e. less resistant) than their WT counterpart (Fig 4A). Whereas TEER measurements can clearly assess the integrity of the endothelial barrier, we also decided to corroborate the result using bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 10 kDa dextran as permeability markers in a modified *in vitro* Boyden chamber assay, in which confluent monolayers of mouse BBB-ECs (MBECs) were grown on the insert. This tracer diffusion assay demonstrated that ALCAM KO MBECs have a higher permeability coefficient, as compared to WT cells (Fig 4B), when using either resting MBECs or MBECs stimulated with TNF and IFNy. Next, we wanted to confirm these in vitro data with an in vivo approach. Using different sizes of fluorescent dextran markers injected intravenously, we measured the accumulation of these tracers in the CNS (and indirectly the permeability of the BBB) in naïve animals, as well as in EAE mice at 7 and 10 dpi. While CNS vessels of naïve ALCAM KO animals were not more permeable than those from control WT littermates, CNS vessels from pre-symptomatic ALCAM KO EAE animals were significantly more permeable to the small 3 kDa dextran marker, as compared to vessels from WT littermates (Fig 4C); the differences in vascular permeability for larger molecular weight dextran markers became apparent at 10 dpi, corresponding to the time of disease onset (Fig 4C).

Junctional molecules expression at the BBB is altered in ALCAM KO animals.

To explain the increased BBB permeability in ALCAM KO, we assessed the expression of junctional molecules. Using immunofluorescence confocal imaging, we evaluated the organization
of TJ and AJ molecules, as well as their expression levels based on the maximum fluorescence intensity. Analysis of spinal cord sections from naïve animals revealed that the expression of the tight junction protein occludin, and the adherens junction protein α -catenin, were reduced in ALCAM KO mice (Fig 4D). We further demonstrated that claudin-5, p120 and ZO-1 were also down-regulated *in situ*, at the level of the blood-spinal cord barrier in ALCAM KO naïve animals, while VE-cadherin, PECAM-1, β -catenin, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 were similar (Fig 4E and data not shown). Similarly, we compared the expression of junctional molecules in MBECs cultures. Using the same method, α -/ β -catenin, claudin-5, ZO-1 and VE-cadherin expression were shown to be reduced *in vitro*, whereas the expression of PECAM-1 and ICAM-1 were comparable (Fig 4F). Although we also analyzed the spinal cord of EAE animals, the results were much more variable depending on the clinical score (data not shown). Furthermore, the presence of massive perivascular infiltrates, the disorganization of junction molecules by the immune cells and the presence of debris in demyelinating lesions made it more challenging to analyze.

ALCAM is linked to junctional molecules

Having established that the integrity of ALCAM KO BBB is defective due to the disorganization and reduced expression of junctional molecules, we next elected to confirm a possible molecular interaction between ALCAM and junctional proteins. To do so, we performed an immunoprecipitation of ALCAM on MBECs protein lysates (Fig 5A). A proteomic analysis was performed by liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry on the proteins pulled-down with ALCAM. A list of the most abundant proteins was made and from that list, probable ALCAM binding partners were identified. Eight of those were subsequently verified by Western blot. We demonstrated that an isoform of ZO-2, cingulin, TRIO and F-actin binding protein (TRIOBP, TARA), coronin 1C, β-actin and pan-tropomyosin (TPM) were all linked directly or indirectly to

ALCAM (Fig 5B). Although present on the list, both ZO-1 and occludin were not detected by Western blot in the proteins pulled-down with ALCAM (Fig 5B). Similarly, ezrin and syntenin-1, which have been recently identified as intracellular ALCAM binding partners in dendritic cells were not detected in the pulled-down protein lysate (Fig 5B) (36). These results suggest that ALCAM is present in the intercellular junctions and stabilizes the junctional molecular complexes by binding to cellular structural fibres such as actin and myosin.

Discussion

In previous studies, ALCAM has been shown to be expressed on BBB-ECs and its ligands, CD6 and ALCAM, on activated and resting leukocytes (11, 37). Furthermore, we have previously demonstrated that physical hindrance of ALCAM during active EAE, using anti-ALCAM blocking antibodies, delays the progression and reduces the severity of the disease, while also partially preventing the infiltration of leukocytes in the CNS (11). In addition, several groups have demonstrated the involvement of ALCAM in leukocyte transmigration across human or mouse BBB-endothelial cells (11, 37-40).

Using a constitutive ALCAM KO animal, we now provide evidence that, following the induction of active EAE, ALCAM deficient mice progress to a higher clinical score, with a significantly more severe ascending paralysis than their WT littermates. Correlating with this observation, a significantly higher number of leukocytes are found in the CNS of ALCAM KO animals at peak of disease. From this population of CNS infiltrating immune cells, a higher percentage of T lymphocytes are secreting the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFNγ and IL-17, as compared to those found in WT mice. Similarly, "M1" macrophages (pro-inflammatory) are found in higher number in the CNS of ALCAM deficient animals. However, the number of regulatory T lymphocytes are found in similar numbers in the CNS of ALCAM KO and WT animals, despite the fact that a previous study described the role of ALCAM in recruiting Tregs into tumour tissues (41). While these EAE results were unexpected, we also found enriched populations of ALCAM+ leukocytes infiltrating the CNS of WT EAE mice, as compared to peripheral immune compartments, suggesting that ALCAM expression on encephalitogenic immune cells is important during the transmigration process, which is in line with previous literature.

Although some groups have shown a role for the heterotypic interaction ALCAM-CD6 in the proliferation of CD4 T lymphocytes (23, 28), we have previously established that ALCAM blockade does not influence *in vitro* proliferation and activation of human CD4 T lymphocytes (11). In the current study, we now provide *in vivo* evidence that genetic neutralization of ALCAM does not affect peripheral immune system homeostasis, nor T cell proliferation. Therefore, it is unlikely that the impeded CD6 activating signalling pathways on T lymphocytes or a compensatory mechanism are responsible for the increased clinical score of ALCAM KO mice during active EAE.

Using transfer EAE experiments, where MOG-reactive WT splenocytes are transferred to ALCAM KO animals, we confirmed that ALCAM genetic neutralization in the recipient mice lead to a more severe disease, and to an increased number of encephalitogenic leukocytes infiltrating their CNS, as compared to WT littermates. To rule out the possibility that increased immune cell infiltration could be mediated by the up-regulation of additional CAMs (ALCAM-independent pathways) in ALCAM KO animals, we assessed the expression of other CAMs on BBB-ECs and found no evidence of compensatory mechanisms. However, we could demonstrate a significant reduction of BBB integrity in ALCAM deficient animals, as supported by a reduced TEER and an increased extravasation of fluorescent molecules, both in vitro and in vivo. This altered BBB integrity was associated with a dysregulation of TJ and AJ molecules in the CNS of ALCAM KO animals, including occluding, α -, β -catenin, claudin-5, ZO-1, p120 and VE-cadherin. Differences found between *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments might be the result of complex intrinsic glial cells contribution to the development of a tightly controlled BBB (6), which concurrently help delineate the inherent limits of in vitro assays. Collectively, these experiments therefore demonstrate that ALCAM deficient animals have a dysregulated BBB.

Based on previous studies demonstrating the presence of ALCAM in lipid rafts of both human and mouse BBB-ECs (11, 37) and the colocalization of human ALCAM immunostaining with BBB-EC lateral junctions (unpublished data), we hypothesized that, in homeostatic

conditions, ALCAM is located within intercellular structures and might therefore directly or indirectly bind to junctional molecules. As such, ALCAM would be similar to PECAM-1, CD99, JAMs and MCAM, which are present within BBB-EC junctions but also mediate immune cell transmigration (14, 42-45). While Masedunskas et al. (39) have previously reported the presence of ALCAM in endothelial cell junctions using pulmonary microvascular ECs transfected with rat ALCAM-GFP, the localization of endogenous ALCAM in BBB-ECs junction had still not been established. The findings presented herein, using primary cultures of MBECs, demonstrate that ALCAM is localized with intercellular junctional proteins and also bind to the TJ adaptor molecules ZO-2 and cingulin; confirming a direct link between ALCAM and intracellular TJ adaptor molecules. In contrast, transmembrane TJ molecules (occludin, the JAMs and the claudins) were not pulled-down with ALCAM, which suggests that ALCAM binds or recruits cytoplasmic adaptor molecules to junctional complexes, but does not directly interact with transmembrane TJ proteins. Using the pulled-down protein lysate, we also identified actin-binding proteins TARA and coronin 1C, which, along with the presence of β -actin and tropomyosin proteins, confirm previous studies and provide further evidence demonstrating that ALCAM is directly linked to the actin cytoskeleton (46, 47).

While no protein of the catenin or cadherin families were identified in the proteomic list, an indirect link with ALCAM via ZO-2 could still be possible in homeostatic condition. Additional proteins previously shown to bind ALCAM intracellularly, such as ezrin and syntenin-1 (36), were not pulled-down during our experiments. The discrepancy between their findings and the data presented herein could be explained by their use of the K562 cell line combined with the transfection of modified ALCAM proteins, as opposed to endogenous ALCAM obtained from primary MBECs. Similarly, Gilsanz et al. (48) have recently reported that ALCAM forms a complex with the tetraspanin molecule CD9 and the "sheddase" ADAM17, which together regulate

ALCAM expression and activity (49). While CD9 is highly expressed on endothelial cells (50), we were unable to confirm the link between ALCAM and CD9. However, the existence of such a bond in BBB-ECs is still a possibility as a different cell activation state might be necessary to observe the link. Technical differences in the protocols used could also explain the discrepancy.

Collectively, our data demonstrate that ALCAM KO mice develop a more severe active EAE, which can be explained by an increased permeability of their BBB. This loss in BBB integrity is due to a dysregulation of junctional molecules caused by the lack of ALCAM at the level of the TJ molecules. Our results also show that ALCAM indirectly and directly links junctional molecules to the actin cytoskeleton, suggesting that, in addition to its role during leukocyte extravasation, ALCAM regulates and maintains tight junction stability by acting as an adaptor molecule. Most importantly, mouse and human ALCAM molecules are 93% homologue and the binding regions, the transmembrane region and the intracytoplasmic tail are all highly conserved between most vertebrates, suggesting that the results reported herein may also be applicable to human.

Methods

ALCAM knock-out mice

The ALCAM KO C57BL/6 mice (Alcamtm1Jawe) were generously provided by Joshua A. Weiner (51). The founding animals were further backcrossed in our animal facility for 7 generations. The weight of the animals matched those of aged-matched WT C57Bl/6 and no gross abnormalities or phenotypes were apparent from the embryonic stage to the adulthood, confirming the observation made by the group of Dr. Weiner (51). Animals were kept for a maximum of 1.3 years with no health issue, which suggest a normal life expectancy. All animal procedures were approved by the CRCHUM Animal Care committee (N11023APs) and followed guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. All animal procedures executed in the Engelhardt laboratory were approved by the committee of animal experimentation of the Veterinary Department of the Kanton Bern (permit number BE42/14) and are in keeping with institutional and standard protocols for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals in Switzerland.

Active EAE disease induction and scoring

EAE was induced in 6-9 weeks old female C57BL/6 mice as previously published (13, 14). In immunized subcutaneously with 200 brief. animals were μg of MOG₃₅-55 (MEVGWYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK; Alpha Diagnostic International) in a 100 µl emulsion of Complete Freund's Adjuvant (4 mg/ml *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*; Fisher Scientific). On day 0 and day 2, Pertussis toxin (500 ng PTX, Sigma-Aldrich) was injected intra-peritoneally (i.p.). The scoring system used was as follows: 0 = normal; 1 = limp tail; 2 = slow righting-reflex; 2.5 =difficulty walking/ataxia; 3 = paralysis of one hindlimb (monoparalysis); 3.5 = hindlimb monoparalysis and severe weakness in the other hindlimb; 4 = paralysis of both hindlimbs

(paraparalysis); 4.5 = hindlimbs paraparalysis and forelimbs weakness; 5 = moribund (requires sacrifice). Mice were scored by an investigator blinded to the transgenic group.

Active EAE in Dr. Engelhardt's laboratory was induced in 8-week-old female mice with 200 µg of MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in complete Freund's adjuvants (CFA) (LabForce; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) supplemented with 4 mg/ml of desiccated *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (H37RA; Difco/BD Biosciences/BD Clontech). A total of 300 ng of PTX (List; LuBioScience) per mouse was administered i.p. at days 1 and 3 post-immunization. Weights and clinical severity were assessed twice daily and scored as: 0, healthy; 0.5, limb tail; 1, hind leg weakness; 2, hind leg paraplegia; 3, hind leg paraplegia and incontinence.

Transfer EAE

Transfer EAE was performed as previously described (13). Briefly, active EAE was induced as described above except that PTX (500 ng) was only injected on day 0. On day 7, mice were sacrificed and leukocytes were recovered from LN and spleens as previously published (52). Cells isolated were cultured for 90h in RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS, glutamine, non-essential amino acids, HEPES, sodium-pyruvate and β -mercaptoethanol. Reactivation of cells was performed in the presence of MOG₃₅₋₅₅, rhTGF- β , rmIL-6, rmIL-23 and rmIL-12 (R&D systems). Fresh complete medium (20% of initial volume) with rmIL-23 (500% of initial concentration) was added to all cultures on day 2. Cells were then harvested, washed in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) and then processed for analysis by flow cytometry. 25X10⁶ total leukocytes were injected i.p. to all the recipient female C57BL/6 animals. Recipient mice received a single dose of PTX (200 ng) i.p. on day 2 following transfer. The scoring system used was the same as described above.

Primary cultures of mouse BBB-endothelial cells (MBECs / pMBMECs)

Primary cultures of mouse brain parenchymal capillary endothelial cells were prepared from 10 to 15 wild-type or ALCAM knock-out 7-9 weeks old female C57BL/6 mice. The brains were isolated without perfusion and meninges/choroid plexuses were removed. The parenchymal tissue was minced and homogenized at low speed in a mechanical Dounce homogenizer. The homogenate was then digested in DMEM containing 0.7 mg/ml collagenase type II (Worthington Biochemical corp.) and 39 U/ml DNase I (Worthington Biochemical corp.) for 75 min at 37°C. Myelin was removed by centrifugation at 1000g for 20 min in 20% BSA-DMEM (Sigma). The remaining pellet was then shook for one hour at 37°C with a mixture of 1 mg/ml collagenase-dispase (Roche) and 39 U/ml DNase I in DMEM. The microvessels were separated from remaining glial cells and red blood cells using a 33% continuous Percoll gradient centrifuged at 1000g for 10 min. Microvessels were plated on 6-wells culture dishes coated with 5 µg/ml collagen type IV (Sigma). MBECs were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 20% (v/v) FBS (Sigma), 1 ng/ml basic fibroblast growth factor (Roche), 100 µg/ml heparin (Sigma), 1.4 µM hydrocortisone (Sigma), and 1X antibioticantimycotic solution (Invitrogen). The media was replaced every 24 hours during the first 3 days. Puromycin (10 µg/ml) (Sigma) was added to the media for the first 48 hours of culture. After 72 hours, 4 µg/ml of puromycin was maintained in the culture media. A confluent monolayer was formed following 4-6 days in culture. MBECs culture expressed vascular endothelial-cadherin protein. No immune reactivity for α-smooth muscle actin, glial fibrillary acidic protein, or neuronal nuclei protein could be detected, confirming the absence of contaminating smooth muscle cells, astrocytes, and neurons, respectively. To stimulate endothelial cells mouse recombinant TNF (3ng/ml) and IFNy (60ng/ml) (R&D systems) were added to the culture media 24h prior to the experimental procedure.

The isolation and culture of primary mouse brain microvascular endothelial cells (pMBMECs) in Dr. Engelhardt's laboratory was performed as described before (9, 53).

Flow cytometry analysis

Extracellular and intracellular stainings were performed as previously described (13). Briefly, before intracellular cytokine staining (ICS), cells were activated for 5 hours with 1 µg/mL ionomycin and 20 ng/mL phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) in the presence of 2 µg/mL brefeldin A (all from Sigma). After staining for surface antigens, cells were then fixed and permeabilized in 4% (w/v) paraformaldehyde with 0.1% (w/v) saponin in HBSS for 10 minutes at room temperature before proceeding to intracellular staining. Mouse immune cells isolated from lymph nodes, spleen and CNS were labelled with the following antibodies against surface markers CD3, CD4, CD8, CD11b, CD11c, CD25, CD45, CD54/ICAM-1, CD62E (from BD Biosciences), CD6, CD44 from ebioscience, CD31/PECAM-1, CD34, CD102/ICAM-2, CD106/VCAM-1, CD146 from Biolegend, CD166/ALCAM (FAB1172P from R&D) and Ninjurin-1 (custom made from BD Biosciences). For intracellular staining of mouse cytokines, the following antibodies specific for mouse were used: IL-17, GM-CSF, TNF, IFN-y (from BD Biosciences), GzB and perforin (from ebioscience). Intra-nuclear stainings were performed using eBioscience fixation/permeabilization kit in combination with anti-FOXP3 antibodies (eBioscience and BD Biosciences). Non-specific background staining was assessed using appropriate fluorochromematched isotype antibodies. Cells were processed on the same day for analysis on a BD LSR II and data analyzed using BD FACSDiva software (BD Bioscience).

Flow cytometry analysis strategy for M1-M2 monocytes/macrophage

Cells positive for CD45, CD11b, Ly6C^{hi}, IL-12 (all from BD Biosciences) and negative for CD11c, CD43 (BD Biosciences), NK1.1, IL-10 (BD Biosciences and Biolegend) and CD206 (Biolegend) were considered as M1 monocytes/macrophages or "classically activated" pro-inflammatory cells. Cells positive for CD45, CD11b, CD43, CD206, IL-10 and negative for CD11c, NK1.1, Ly6C^{hi}, IL-12, were considered as M2 monocytes/macrophages or "alternatively activated" antiinflammatory cells.

In vitro T lymphocyte proliferation assay

Using Miltenyi Biotec magnetic beads and columns, CD4+ T lymphocytes were isolated (negative selection) from the draining LNs of WT pre-symptomatic active EAE animals and CD11b+ monocytes were isolated (positive selection) from the spleen of both WT and ALCAM KO mice. T lymphocytes were labelled using the vital dye 5,6-carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE) and were cultured in the presence of either WT or ALCAM KO monocytes for 4 days. The cytokine cocktail and media utilized during *in vitro* reactivation of immune cells to induce passive EAE was used. T lymphocyte proliferation and cytokine production were assessed by flow cytometry.

Immunostaining of CNS material and cell culture

Frozen sections of CNS specimens (brain and spinal cord) obtained from mice following rapid intracardiac perfusion were studied as previously described (54-56). First, EAE lesions, defined as areas of demyelination associated with intense perivascular immune cell infiltration, were identified by Luxol Fast Blue (LFB) and haematoxilin and eosin (H&E) staining. Sections adjacent to active lesions were selected for immunohistofluorescence. Following fixation in acetone for 10 minutes, sections were transferred to ethanol for 5 minutes, hydrated in PBS and blocked with 10% species specific serum of the secondary antibodies hosts. Primary antibodies diluted in 3% serum were incubated for 1h at room temperature or overnight at 4 degrees. Following washes with PBStween20 (0.05%), secondary antibodies were incubated 45 min at room temperature. Sections were then mounted using mowiol, containing Topro-3 (Invitrogen, 1:400) when indicated. Each experiment included negative controls (incubation with secondary antibodies alone). For immunocytofluorescence, MBECs were trypsinized and transferred to Ibidi µ-slides VI 0.1 coated with collagen IV. Once the cells reached confluency, they were fixed with 70% ethanol for 5 minutes then permeabilized with PBS-tween20 (0.05%) for 5 minutes. The subsequent staining procedures were the same as above. The following primary antibodies were used: rabbit antilaminin (1:2000, Dako), rat anti-CD4 (1:70, BD Bioscience), rat anti-F4/80 (1:80, Biolegend), rabbit anti-occludin (1:50, Invitrogen), rabbit anti- α -catenin (1:40, Invitrogen), rabbit anti-claudin-5 (1:100, Invitrogen), goat anti-p120 (1:30, Santa Cruz), rabbit anti-ZO-1 (1:70, Invitrogen), rabbit anti-β-catenin (1:150, Invitrogen), rat anti-VE-cadherin (1:10, BD Bioscience), rat anti-PECAM-1 (1:300, BD Bioscience), rat anti-ICAM-1 (1:100, eBioscience). Fluorescence acquisition was performed using a Leica Confocal Microscope SP5 platform (Leica Microsystems). Image processing and analysis was done using Leica LAS AF and ImageJ (NIH) softwares.

Real Time -PCR

RT-PCR was performed as previously published (11). Briefly, total RNA was extracted from primary culture of WT and ALCAM KO mouse blood-brain barrier endothelial cells using the RNeasy Mini Kit and transcribed into complementary DNA using QuantiTect Reverse Transcription kit (both from Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. ALCAM and GAPDH specific primers were used for the PCR.

Immunoprecipitation

Mouse brain endothelial cells (MBECs) homogenates were prepared from P0 monolayers in T75 flasks. The cells were washed 3 times with room temperature PBS and then scrapped and transferred to 15 ml tubes in PBS. The cells were precipitated by centrifugation at 400g for 10 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was removed and the cell pellets were homogenized with 200 µl of ice cold RIPA buffer (ThermoFisher scientific) per T75 flask by pipetting. Homogenates were transferred to 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes and incubated for 20 minutes on ice, then centrifuged at 13000g for 10 min at 4°C to precipitate nuclei. The supernatants were collected in new pre-chilled 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes. The protein concentration of homogenates was determined using the BCA protein assay kit (PIERCE) following the manufacturer instructions.

To immunoprecipitate ALCAM, 50 μ l Dynabeads protein G (ThermoFisher scientific) were coupled to 10 μ g of polyclonal goat anti-mouse ALCAM (R&D systems, AF1172) or to 10 μ g of irrelevant goat IgG (R&D systems), following the manufacturer instructions. To avoid postcoupling elution of the immunoglobulin, they were covalently attached to the beads by BS3 (bis(sulfosuccinimidyl)suberate) cross-linking agent (ThermoFisher scientific) following the manufacturer instructions. 50 μ l of the resulting anti-ALCAM Dynabeads or the irrelevant IgG control were incubated overnight with 200 μ g of MBECs homogenates at 4°C with gentle rotation. The beads were then washed 4 times with PBS-tween20 0.05%. The supernatant was completely removed and 40 μ l of 1X SDS loading buffer with 2.5 % β-mercaptoethanol were added to the beads and incubated 15 minutes at room temperature following resuspension. The beads were boiled at 95°C for 5 minutes and then centrifuged at 13000 RPM for 2 minutes. The supernatant was collected and migrated in SDS-PAGE, transferred to PVDF membranes and immunostained with the corresponding antibodies.

Immunoblotting

Immunoblotting was performed as previously described (11, 57). Briefly, MBECs lysates or BBB blood vessel lysates were separated by standard SDS-PAGE and immunoblots were analyzed with the following antibodies: goat anti-ALCAM (0.25µg/ml, AF1172, R&D systems), rabbit anti-ZO-1 (1:125, Invitrogen), rabbit anti-ZO-2 (1:125, Invitrogen), rabbit anti-cingulin (1:500, Thermos), rabbit anti-TARA (1:500, Thermos), mouse anti-coronin 1C (1:500, abnova), mouse anti- β -actin (1:20000, Sigma), mouse anti-tropomyosin (1:500, Sigma), rabbit anti-occludin (1:250, Invitrogen), rabbit anti-ezrin (1 µg/ml, abcam) and rabbit anti-syntenin-1 (1:500, Bioss). Horseradish peroxidase–conjugated secondary antibodies (Dako) and the ECL system (Amersham Biosciences) were used to detect specific binding, and anti- β -actin (sigma) served as a loading control. Digital images obtained with the Bio-Rad Gel Doc system were used for band intensity analysis.

Trans-endothelial electrical resistance (TEER) measurement

Barrier properties of confluent monolayers formed by primary MBECs (53) from ALCAM KO or WT mice grown on filter inserts (0.4 µm pore size, 8.36 mm diameter; ThinCertTM, Greiner Bio-One, Vitaris AG, Baar, Switzerland) were assessed by impedance TEER measurements (CellZscope R, Nanoanalytics, Muenster, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

In vitro permeability of MBECs to tracer molecules

MBECs were isolated and cultured to 90% confluence in 6-wells plates. Then, using trypsin 0.25% diluted in PBS-EDTA (2mM) the cells were quickly detached and plated on gelatin/collagen IV-coated 3 μ m pore size Boyden chambers at a density of 4x10⁴ cells per well. Cells reached confluency after 3-4 days, at which point the culture media was changed for DMEM media supplemented with 20% FBS. After 2 hours, fluorescein-isothiocyanate-labelled bovine serum albumin (FITC-BSA, 66.5kDa, Invitrogen) and Alexa 647-labelled dextran 10 kDa (Invitrogen) were added at 50 μ g/ml to the upper chambers. Aliquots of 50 μ l were separately harvested from each upper and lower chamber at 0 and 1 hour. Experimental conditions were prepared in triplicates. The permeability of the tracers was quantified with a fluorescence multimode plate reader (Biotek, Synergy 4) which allows to calculate the permeability coefficient of each fluorescent markers.

In Vivo BBB permeability

In vivo BBB permeability was assessed by measuring Cascade Blue-labelled dextran 3 KDa (Invitrogen) and Dextran-TRITC (20 KDa; Sigma) in the CNS of mice at different time-points. Mice were injected intravenously with saline 0.9% NaCl containing 1mg of dextran-Cascade Blue and 1mg of dextran-TRITC. Then, 15 minutes later, 200µl of blood was obtained by intracardiac puncture and placed in EDTA-coated blood tube (Sarstedt). Immediately after, the mice were perfused with ice-cold saline. The brains and spinal cords were then removed and placed in 1 ml of cold PBS protected from light. The CNS samples were weighed and then homogenized using syringes and decreasing size needles. The CNS and blood proteins were precipitated with 1 ml of 60% trichloroacetic acid. The precipitates were removed by centrifugation. Fluorescence was measured using a fluorescence multimode plate reader (Biotek, Synergy 4). Dextran-Cascade Blue

(excitation at 557 nm, emission at 575 nm) and dextran-TRITC (excitation at 390 nm, emission at 420 nm) was measured in supernatant samples using dark wall clear bottom Cornstar 96-wells plate. The quantity of dyes contained in the CNS tissue was expressed as a percentage of the fluorescence intensity found in the blood originating from the same animal, normalized based on the CNS weight.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using PRISM GraphpadTM software and results are presented as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Paired or unpaired Students' *t*-test were performed when appropriate. Two-way Anova and Students' *t*-test were performed on the calculated area under the curve (AUC) using individual EAE scores. Only *p* values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. (**P* \leq 0.05; ***P* \leq 0.01; ****P* \leq 0.001)

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by operating grants from the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada (MSSOC) to AP and the Swiss National Science Foundation (grant N°133092 and ProDoc Cell Migration) and the Swiss MS Society to BE and RL. M-A.L. holds a scholarship from Fonds de Recherche du Québec-Santé. C.L., M.C. and O.S-L. hold scholarships and fellowships from the MSSC. A.P. holds a Senior Scholar Award of the Fonds de Recherche du Québec-Santé and holds a senior Canada Research Chair (tier 1) in Multiple Sclerosis. We would like to thank Dr. Joshua A. Weiner and Prof. Cornelia Halin for the generous gift of the ALCAM KO mice. We thank Dr. Urban Deutsch for management of the transgenic mouse colony and Claudia Blatti for excellent technical assistance with EAE experiments.

The authors declare no conflict of interest related to this project.

References

- 1. Cayrol R, Haqqani AS, Ifergan I, Dodelet-Devillers A, & Prat A (2011) Isolation of human brain endothelial cells and characterization of lipid raft-associated proteins by mass spectroscopy. *Methods Mol Biol* 686:275-295.
- 2. Dodelet-Devillers A, *et al.* (2009) Functions of lipid raft membrane microdomains at the blood-brain barrier. *J Mol Med (Berl)* 87(8):765-774.
- 3. Larochelle C, Alvarez JI, & Prat A (2011) How do immune cells overcome the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis? *FEBS letters* 585(23):3770-3780.
- 4. Tietz S & Engelhardt B (2015) Brain barriers: Crosstalk between complex tight junctions and adherens junctions. *The Journal of cell biology* 209(4):493-506.
- 5. Alvarez JI, Cayrol R, & Prat A (2011) Disruption of central nervous system barriers in multiple sclerosis. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1812(2):252-264.
- 6. Lecuyer MA, Kebir H, & Prat A (2016) Glial influences on BBB functions and molecular players in immune cell trafficking. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1862(3):472-482.
- 7. Larochelle C, *et al.* (2016) Immunological and pathological characterization of fatal rebound MS activity following natalizumab withdrawal. *Multiple sclerosis*.
- 8. Abadier M, *et al.* (2015) Cell surface levels of endothelial ICAM-1 influence the transcellular or paracellular T-cell diapedesis across the blood-brain barrier. *European journal of immunology* 45(4):1043-1058.
- 9. Steiner O, *et al.* (2010) Differential roles for endothelial ICAM-1, ICAM-2, and VCAM-1 in shear-resistant T cell arrest, polarization, and directed crawling on blood-brain barrier endothelium. *Journal of immunology* 185(8):4846-4855.
- 10. Steffen BJ, Butcher EC, & Engelhardt B (1994) Evidence for involvement of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 in lymphocyte interaction with endothelium in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the central nervous system in the SJL/J mouse. *The American journal of pathology* 145(1):189-201.
- 11. Cayrol R, *et al.* (2008) Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule promotes leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system. *Nature immunology* 9(2):137-145.
- 12. Flanagan K, *et al.* (2012) Laminin-411 is a vascular ligand for MCAM and facilitates TH17 cell entry into the CNS. *PloS one* 7(7):e40443.
- 13. Larochelle C, *et al.* (2012) Melanoma cell adhesion molecule identifies encephalitogenic T lymphocytes and promotes their recruitment to the central nervous system. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 135(Pt 10):2906-2924.
- 14. Larochelle C, *et al.* (2015) Melanoma cell adhesion molecule-positive CD8 T lymphocytes mediate central nervous system inflammation. *Annals of neurology* 78(1):39-53.
- 15. Berg EL, McEvoy LM, Berlin C, Bargatze RF, & Butcher EC (1993) L-selectin-mediated lymphocyte rolling on MAdCAM-1. *Nature* 366(6456):695-698.
- 16. Berlin C, *et al.* (1993) Alpha 4 beta 7 integrin mediates lymphocyte binding to the mucosal vascular addressin MAdCAM-1. *Cell* 74(1):185-195.
- 17. Lalor PF, *et al.* (2002) Vascular adhesion protein-1 mediates adhesion and transmigration of lymphocytes on human hepatic endothelial cells. *Journal of immunology* 169(2):983-992.
- 18. Pannecoeck R, *et al.* (2015) Vascular adhesion protein-1: Role in human pathology and application as a biomarker. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci* 52(6):284-300.
- 19. Ifergan I, *et al.* (2011) Role of Ninjurin-1 in the migration of myeloid cells to central nervous system inflammatory lesions. *Annals of neurology* 70(5):751-763.

- 20. Alvarez JI, *et al.* (2015) JAML mediates monocyte and CD8 T cell migration across the brain endothelium. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* 2(11):1032-1037.
- 21. Bowen MA, *et al.* (1995) Cloning, mapping, and characterization of activated leukocytecell adhesion molecule (ALCAM), a CD6 ligand. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 181(6):2213-2220.
- 22. Patel DD, *et al.* (1995) Identification and characterization of a 100-kD ligand for CD6 on human thymic epithelial cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 181(4):1563-1568.
- 23. Zimmerman AW, *et al.* (2006) Long-term engagement of CD6 and ALCAM is essential for T-cell proliferation induced by dendritic cells. *Blood* 107(8):3212-3220.
- 24. Whitney GS, *et al.* (1995) The membrane-proximal scavenger receptor cysteine-rich domain of CD6 contains the activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule binding site. *J Biol Chem* 270(31):18187-18190.
- 25. van Kempen LC, *et al.* (2001) Molecular basis for the homophilic activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM)-ALCAM interaction. *J Biol Chem* 276(28):25783-25790.
- 26. Te Riet J, *et al.* (2007) Distinct kinetic and mechanical properties govern ALCAMmediated interactions as shown by single-molecule force spectroscopy. *Journal of cell science* 120(Pt 22):3965-3976.
- 27. Wagner M, *et al.* (2013) ALCAM--novel multiple sclerosis locus interfering with HLA-DRB1*1501. *Journal of neuroimmunology* 258(1-2):71-76.
- 28. Kofler DM, Severson CA, Mousissian N, De Jager PL, & Hafler DA (2011) The CD6 multiple sclerosis susceptibility allele is associated with alterations in CD4+ T cell proliferation. *Journal of immunology* 187(6):3286-3291.
- 29. De Jager PL, *et al.* (2009) Meta-analysis of genome scans and replication identify CD6, IRF8 and TNFRSF1A as new multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci. *Nat Genet* 41(7):776-782.
- 30. Wagner M, et al. (2014) ALCAM and CD6--multiple sclerosis risk factors. Journal of neuroimmunology 276(1-2):98-103.
- 31. Crockett ET, Remelius C, Hess K, & Al-Ghawi H (2004) Gene deletion of P-Selectin and ICAM-1 does not inhibit neutrophil infiltration into peritoneal cavity following cecal ligation-puncture. *BMC Clin Pathol* 4(1):2.
- 32. Hobden JA, Masinick-McClellan S, Barrett RP, Bark KS, & Hazlett LD (1999) Pseudomonas aeruginosa keratitis in knockout mice deficient in intercellular adhesion molecule 1. *Infect Immun* 67(2):972-975.
- 33. Schenkel AR, Chew TW, & Muller WA (2004) Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule deficiency or blockade significantly reduces leukocyte emigration in a majority of mouse strains. *Journal of immunology* 173(10):6403-6408.
- 34. Mondal N, *et al.* (2016) Glycosphingolipids on Human Myeloid Cells Stabilize E-Selectin-Dependent Rolling in the Multistep Leukocyte Adhesion Cascade. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* 36(4):718-727.
- 35. Zou X, *et al.* (2005) PSGL-1 derived from human neutrophils is a high-efficiency ligand for endothelium-expressed E-selectin under flow. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 289(2):C415-424.
- 36. Tudor C, *et al.* (2014) Syntenin-1 and ezrin proteins link activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule to the actin cytoskeleton. *J Biol Chem* 289(19):13445-13460.
- 37. Yao H, *et al.* (2011) Cocaine hijacks sigmal receptor to initiate induction of activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule: implication for increased monocyte adhesion and migration in the CNS. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 31(16):5942-5955.

- 38. Williams DW, *et al.* (2013) Mechanisms of HIV entry into the CNS: increased sensitivity of HIV infected CD14+CD16+ monocytes to CCL2 and key roles of CCR2, JAM-A, and ALCAM in diapedesis. *PloS one* 8(7):e69270.
- 39. Masedunskas A, *et al.* (2006) Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule is a component of the endothelial junction involved in transendothelial monocyte migration. *FEBS letters* 580(11):2637-2645.
- 40. Curis C, *et al.* (2016) Human T-Lymphotropic Virus (HTLV)-1-Induced Overexpression of Activated Leukocyte Cell Adhesion Molecule (ALCAM) Facilitates Trafficking of Infected Lymphocytes through the Blood-Brain Barrier. *Journal of virology*.
- 41. Nummer D, *et al.* (2007) Role of tumor endothelium in CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cell infiltration of human pancreatic carcinoma. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 99(15):1188-1199.
- 42. Muller WA, Weigl SA, Deng X, & Phillips DM (1993) PECAM-1 is required for transendothelial migration of leukocytes. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 178(2):449-460.
- 43. Schenkel AR, Mamdouh Z, Chen X, Liebman RM, & Muller WA (2002) CD99 plays a major role in the migration of monocytes through endothelial junctions. *Nature immunology* 3(2):143-150.
- 44. Johnson-Leger CA, Aurrand-Lions M, Beltraminelli N, Fasel N, & Imhof BA (2002) Junctional adhesion molecule-2 (JAM-2) promotes lymphocyte transendothelial migration. *Blood* 100(7):2479-2486.
- 45. Bardin N, *et al.* (2001) Identification of CD146 as a component of the endothelial junction involved in the control of cell-cell cohesion. *Blood* 98(13):3677-3684.
- 46. Nelissen JM, Peters IM, de Grooth BG, van Kooyk Y, & Figdor CG (2000) Dynamic regulation of activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule-mediated homotypic cell adhesion through the actin cytoskeleton. *Molecular biology of the cell* 11(6):2057-2068.
- 47. Te Riet J, *et al.* (2014) Dynamic coupling of ALCAM to the actin cortex strengthens cell adhesion to CD6. *Journal of cell science* 127(Pt 7):1595-1606.
- 48. Gilsanz A, *et al.* (2013) ALCAM/CD166 adhesive function is regulated by the tetraspanin CD9. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 70(3):475-493.
- 49. Gutierrez-Lopez MD, *et al.* (2011) The sheddase activity of ADAM17/TACE is regulated by the tetraspanin CD9. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 68(19):3275-3292.
- 50. Klein-Soyer C, Azorsa DO, Cazenave JP, & Lanza F (2000) CD9 participates in endothelial cell migration during in vitro wound repair. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* 20(2):360-369.
- 51. Weiner JA, *et al.* (2004) Axon fasciculation defects and retinal dysplasias in mice lacking the immunoglobulin superfamily adhesion molecule BEN/ALCAM/SC1. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences* 27(1):59-69.
- 52. Ifergan I, *et al.* (2011) Central nervous system recruitment of effector memory CD8+ T lymphocytes during neuroinflammation is dependent on alpha4 integrin. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 134(Pt 12):3560-3577.
- 53. Lyck R, *et al.* (2009) Culture-induced changes in blood-brain barrier transcriptome: implications for amino-acid transporters in vivo. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 29(9):1491-1502.
- 54. Ifergan I, *et al.* (2006) Statins reduce human blood-brain barrier permeability and restrict leukocyte migration: relevance to multiple sclerosis. *Annals of neurology* 60(1):45-55.
- 55. Kebir H, *et al.* (2009) Preferential recruitment of interferon-gamma-expressing TH17 cells in multiple sclerosis. *Annals of neurology* 66(3):390-402.

- 56. Alvarez JI, *et al.* (2011) The Hedgehog pathway promotes blood-brain barrier integrity and CNS immune quiescence. *Science* 334(6063):1727-1731.
- 57. Podjaski C, *et al.* (2015) Netrin 1 regulates blood-brain barrier function and neuroinflammation. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 138(Pt 6):1598-1612.



Fig 1. Expression of ALCAM at the blood-brain barrier and on immune cells.

A Expression of ALCAM in freshly isolated blood vessels from the brain and spinal cord of WT and ALCAM KO mice, by Western blot (actin: control protein). Representative of n=5 independent experiments. **B** RT-PCR analysis of ALCAM mRNA obtained from primary culture of mouse blood-brain barrier endothelial cells from WT and ALCAM KO mice, either resting (Ctrl) or treated with TNF and IFNy (Stim: Stimulated). Representative of n=2 independent experiments. C Expression of ALCAM and PECAM-1 on primary cultures of mouse blood-brain barrier endothelial cells obtained from WT and ALCAM KO mice, as assessed by flow cytometry. Representative of n=5 independent experiments. D Expression of ALCAM on ex vivo CD4+ T lymphocytes isolated from the central nervous system, well CD11b+ as as monocytes/macrophages and CD11b+CD11c+ dendritic cells isolated from splenocytes of ALCAM KO mice or their WT littermates, during the early symptomatic phase of active EAE. Representative of n=3 independent experiments.



Fig 2. ALCAM KO mice develop a more severe active EAE.

A Mean cumulative clinical EAE score from MOG₃₅₋₅₅-immunized C57BL/6 WT and ALCAM KO mice. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 40 mice per group and representative of n=12 independent experiments. Absolute numbers of immune cells isolated from the spleens and lymph nodes (LN) B or from the central nervous system (CNS) c of WT and ALCAM KO mice at different days post induction of EAE. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 3-12 animals per time point and representative of n=8 independent experiments. **D** Percentage of IFNy-, IL-17- or IFNy and IL-17-expressing CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes isolated from the CNS of WT and ALCAM KO mice at different days post induction of EAE, as assessed by flow cytometry. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 3-5 animals per time point. Representative of n=5 independent experiments. E Absolute numbers of CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T lymphocytes infiltrating the CNS of ALCAM KO and WT mice at different days post induction of EAE, as assessed by flow cytometry. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 3-6 animals per time point. Representative of n=3 independent experiments. F Prevalence of M1 monocyte/macrophages relative to M2 subtype isolated from the CNS of WT and ALCAM KO mice at different days post induction of EAE, as assessed by their expression of CD11b, CD43, CD206, Ly6C, IL-10, IL-12, by flow cytometry. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 4-10 animals per time point pooled from 3 independent experiments. G Immunofluorescent staining of Laminin (green), TOPRO-3 (nuclei-blue) and CD4 or F4/80 (red) in spinal cord sections of ALCAM KO and WT mice at day 12 post induction of EAE. Scale bars: 100 µm. Image shown are representative of 9 sections per animal, n=4 animals per group. H Absolute numbers of CD4+ T lymphocytes and F4/80+ macrophages observed per lesion. n=10-15 lesions assessed from 3 animals per group. (* $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.01$; *** $P \le 0.001$)



Fig 3. The absence of ALCAM on BBB-ECs increases EAE disease severity.

A Expression of cell adhesion molecules (ALCAM, PECAM-1, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, ICAM-2 and CD34) on primary culture of MBECs under resting or stimulated (stim.; TNF and IFNy) conditions, isolated from WT and ALCAM KO mice, as assessed by flow cytometry. n=4 independent experiments using 4 primary cultures. B Mean cumulative EAE clinical score of WT and ALCAM KO mice adoptively transferred with MOG₃₅₋₅₅-reactivated WT splenocytes. Data shown are representative of n=3 independent experiments, 20 animals per group. C-E Characterization of immune cells infiltrating the CNS of WT or ALCAM KO animals in the adoptive transfer EAE experiment, at 12 days post-transfer (shown in **B**). **C** Absolute numbers of immune cells isolated from the CNS of recipient mice. **D-E** Percentage of CNS infiltrating immune cells expressing the surface markers CD4, CD11b, CD11c and CD8 and percentage of ALCAM+, CD44hi, IFN γ + and IL-17+ cells gated on the previous surface markers. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 3-4 animals per group, and representative of 3 transfer experiments. F Mean cumulative EAE clinical score of WT and ALCAM KO mice adoptively transferred with MOG35-55reactivated ALCAM KO splenocytes. Data shown are representative of n=3 independent experiments, 26 WT and 20 ALCAM KO mice per group. G-I Characterization of immune cells infiltrating the CNS of WT or ALCAM KO animals in the adoptive transfer EAE experiment, at 12 days post-transfer (shown in F). G Absolute numbers of immune cells isolated from the CNS of recipient mice. H and I Percentage of CNS infiltrating immune cells expressing the surface markers CD4, CD11b, CD11c and CD8 and percentage of ALCAM+, CD44hi, IFNy+ and IL-17+ cells gated on the previous surface markers. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 4 animals per group, and representative of 3 transfer experiments. (* $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.01$; *** $P \le 0.001$)



Fig 4. ALCAM KO mice exhibit disorganized tight junction molecules which translates into an increase in trans-endothelial cell permeability.

A TEER values of confluent monolayers of pMBMECs isolated from WT or ALCAM KO mice, expressed relative to WT values (1.0). Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 7 independent experiments performed in triplicates. B Permeability coefficient of 10 kDa dextran and bovine serum albumin (BSA) across monolayers of MBECs, in vitro, from WT or ALCAM KO mice, either untreated or treated with TNF and IFN γ (stim.). Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 3-4 replicates per conditions and representative of n=3 independent experiments. C in vivo BBB permeability using i.v. injected fluorescently-labelled 3 and 20 kDa dextran, at different time point during EAE, in WT and ALCAM KO mice. Data expressed as a percentage of blood fluorescence intensity and measured by spectrofluorometer. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM of 5-15 replicates per conditions pooled from n=3 independent experiments. **D** Immunofluorescent staining of α catenin (green) and occludin (red) in spinal cord sections of naïve ALCAM KO and WT mice. Nuclei: blue. Scale bars: 20 µm. Representative of 5 sections per animal, n=4 animals per group. E Maximum pixel intensity analysis of junctional molecules in naïve ALCAM KO and WT spinal cord sections, as assessed by confocal microscopy. n=25-65 blood vessels per group. F Maximum pixel intensity analysis of junctional molecules in primary culture of mouse BBB-ECs. n=160-260 cell junctions per group. (* $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.01$; *** $P \le 0.001$)



Fig 5. ALCAM binds directly and indirectly to tight junction molecules.

A Expression of ALCAM protein in whole-cell lysate from MBECs and in the ALCAM immunoprecipitation (pull down) sample, by Western blot. **B** Immunoblot for ALCAM (90-120 kDa), zonula occludens-2 (ZO-2; isoforms \pm 160 kDa), cingulin (160 kDa), TRIO and F-actin binding protein (TARA; 68kDa), coronin 1C (57 kDa), β -actin (42 kDa), pan-tropomyosin (TPM; isoforms \pm 33 kDa), zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1; 240-260 kDa), occludin (65-80 kDa), ezrin (69 kDa) and syntenin-1 (33 kDa) on the ALCAM pull-down lysate (right) and the corresponding MBECs total cell lysate (left).



Supplemental figure 1. Expression of ALCAM and CD6 on resting memory CD4+ T lymphocytes.

Mean fluorescence intensity of A ALCAM (blue) or B CD6 (blue) and their respective isotype control (grey) on CD4+ T lymphocytes isolated from naïve WT splenocytes.

Discussion

MS is a chronic debilitating disease that affects an important portion of the Canadian population. While the cause of the disease is still unknown, we know that the main proinflammatory agent, source of demyelination and clinical symptoms, is the immune system. Infiltrating T effector lymphocytes, pro-inflammatory myeloid cells and B lymphocytes have all been associated with neuroinflammation. In MS, the specialized vasculature forming the BBB, which normally plays a key function in regulating the CNS environment, becomes dysregulated and allows the passage of those encephalitogenic immune cells [6]. Thus, the BBB is an interesting therapeutic target to limit the migration of leukocytes and control MS relapses. In this context, this Ph.D. project aimed to study in detail the role of ALCAM in neuroinflammation and to understand the molecular mechanisms behind immune cell diapedesis.

The Role of ALCAM During Leukocytes Diapedesis

As discussed previously, therapeutic treatments targeting immune cell trafficking (Fingolimod, Natalizumab) are currently used successfully to prevent MS relapses. Unfortunately, both drugs create an immunosuppressed environment, which favours the development of PMLs. To find alternate adhesion molecules involved in immune cell transmigration, proteomic analyses of purified lymphocytes and BBB-ECs were performed [112, 113, 491]. ALCAM was one of the top candidates being flagged as highly upregulated on inflamed BBB-ECs. While the role of ALCAM as a leukocyte adhesion molecule was not known at the time, multiple studies had associated it with cell migration and adhesion during neurogenesis, angiogenesis, blastocyst implantation and tumor invasion [492, 493]. In the study published by Cayrol et al. in 2008 [113], our laboratory established that ALCAM is involved during *ex vivo* migration of monocytes, CD4 T lymphocytes and B lymphocytes, but not CD8 T lymphocytes. The goal of this work was thus to describe in more detail the function of ALCAM during leukocyte transmigration into the CNS. To this end, we analyzed the

extravasation of human and mouse Th1 and Th17 lymphocytes along with *ex vivo* CD14+ monocytes using, amongst other things, a dynamic migration assay under shear-stress. To adequately compare the results obtained following ALCAM blockade, we also conducted the experiments using anti-ICAM-1 antibodies. ICAM-1 is a well-characterized adhesion molecule involved during the adhesion, crawling and diapedesis steps of leukocytes transmigration across endothelial cells [115, 494].

In this study, we first confirmed that ALCAM is involved during static diapedesis of *ex vivo* human CD4+ T lymphocytes. We felt this confirmation was necessary as another study recently failed to block the migration of CD3+ T lymphocytes in an *in vitro* model of the human BBB [488]. However, the differences between our models might explain this discrepancy. In addition, the presence of CD8+ T lymphocytes, which are not blocked by anti-ALCAM antibodies, may have skewed their results. As opposed to *ex vivo* lymphocytes, we could not block the migration of *in vitro* polarized human Th17 lymphocytes, even if they expressed high levels of CD6. Interestingly, a small reduction in the migration of Th1 lymphocytes could be measured. One difference observed between those two immune subsets was their respective levels of ALCAM, with Th1 lymphocytes having slightly more of the adhesion molecule on their surface. The hypothesis that the homotypic ALCAM-ALCAM interaction is important during migration and less so the heterotypic ALCAM-CD6 bond, pushed us to re-evaluate the role of ALCAM during pro-inflammatory T lymphocyte trafficking. However, using sorted human Th1 lymphocytes, which expressed higher levels of ALCAM, we found similar results as with *in vitro* reactivated Th1. Therefore, we concluded that antibody-mediated ALCAM blockade only plays a limited role in human activated pro-inflammatory T lymphocytes extravasation across the BBB. Equivalent results were also obtained by comparing ALCAM KO and WT BBB-ECs during mouse Th1 lymphocyte transmigration. Our data also suggested that mouse BBB-ECs express lower levels of ALCAM, as compared to human primary culture BBB-ECs. Nonetheless, we confirmed that ALCAM plays an important role in the transmigration of monocytes. Furthermore, we discovered that it is involved specifically during rolling, shear resistant arrest and diapedesis. Finally, we demonstrated that ALCAM is over-expressed on meningeal ECs as compared to BBB-ECs and that both CD4+ T lymphocytes and monocytes migrate more rapidly and in higher number across the former CNS barrier.

Conceivably, higher expression levels of ALCAM on monocytes (which 60 to 85% of them constitutively express ALCAM) versus T lymphocytes might explain the different cell behaviours observed in ALCAM blocking experiments. Supporting this theory, a recent study demonstrated that ALCAM is overexpressed on HTLV-1-infected T lymphocytes and that as a result, it increases their migration across the human BBB [495]. Similarly, the difference observed during the migration of ex vivo naïve/inactivated CD4+ T lymphocytes and polarized Th1/Th17 lymphocytes could originate from the presence of additional highly effective adhesion molecules on the activated immune cell subsets compensating the lack of ALCAM in ALCAM KO mouse or the steric hindrance of ALCAM in human cell cultures.

Nevertheless, the fact that our results suggest that only APCs (myeloid cells and B lymphocytes; recent interesting unpublished data on B lymphocytes are corroborating the preliminary results published in Cayrol et al. [113]) are significantly relying on ALCAM to cross the BBB could provide a therapeutic advantage. These results demonstrate that an ALCAM blocking therapy could potentially specifically block myeloid cells from entering the CNS during neuroinflammation, while not compromising the immune-surveillance of the CNS by T lymphocytes. Although MS and EAE are arguably lymphocyte-driven diseases, the contribution of APCs to their pathogenesis is undeniable. For instance, myeloid cells have been shown to accumulate in abundance in demyelinating lesions, where they often represent the dominant cell type. We have also previously published a study demonstrating that Ninjurin-1, an adhesion molecule predominantly expressed on BBB-ECs and myeloid cells, contributes significantly to monocyte transmigration. When blocked, significantly fewer monocytes were found in the CNS of EAE animals, which lead to the amelioration of their clinical scores [118]. In addition, another study from the laboratory demonstrated that these peripheral monocytes are the main source of DCs in an inflamed CNS [134]. These pro-inflammatory DCs, present in both MS and EAE, have been demonstrated to be essential during lesion formation as they can polarize and reactivate CD4+ T lymphocytes, while promoting their proliferation [134, 496-498].

Further evidences demonstrating the importance of monocytes in EAE pathogenesis have been published recently. While GM-CSF KO mice are resistant to EAE, repeated injections of recombinant GM-CSF were shown to re-establish their susceptibility via the recruitment of CD11b+Ly6C+ monocytes to the CNS [232, 233, 499]. Corroborating with these results, another study from the group of Dr. Becher demonstrated that the principal GM-CSF responders are the monocytes, while the cytokine has little effect on microglia. In addition, GM-CSF stimulation induces the production of IL-23 by monocytes, which in turn allows the polarization of CD4+ T lymphocytes into Th17 pro-inflammatory lymphocytes [231]. A follow-up study has demonstrated that deleting the GM-CSF receptor on CCR2⁺Ly6C^{hi} monocytes prevented the induction of EAE. In addition, they demonstrated that these cells produce CCL6, CCL24, and CCL17, which are known to be critical for the recruit of more myeloid cells, effectively creating an immune amplification loop during neuroinflammation. Finally, these monocytes are also known to secrete high levels of IL-1 β , which modulate the BBB integrity and upregulate the expression of adhesion molecules [234, 500, 501].

Collectively, the results put forward in this first article suggest that anti-ALCAM antibodies could be an interesting therapy against MS. Besides, positive effects on EAE clinical scores have already been published in Cayrol et al. [113]. The same experiments have also demonstrated the absence of negative effect of the anti-ALCAM antibodies on the integrity of the BBB and showed no deleterious effects in the animals over multiple injections. Furthermore, based on the positive results obtained from the clinical trials of ocrelizumab, an anti-CD20 monoclonal therapy aimed at depleting B lymphocytes, for both RRMS and PPMS patients, it is conceivable that a non-T lymphocyte-related therapy be used against MS [502]. As discussed previously, although B lymphocytes play a role during disease pathogenesis by producing antibodies against CNS molecules, they also act as APCs by presenting antigens and secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines or anti-inflammatory cytokines during disease remission. While blocking disease promoting B lymphocytes is beneficial, an anti-ALCAM therapy would affect equally the regulatory B lymphocytes. Nevertheless, positive clinical outcomes of B lymphocyte depletion therapies suggest that blocking ALCAM would not impede disease remission. In fact, an increase in the percentage of CD27- B lymphocytes, which demonstrate superior capacity to produce IL-10, was observed 12 months following B lymphocyte depletion in MS patients [503]. Therefore, an ALCAM-specific therapy would in theory target all APCs (myeloid cells and B lymphocytes) and have a broad positive impact on the disease process. Especially, as
myeloid cells have been proposed to be directly and indirectly implicated in neuronal damage [299]. It would also be an important addition to the therapeutic regiment available nowadays as it would not target T lymphocytes and thus, may not be plagued by the increased risk of PMLs.

The Novel Role of ALCAM in Maintaining BBB Integrity

Although the first manuscript established precisely the role of ALCAM during leukocyte diapedesis, we were interested in seeing if those in vitro results would translate in an in vivo model of MS. Therefore, this second section of my Ph.D. project was originally aimed at understanding the role of ALCAM during neuroinflammation in the EAE model. The mechanisms underlying the complex interactions between leukocytes and the BBB would have been studied and confirmed by using transgenic animals. However, it became clear following the first few active EAE experiments that, as opposed to our initial hypothesis, ALCAM KO mice were not protected from the disease, but rather developed more severe symptoms accompanied by an increase in CNS infiltrating proinflammatory immune cells. Based on our published EAE results using anti-ALCAM antibodies [113] and on our new in vitro detailed analysis of ALCAM functions during leukocyte transmigration, we proposed that the phenotype observed was due to an upregulation of other adhesion molecules as a compensatory mechanism. Yet, we quickly refuted that theory following the analysis of the expression levels of multiple adhesion molecules using flow cytometry. We also confirmed that there was no other difference in the peripheral immune system of ALCAM KO mice (number and ratio of immune cells, antigen presentation, secretion of cytokines and chemokines, etc.), as compared to their WT littermates, that could have accounted for the results observed. Furthermore, a study conducted by the group of Dr. Weiner, the creator of the ALCAM KO strain, described the animals as appearing normal, with no apparent phenotypes or defects. The mice also bred normally and their offspring matched closely the development rate of WT pups. Upon further characterization of the animals, however, they discovered that the mice have defects in the fasciculation of retinal ganglion cells and prominent retinal dysplastic regions were observed [504]. Nevertheless, these defects do not seem to affect the animals and does not have, to the best of my knowledge, a direct influence over the course of EAE.

Using adoptive EAE transfer, in which WT leukocytes are injected into ALCAM KO or WT mice, we confirmed that the lack of ALCAM only in the recipient animals recapitulates the phenotype observed in active EAE. We thus hypothesized that the absence of ALCAM at the level of the CNS microvasculature is causing the increased EAE clinical score observed in ALCAM KO mice. Phenotypic characterization of un-immunized ALCAM KO mice revealed a reduced expression of BBB junctional proteins, which was associated with a significant increase in the permeability of the BBB of these animals. A detailed molecular analysis of ALCAM intracellular binding partners in primary cultures of mouse BBB-ECs demonstrated that the TJ adaptor molecules ZO-2 and cingulin are linked to ALCAM cytoplasmic tail. In addition, actin-binding proteins TARA and coronin 1C, along with the presence of β -actin and tropomyosin proteins in the ALCAM pulled-down protein lysate, confirmed previously published studies and provided further evidence demonstrating that ALCAM is directly linked to the actin cytoskeleton [477, 479]. Conversely, transmembrane TJ and AJ molecules, such as occludin, JAM-A, claudin-5 and VE-cadherin, were not found to be linked to ALCAM. These results suggest that ALCAM may interact with junctional molecule complexes only via TJ adaptor molecules.

A recent study published by Tudor, C. and colleagues has identified ezrin and syntenin-1 as two intracellular molecules binding to ALCAM [505]. Although our experiment did not confirm their findings, the differences observed between our results could be explained by their use of a cell line transfected with modified ALCAM proteins, as opposed to endogenous ALCAM obtained from primary mouse BBB-ECs. Interestingly, although the cytoplasmic tail of ALCAM contains clusters of positively charged amino acid residues that typically interact with members of the ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM) family, a study performed with pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells (PMVECs) found no association between ALCAM and ERM protein family members, corroborating our results [506]. Thus, the experiments performed by Tudor, C. et al., which were designed to assess ALCAM intracellular binding partner in a cell line of human APCs, might not be relevant to mouse endothelial cells.

While this study did not support our results, other studies reported functional links between ALCAM and junctional molecules in a variety of cell types. In 2000, Tomita and colleagues

demonstrated that, in an α -catenin-deficient prostate cancer cell line, ALCAM expression is limited to the cytoplasm. However, upon transfection with α -neuronal-catenin, ALCAM is colocalized with the transfected protein at the level of the cell membrane [507]. As catenin molecules are known to interact with cadherins and the actin cytoskeleton, this study suggests that ALCAM is part of the macromolecular complexes forming cell-cell contact in prostate cancer cells. Another study published by the group of Dr. Weiner described similar protein bonds in uveal melanoma cell lines. They demonstrated that, when ALCAM is overexpressed, both N-cadherin and β -catenin localization to cell contacts is enhanced along with ALCAM, whereas silencing ALCAM results in defective adherens junctions [508].

In PMVECs, another study reported the co-localization of ALCAM with N- and VEcadherin via confocal microscopy, while immunoprecipitation assays identified N-cadherin, VE-cadherin and β -catenin as ALCAM binding partners [506]. Strangely, ALCAM, N-cadherin and E-cadherin were isolated from the lipid rafts of PMVECs, but VE-cadherin was only detected in the bulk plasma membrane fractions, contradicting previous findings [509]. Similar results were also obtained from our laboratory using primary cultures of human BBB-ECs [113]. The localization of these proteins to lipid raft is consistent with the current literature which associates these cell membrane microdomains with the formation of complex macromolecular structures involved in immune cell transmigration (selectins, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, etc.), intercellular junction formation, cytoskeleton anchoring and intracellular signalling pathways [510-512]. Although these studies do not confirm the results obtained in the second manuscript, they do however collectively provide further evidence that ALCAM is linked to junctional molecules and the cytoskeleton.

Studies also suggest that ALCAM is linked to other cell membrane protein either in trans or in cis. Gilsanz, A. et al. [513] have recently reported that ALCAM, along with other Ig-like adhesion molecules, forms a complex with the tetraspanin molecule CD9 and the "sheddase" ADAM17, which together regulate ALCAM/sALCAM expression and activity in a TGF β dependent or -independent fashion [514, 515]. CD9, which acts as a membrane chaperone molecule, is also known to interact directly with claudins in a cholesterol-sensitive manner [516]. Thus, this ALCAM-CD9 bond provides a secondary indirect link between claudins and ALCAM. Though CD9 is highly expressed on endothelial cells [517], we did not detect it in the ALCAM immunoprecipitation assay. Technical differences in the protocols used (detergent, cell type, antibody used, etc.) and different stimulation states of endothelial cells could explain this discrepancy. Indeed, since CD9 is known to enhance ALCAM-mediated adhesion by promoting its clustering on the cell surface, perhaps a CD9-ALCAM binding would have been detected in stimulated BBB-ECs [513].

Although the identified deficiency in the BBB integrity of ALCAM KO mice is a viable explanation to the worsening of EAE clinical score, EAE remains a complex disease affected by multiple biomolecular mechanisms. As such, other factors overlooked could be modified in ALCAM KO mice and participate on different levels to the disease pathogenesis. RAGE (receptor for advanced glycation end-products) could be one of those molecules. It is a close structural and functional homolog of ALCAM and it was recently identified by von Bauer and colleagues to be upregulated in ALCAM deficient animals, potentially as a compensatory mechanism [518]. RAGE also shares common features with TLRs as it has been described to bind to danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as S100 proteins and HMGB-1, released by cells upon cellular stress and necrosis. As such, RAGE, which can be upregulated in many tissues by inflammatory mediators, is involved in propagating acute and chronic inflammation and leads to perpetuated cell activation [519-522]. The recent study by von Bauer et al. also identified S100B as a ligand of both RAGE and ALCAM, which induces a dose- and time-dependent expression of members of the NF-kB family [518]. Moreover, other studies demonstrated that in the CNS of EAE animals, RAGE is upregulated on infiltrating macrophages and CD4+ T lymphocytes, as well as on BBB-ECs, while S100 proteins are overexpressed in the spinal cord tissue. Furthermore, the administration of soluble RAGE, acting as a molecular decoy, or anti-RAGE antibody significantly reduces EAE symptoms and leukocyte infiltration in the CNS [523, 524]. Expression of dominant negative RAGE (a mutant form of RAGE without the cytosolic domain and lacking the capacity of signal transduction) selectively in CD4+ T lymphocytes also reduced the inflammatory reaction in EAE [523]. Corroborating with these results, EAE symptoms were shown to be significantly increased in mice overexpressing RAGE in a Tie2-dependent manner [525]. Another study suggesting that RAGE is expressed by oligodendrocytes in response to oxidative stress provides further evidence of the

implication of RAGE in EAE and MS [526]. Taken together, these studies link RAGE and ALCAM to leukocyte transmigration across the BBB and reveal important mechanisms contributing to neuroinflammation. Overall, the results described in the second manuscript demonstrate that ALCAM is associated with junctional molecules and thus participate in the modulation of intercellular connexions between BBB-ECs.

Future Perspective

Multiple genetic studies have identified ALCAM and CD6 gene polymorphisms as risk factors in MS, increasing the odds of developing the disease by 1.18 to 2.34 [358-360, 527]. Thus, these studies provide further evidences of the implication of ALCAM and CD6 in MS pathogenesis. On the other hand, since ALCAM is expressed in multiple cell types (endothelial cells, immune cells, epithelial cells, neurons, tumours, stem cells, etc.), it would be essential to characterize and understand the different physiological functions it partakes in both homeostatic and pathological conditions before considering therapeutic ALCAM modulation in MS patients. Case in point, the deleterious effects of ALCAM deletion in the pathogenesis of EAE. While the two manuscripts of this thesis clarify the specific role of ALCAM during immune cell trafficking and identify novel intracellular binding partners, the exact signaling pathways downstream of ALCAM are still unknown. Therefore, additional biomolecular studies would be needed to identify all molecules interacting with ALCAM in BBB-ECs and leukocytes. These studies would also potentially help define the players involved in paracellular and transcellular diapedesis and decipher their respective mechanisms. Likewise, it would be important to understand specifically why blocking ALCAM doesn't affect more the transmigration of T lymphocytes even if they express CD6 and ALCAM. Again this would require a thorough understanding of the binding partners of ALCAM as multiple molecules both intracellular and extracellular might be involved in regulating its avidity. As previously mentioned, other adhesion molecules and integrins could also overshadow the role ALCAM is playing during T lymphocyte diapedesis. A recent study from the group of Dr. Wiendl has provided further evidences for this theory by concluding that VLA-4-blockade alone did not affect significantly the adhesion of MCAM+ Th17 T lymphocytes, but the combination of anti-MCAM and antiVLA-4 did [528]. One could therefore argue for the existence of inherent redundancies in the molecular players involved during immune cell transmigration. As multiple important cellular systems are known to have redundant pathways, it would make sense for a mechanism involved in the protection of the organism from external pathogens to possess fail-safes. Mapping the macromolecular cell surface complexes would be essential not only in MS but also in other pathologies where ALCAM has been described. This is the case for most cancers, where understanding the exact role of ALCAM in tumour progression and metastasis would be necessary before modulating ALCAM in an effort to diminish the infiltration of deleterious Tregs and increase pro-inflammatory anti-tumor immune cell recruitment. Likewise, therapeutic modulation of ALCAM in HIV+ patients could prevent the infection of the CNS by the virus or help control the inflammatory reaction in HTLV-1 infected patients.

Conclusion

Although the etiology and the physiopathology of MS is still not fully understood, evidences point to a critical role fulfilled by CNS infiltrating pro-inflammatory leukocytes during lesion formation. The research experiments conducted as part of this thesis have provided new evidences of the implication of ALCAM during this process. The first hypothesis of this project was that ALCAM plays a role in the firm adhesion, crawling and diapedesis of encephalitogenic pro-inflammatory leukocytes across BBB-ECs. Studies presented in this thesis have confirmed the hypothesis on ex vivo human CD14+ monocytes. However, experiments using a conventional static migration assay or the modified adhesion assay under shear-stress have demonstrated the relative absence of effect of anti-ALCAM antibodies on the T lymphocyte transmigration cascade. The second hypothesis was that the absence of ALCAM on BBB-ECs and leukocytes significantly diminishes the severity of EAE symptoms, while reducing the absolute number of leukocytes infiltrating the CNS following immunization. Our initial active EAE experiments rapidly disproved this theory. Collectively, our data have demonstrated that ALCAM KO mice develop a more severe active EAE, due at least in part to an increase in the permeability of their BBB. This loss in BBB integrity is the result of a dysregulation of junctional molecules triggered by the absence of ALCAM, which was shown to directly and indirectly associate with TJ molecules and the cell cytoskeleton. Thus, ALCAM regulates and maintains tight junction stability by acting as an adaptor molecule. Overall, these results confirm the importance of the BBB in preserving the environment of the CNS and suggest that ALCAM could be targeted by disease-modifying therapies to limit peripheral monocytes from participating in lesion formation in MS patients.

Bibliographie

- 1. Peters, D.G. and J.R. Connor, *Introduction to cells comprising the nervous system*. Adv Neurobiol, 2014. **9**: p. 33-45.
- 2. Kierdorf, K., et al., *Microglia emerge from erythromyeloid precursors via Pu.1- and Irf8-dependent pathways.* Nat Neurosci, 2013. **16**(3): p. 273-80.
- 3. Hickey, W.F. and H. Kimura, *Perivascular microglial cells of the CNS are bone marrow-derived and present antigen in vivo*. Science, 1988. **239**(4837): p. 290-2.
- 4. Ginhoux, F., et al., *Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages*. Science, 2010. **330**(6005): p. 841-5.
- 5. Belanger, M., I. Allaman, and P.J. Magistretti, *Brain energy metabolism: focus on astrocyte-neuron metabolic cooperation*. Cell Metab, 2011. **14**(6): p. 724-38.
- 6. Ransohoff, R.M. and B. Engelhardt, *The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2012. **12**(9): p. 623-35.
- 7. Brinker, T., et al., *A new look at cerebrospinal fluid circulation*. Fluids Barriers CNS, 2014. **11**: p. 10.
- 8. Engelhardt, B. and L. Sorokin, *The blood-brain and the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barriers: function and dysfunction*. Semin Immunopathol, 2009. **31**(4): p. 497-511.
- 9. Weller, R.O., et al., *Pathophysiology of the lymphatic drainage of the central nervous system: Implications for pathogenesis and therapy of multiple sclerosis.* Pathophysiology, 2010. **17**(4): p. 295-306.
- 10. Palanichamy, A., et al., *Immunoglobulin class-switched B cells form an active immune axis between CNS and periphery in multiple sclerosis*. Sci Transl Med, 2014. **6**(248): p. 248ra106.
- 11. Stern, J.N., et al., *B cells populating the multiple sclerosis brain mature in the draining cervical lymph nodes*. Sci Transl Med, 2014. **6**(248): p. 248ra107.
- 12. McMahon, E.J., et al., *Epitope spreading initiates in the CNS in two mouse models of multiple sclerosis.* Nat Med, 2005. **11**(3): p. 335-9.
- 13. Aspelund, A., et al., *A dural lymphatic vascular system that drains brain interstitial fluid and macromolecules.* J Exp Med, 2015. **212**(7): p. 991-9.
- 14. Bucchieri, F., et al., *Lymphatic vessels of the dura mater: a new discovery?* J Anat, 2015. **227**(5): p. 702-3.
- 15. Mezey, E. and M. Palkovits, *Neuroanatomy: Forgotten findings of brain lymphatics*. Nature, 2015. **524**(7566): p. 415.
- 16. Norman, M.G. and J.R. O'Kusky, *The growth and development of microvasculature in human cerebral cortex*. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 1986. **45**(3): p. 222-32.
- 17. Gerhardt, H., et al., *VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia.* J Cell Biol, 2003. **161**(6): p. 1163-77.
- 18. Halilagic, A., et al., *Retinoids control anterior and dorsal properties in the developing forebrain.* Dev Biol, 2007. **303**(1): p. 362-75.
- 19. Daneman, R. and A. Prat, *The blood-brain barrier*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2015. 7(1): p. a020412.

- 20. Adams, R.H., *Vascular patterning by Eph receptor tyrosine kinases and ephrins*. Semin Cell Dev Biol, 2002. **13**(1): p. 55-60.
- 21. Daneman, R., et al., *Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is required for CNS, but not non-CNS, angiogenesis.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(2): p. 641-6.
- 22. Shawber, C.J. and J. Kitajewski, Notch function in the vasculature: insights from zebrafish, mouse and man. Bioessays, 2004. 26(3): p. 225-34.
- 23. Alvarez, J.I., et al., *The Hedgehog pathway promotes blood-brain barrier integrity and CNS immune quiescence*. Science, 2011. **334**(6063): p. 1727-31.
- 24. Mizee, M.R., et al., *Retinoic acid induces blood-brain barrier development*. J Neurosci, 2013. **33**(4): p. 1660-71.
- 25. Liebner, S., et al., *Wnt/beta-catenin signaling controls development of the blood-brain barrier*. J Cell Biol, 2008. **183**(3): p. 409-17.
- 26. Stewart, P.A. and M.J. Wiley, *Developing nervous tissue induces formation of bloodbrain barrier characteristics in invading endothelial cells: a study using quail--chick transplantation chimeras.* Dev Biol, 1981. **84**(1): p. 183-92.
- 27. Winkler, E.A., R.D. Bell, and B.V. Zlokovic, *Central nervous system pericytes in health and disease*. Nat Neurosci, 2011. **14**(11): p. 1398-405.
- 28. Wilkinson, M., et al., *Glial and neuronal differentiation in the human fetal brain 9-23 weeks of gestation*. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 1990. **16**(3): p. 193-204.
- 29. El-Khoury, N., et al., *Astrocyte end-feet in germinal matrix, cerebral cortex, and white matter in developing infants.* Pediatr Res, 2006. **59**(5): p. 673-9.
- Mathiisen, T.M., et al., *The perivascular astroglial sheath provides a complete covering of the brain microvessels: an electron microscopic 3D reconstruction*. Glia, 2010. 58(9): p. 1094-103.
- 31. Lecuyer, M.A., H. Kebir, and A. Prat, *Glial influences on BBB functions and molecular players in immune cell trafficking*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2016. **1862**(3): p. 472-82.
- 32. Ramsauer, M., D. Krause, and R. Dermietzel, *Angiogenesis of the blood-brain barrier in vitro and the function of cerebral pericytes.* FASEB J, 2002. **16**(10): p. 1274-6.
- 33. Prat, A., et al., *Glial cell influence on the human blood-brain barrier*. Glia, 2001. **36**(2): p. 145-55.
- 34. Wosik, K., et al., Angiotensin II controls occludin function and is required for blood brain barrier maintenance: relevance to multiple sclerosis. J Neurosci, 2007. 27(34): p. 9032-42.
- 35. Fantin, A., et al., *Tissue macrophages act as cellular chaperones for vascular anastomosis downstream of VEGF-mediated endothelial tip cell induction.* Blood, 2010. **116**(5): p. 829-40.
- 36. Tammela, T., et al., *VEGFR-3 controls tip to stalk conversion at vessel fusion sites by reinforcing Notch signalling*. Nat Cell Biol, 2011. **13**(10): p. 1202-13.
- 37. Tsukita, S., M. Furuse, and M. Itoh, *Multifunctional strands in tight junctions*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2001. **2**(4): p. 285-93.
- 38. Wolburg, H. and A. Lippoldt, *Tight junctions of the blood-brain barrier: development, composition and regulation.* Vascul Pharmacol, 2002. **38**(6): p. 323-37.
- 39. Furuse, M., et al., *Occludin: a novel integral membrane protein localizing at tight junctions.* J Cell Biol, 1993. **123**(6 Pt 2): p. 1777-88.

- 40. Ikenouchi, J., et al., *Tricellulin constitutes a novel barrier at tricellular contacts of epithelial cells*. Journal of Cell Biology, 2005. **171**(6): p. 939-945.
- 41. Mariano, C., et al., *A look at tricellulin and its role in tight junction formation and maintenance*. European Journal of Cell Biology, 2011. **90**(10): p. 787-796.
- 42. Steed, E., et al., *Identification of MarvelD3 as a tight junction-associated transmembrane protein of the occludin family.* Bmc Cell Biology, 2009. **10**.
- 43. Cohen, C.J., et al., *The coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor is a transmembrane component of the tight junction.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(26): p. 15191-6.
- 44. Nasdala, I., et al., *A transmembrane tight junction protein selectively expressed on endothelial cells and platelets*. J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(18): p. 16294-303.
- 45. Dodelet-Devillers, A., et al., *Functions of lipid raft membrane microdomains at the blood-brain barrier*. J Mol Med (Berl), 2009. **87**(8): p. 765-74.
- 46. Stevenson, B.R., et al., *Identification of ZO-1: a high molecular weight polypeptide associated with the tight junction (zonula occludens) in a variety of epithelia.* J Cell Biol, 1986. **103**(3): p. 755-66.
- 47. Cordenonsi, M., et al., *Cingulin contains globular and coiled-coil domains and interacts with ZO-1, ZO-2, ZO-3, and myosin.* J Cell Biol, 1999. **147**(7): p. 1569-82.
- 48. Funke, L., S. Dakoji, and D.S. Bredt, *Membrane-associated guanylate kinases regulate adhesion and plasticity at cell junctions*. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 2005. **74**: p. 219-245.
- 49. Guillemot, L., et al., *The cytoplasmic plaque of tight junctions: a scaffolding and signalling center*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2008. **1778**(3): p. 601-13.
- 50. Lampugnani, M.G. and E. Dejana, *The control of endothelial cell functions by adherens junctions*. Novartis Found Symp, 2007. **283**: p. 4-13; discussion 13-7, 238-41.
- 51. Gerhardt, H., H. Wolburg, and C. Redies, *N-cadherin mediates pericytic-endothelial interaction during brain angiogenesis in the chicken.* Dev Dyn, 2000. **218**(3): p. 472-9.
- 52. Nawroth, R., et al., *VE-PTP and VE-cadherin ectodomains interact to facilitate regulation of phosphorylation and cell contacts.* EMBO J, 2002. **21**(18): p. 4885-95.
- 53. Bazzoni, G. and E. Dejana, *Endothelial cell-to-cell junctions: molecular organization and role in vascular homeostasis.* Physiol Rev, 2004. **84**(3): p. 869-901.
- 54. Weis, W.I. and W.J. Nelson, *Re-solving the cadherin-catenin-actin conundrum*. J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(47): p. 35593-7.
- 55. Larochelle, C., J.I. Alvarez, and A. Prat, *How do immune cells overcome the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis?* FEBS Lett, 2011. **585**(23): p. 3770-80.
- 56. Lou, O., et al., *CD99 is a key mediator of the transendothelial migration of neutrophils.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(2): p. 1136-43.
- 57. Albelda, S.M., et al., *Molecular and cellular properties of PECAM-1 (endoCAM/CD31): a novel vascular cell-cell adhesion molecule.* J Cell Biol, 1991. **114**(5): p. 1059-68.
- Dejana, E., *Endothelial cell-cell junctions: happy together*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2004.
 5(4): p. 261-70.
- 59. Sumagin, R. and I.H. Sarelius, Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 enrichment near tricellular endothelial junctions is preferentially associated with leukocyte transmigration and signals for reorganization of these junctions to accommodate leukocyte passage. J Immunol, 2010. **184**(9): p. 5242-52.

- 60. Bardin, N., et al., *Identification of the S-Endo 1 endothelial-associated antigen*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1996. **218**(1): p. 210-6.
- 61. Bardin, N., et al., *Identification of CD146 as a component of the endothelial junction involved in the control of cell-cell cohesion*. Blood, 2001. **98**(13): p. 3677-84.
- 62. Flanagan, K., et al., *Laminin-411 is a vascular ligand for MCAM and facilitates TH17 cell entry into the CNS.* PLoS One, 2012. **7**(7): p. e40443.
- 63. Cao, G., et al., *Angiogenesis in platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1-null mice*. Am J Pathol, 2009. **175**(2): p. 903-15.
- 64. Verkman, A.S., *Aquaporin water channels and endothelial cell function*. J Anat, 2002. **200**(6): p. 617-27.
- 65. Burgess, R.W., W.C. Skarnes, and J.R. Sanes, *Agrin isoforms with distinct amino termini: differential expression, localization, and function.* J Cell Biol, 2000. **151**(1): p. 41-52.
- 66. Scotton, P., et al., Activation of muscle-specific receptor tyrosine kinase and binding to dystroglycan are regulated by alternative mRNA splicing of agrin. J Biol Chem, 2006. 281(48): p. 36835-45.
- 67. Barber, A.J. and E. Lieth, *Agrin accumulates in the brain microvascular basal lamina during development of the blood-brain barrier*. Dev Dyn, 1997. **208**(1): p. 62-74.
- 68. Kroger, S. and J.E. Schroder, *Agrin in the developing CNS: new roles for a synapse organizer*. News Physiol Sci, 2002. **17**: p. 207-12.
- 69. Abbott, N.J., L. Ronnback, and E. Hansson, *Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier*. Nat Rev Neurosci, 2006. 7(1): p. 41-53.
- 70. Michele, D.E. and K.P. Campbell, *Dystrophin-glycoprotein complex: post-translational processing and dystroglycan function.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(18): p. 15457-60.
- 71. Lien, C.F., et al., *Absence of glial alpha-dystrobrevin causes abnormalities of the bloodbrain barrier and progressive brain edema*. J Biol Chem, 2012. **287**(49): p. 41374-85.
- 72. Haj-Yasein, N.N., et al., *Glial-conditional deletion of aquaporin-4 (Aqp4) reduces* blood-brain water uptake and confers barrier function on perivascular astrocyte endfeet. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2011. **108**(43): p. 17815-20.
- 73. Dehouck, M.P., et al., *An easier, reproducible, and mass-production method to study the blood-brain barrier in vitro.* J Neurochem, 1990. **54**(5): p. 1798-801.
- 74. McAllister, M.S., et al., *Mechanisms of glucose transport at the blood-brain barrier: an in vitro study.* Brain Res, 2001. **904**(1): p. 20-30.
- 75. Hayashi, Y., et al., *Induction of various blood-brain barrier properties in non-neural endothelial cells by close apposition to co-cultured astrocytes.* Glia, 1997. **19**(1): p. 13-26.
- Haseloff, R.F., et al., *In search of the astrocytic factor(s) modulating blood-brain barrier functions in brain capillary endothelial cells in vitro*. Cell Mol Neurobiol, 2005. 25(1): p. 25-39.
- 77. Lee, S.W., et al., *SSeCKS regulates angiogenesis and tight junction formation in bloodbrain barrier.* Nat Med, 2003. **9**(7): p. 900-6.
- 78. Igarashi, Y., et al., *Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor induces barrier function of endothelial cells forming the blood-brain barrier*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1999. **261**(1): p. 108-12.

- 79. Suri, C., et al., *Requisite role of angiopoietin-1, a ligand for the TIE2 receptor, during embryonic angiogenesis.* Cell, 1996. **87**(7): p. 1171-80.
- 80. Pfaff, D., U. Fiedler, and H.G. Augustin, *Emerging roles of the Angiopoietin-Tie and the ephrin-Eph systems as regulators of cell trafficking*. J Leukoc Biol, 2006. **80**(4): p. 719-26.
- 81. Murakami, M., et al., *The FGF system has a key role in regulating vascular integrity*. J Clin Invest, 2008. **118**(10): p. 3355-66.
- 82. Shibuya, M., Vascular endothelial growth factor-dependent and -independent regulation of angiogenesis. BMB Rep, 2008. **41**(4): p. 278-86.
- 83. Igarashi, Y., et al., *Expression of receptors for glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor* (GDNF) and neurturin in the inner blood-retinal barrier of rats. Cell Struct Funct, 2000.
 25(4): p. 237-41.
- 84. Shimizu, F., et al., *Pericyte-derived glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor increase the expression of claudin-5 in the blood-brain barrier and the blood-nerve barrier*. Neurochem Res, 2012. **37**(2): p. 401-9.
- 85. Rubtsov, Y.P. and A.Y. Rudensky, *TGFbeta signalling in control of T-cell-mediated self-reactivity*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2007. 7(6): p. 443-53.
- 86. Ikushima, H. and K. Miyazono, *TGFbeta signalling: a complex web in cancer progression*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2010. **10**(6): p. 415-24.
- 87. Blobe, G.C., W.P. Schiemann, and H.F. Lodish, *Role of transforming growth factor beta in human disease*. N Engl J Med, 2000. **342**(18): p. 1350-8.
- Aloisi, F., F. Ria, and L. Adorini, Regulation of T-cell responses by CNS antigenpresenting cells: different roles for microglia and astrocytes. Immunol Today, 2000. 21(3): p. 141-7.
- 89. Dobolyi, A., et al., *The neuroprotective functions of transforming growth factor Beta proteins*. Int J Mol Sci, 2012. **13**(7): p. 8219-58.
- 90. Chastain, E.M.L., et al., *The role of antigen presenting cells in multiple sclerosis*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease, 2011. **1812**(2): p. 265-274.
- 91. Kajdaniuk, D., et al., *Transforming growth factor beta1 (TGFbeta1) in physiology and pathology*. Endokrynol Pol, 2013. **64**(5): p. 384-96.
- Harvey, B.K., B.J. Hoffer, and Y. Wang, Stroke and TGF-beta proteins: glial cell linederived neurotrophic factor and bone morphogenetic protein. Pharmacol Ther, 2005. 105(2): p. 113-25.
- 93. Dohgu, S., et al., *Transforming growth factor-beta1 upregulates the tight junction and P-glycoprotein of brain microvascular endothelial cells*. Cell Mol Neurobiol, 2004.
 24(3): p. 491-7.
- 94. Willis, C.L., G.L. Taylor, and D.E. Ray, *Microvascular P-glycoprotein expression at the blood-brain barrier following focal astrocyte loss and at the fenestrated vasculature of the area postrema*. Brain Res, 2007. **1173**: p. 126-36.
- 95. Willis, C.L., et al., *Reversible disruption of tight junction complexes in the rat bloodbrain barrier, following transitory focal astrocyte loss.* Glia, 2004. **48**(1): p. 1-13.
- 96. Willis, C.L., et al., *Focal astrocyte loss is followed by microvascular damage, with subsequent repair of the blood-brain barrier in the apparent absence of direct astrocytic contact.* Glia, 2004. **45**(4): p. 325-37.

- 97. Engelhardt, B. and R.M. Ransohoff, *Capture, crawl, cross: the T cell code to breach the blood-brain barriers*. Trends Immunol, 2012. **33**(12): p. 579-89.
- 98. Alvarez, J.I., R. Cayrol, and A. Prat, *Disruption of central nervous system barriers in multiple sclerosis*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2011. **1812**(2): p. 252-64.
- 99. Greenwood, J., et al., *Review: leucocyte-endothelial cell crosstalk at the blood-brain barrier: a prerequisite for successful immune cell entry to the brain.* Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 2011. **37**(1): p. 24-39.
- 100. Man, S., E.E. Ubogu, and R.M. Ransohoff, *Inflammatory cell migration into the central nervous system: a few new twists on an old tale.* Brain Pathol, 2007. **17**(2): p. 243-50.
- 101. Mrass, P. and W. Weninger, *Immune cell migration as a means to control immune privilege: lessons from the CNS and tumors.* Immunol Rev, 2006. **213**: p. 195-212.
- 102. Goldsmith, H.L. and S. Spain, *Margination of leukocytes in blood flow through small tubes*. Microvasc Res, 1984. **27**(2): p. 204-22.
- 103. Nobis, U., et al., *Radial distribution of white cells during blood flow in small tubes*. Microvasc Res, 1985. **29**(3): p. 295-304.
- 104. Schmid-Schonbein, G.W., et al., *The interaction of leukocytes and erythrocytes in capillary and postcapillary vessels.* Microvasc Res, 1980. **19**(1): p. 45-70.
- 105. Bechmann, I., I. Galea, and V.H. Perry, *What is the blood-brain barrier (not)?* Trends Immunol, 2007. **28**(1): p. 5-11.
- 106. Wu, C., et al., *Endothelial basement membrane laminin alpha5 selectively inhibits T lymphocyte extravasation into the brain.* Nat Med, 2009. **15**(5): p. 519-27.
- 107. Sorokin, L., *The impact of the extracellular matrix on inflammation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2010. **10**(10): p. 712-23.
- Wang, S., et al., Venular basement membranes contain specific matrix protein low expression regions that act as exit points for emigrating neutrophils. J Exp Med, 2006. 203(6): p. 1519-32.
- 109. Ifergan, I., et al., *Statins reduce human blood-brain barrier permeability and restrict leukocyte migration: relevance to multiple sclerosis.* Ann Neurol, 2006. **60**(1): p. 45-55.
- 110. Biernacki, K., et al., *Regulation of Th1 and Th2 lymphocyte migration by human adult brain endothelial cells.* J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 2001. **60**(12): p. 1127-36.
- 111. Herter, J. and A. Zarbock, *Integrin Regulation during Leukocyte Recruitment*. J Immunol, 2013. **190**(9): p. 4451-7.
- 112. Larochelle, C., et al., Melanoma cell adhesion molecule identifies encephalitogenic T lymphocytes and promotes their recruitment to the central nervous system. Brain, 2012.
 135(Pt 10): p. 2906-24.
- 113. Cayrol, R., et al., Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule promotes leukocyte trafficking into the central nervous system. Nat Immunol, 2008. 9(2): p. 137-45.
- 114. Dominguez, G.A., N.R. Anderson, and D.A. Hammer, *The direction of migration of T-lymphocytes under flow depends upon which adhesion receptors are engaged()*. Integrative biology : quantitative biosciences from nano to macro, 2015. 7(3): p. 345-355.
- 115. Steiner, O., et al., *Differential roles for endothelial ICAM-1, ICAM-2, and VCAM-1 in shear-resistant T cell arrest, polarization, and directed crawling on blood-brain barrier endothelium.* J Immunol, 2010. **185**(8): p. 4846-55.

- 116. Bartholomaus, I., et al., *Effector T cell interactions with meningeal vascular structures in nascent autoimmune CNS lesions*. Nature, 2009. **462**(7269): p. 94-8.
- 117. Vajkoczy, P., M. Laschinger, and B. Engelhardt, *Alpha4-integrin-VCAM-1 binding* mediates G protein-independent capture of encephalitogenic T cell blasts to CNS white matter microvessels. J Clin Invest, 2001. **108**(4): p. 557-65.
- 118. Ifergan, I., et al., *Role of Ninjurin-1 in the migration of myeloid cells to central nervous system inflammatory lesions*. Ann Neurol, 2011. **70**(5): p. 751-63.
- Barreiro, O., et al., Dynamic interaction of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 with moesin and ezrin in a novel endothelial docking structure for adherent leukocytes. J Cell Biol, 2002. 157(7): p. 1233-45.
- 120. Carman, C.V., et al., Endothelial cells proactively form microvilli-like membrane projections upon intercellular adhesion molecule 1 engagement of leukocyte LFA-1. J Immunol, 2003. **171**(11): p. 6135-44.
- 121. Carman, C.V. and T.A. Springer, *A transmigratory cup in leukocyte diapedesis both through individual vascular endothelial cells and between them.* J Cell Biol, 2004. **167**(2): p. 377-88.
- 122. Carman, C.V., *Mechanisms for transcellular diapedesis: probing and pathfinding by 'invadosome-like protrusions'*. J Cell Sci, 2009. **122**(Pt 17): p. 3025-35.
- 123. Carman, C.V., et al., *Transcellular diapedesis is initiated by invasive podosomes*. Immunity, 2007. **26**(6): p. 784-97.
- 124. Feng, D., et al., *Neutrophils emigrate from venules by a transendothelial cell pathway in response to FMLP*. J Exp Med, 1998. **187**(6): p. 903-15.
- 125. Ley, K., et al., *Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2007. **7**(9): p. 678-89.
- 126. Engelhardt, B. and H. Wolburg, *Mini-review: Transendothelial migration of leukocytes: through the front door or around the side of the house?* Eur J Immunol, 2004. **34**(11): p. 2955-63.
- 127. Vestweber, D., *Relevance of endothelial junctions in leukocyte extravasation and vascular permeability.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2012. **1257**: p. 184-92.
- 128. Muller, W.A., *Getting leukocytes to the site of inflammation*. Vet Pathol, 2013. **50**(1): p. 7-22.
- Mamdouh, Z., A. Mikhailov, and W.A. Muller, *Transcellular migration of leukocytes is mediated by the endothelial lateral border recycling compartment*. J Exp Med, 2009. 206(12): p. 2795-808.
- 130. Riethmuller, C., I. Nasdala, and D. Vestweber, *Nano-surgery at the leukocyte-endothelial docking site.* Pflugers Arch, 2008. **456**(1): p. 71-81.
- 131. Seguin, R., et al., *Regulation and functional effects of monocyte migration across human brain-derived endothelial cells.* J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 2003. **62**(4): p. 412-9.
- 132. Wieseler-Frank, J., et al., *A novel immune-to-CNS communication pathway: cells of the meninges surrounding the spinal cord CSF space produce proinflammatory cytokines in response to an inflammatory stimulus.* Brain Behav Immun, 2007. **21**(5): p. 711-8.
- 133. Steffen, B.J., et al., *ICAM-1*, *VCAM-1*, and *MAdCAM-1* are expressed on choroid plexus epithelium but not endothelium and mediate binding of lymphocytes in vitro. Am J Pathol, 1996. **148**(6): p. 1819-38.

- 134. Ifergan, I., et al., *The blood-brain barrier induces differentiation of migrating monocytes into Th17-polarizing dendritic cells*. Brain, 2008. **131**(Pt 3): p. 785-99.
- 135. Kebir, H., et al., *Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation*. Nat Med, 2007. **13**(10): p. 1173-5.
- 136. Calabresi, P.A., et al., *T lymphocytes conditioned with Interferon beta induce membrane and soluble VCAM on human brain endothelial cells*. J Neuroimmunol, 2001. 115(1-2): p. 161-7.
- 137. Alvarez, J.I., et al., *Focal disturbances in the blood-brain barrier are associated with formation of neuroinflammatory lesions.* Neurobiol Dis, 2015. **74**: p. 14-24.
- 138. Daubenmire, R.F., *The Use of the Terms Coenocyte and Syncytium in Biology*. Science, 1936. **84**(2189): p. 533.
- 139. Nagy, J.I. and J.E. Rash, *Astrocyte and oligodendrocyte connexins of the glial syncytium in relation to astrocyte anatomical domains and spatial buffering.* Cell Commun Adhes, 2003. **10**(4-6): p. 401-6.
- 140. Orellana, J.A., et al., *Modulation of brain hemichannels and gap junction channels by pro-inflammatory agents and their possible role in neurodegeneration*. Antioxid Redox Signal, 2009. **11**(2): p. 369-99.
- 141. Brand-Schieber, E., et al., *Connexin43, the major gap junction protein of astrocytes, is down-regulated in inflamed white matter in an animal model of multiple sclerosis.* J Neurosci Res, 2005. **80**(6): p. 798-808.
- 142. Boulay, A.C., et al., *Immune quiescence of the brain is set by astroglial connexin 43*. J Neurosci, 2015. **35**(10): p. 4427-39.
- 143. Ezan, P., et al., *Deletion of astroglial connexins weakens the blood-brain barrier*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2012. **32**(8): p. 1457-67.
- 144. Fukuda, A.M. and J. Badaut, *Aquaporin 4: a player in cerebral edema and neuroinflammation*. J Neuroinflammation, 2012. **9**: p. 279.
- 145. Lutz, S.E., et al., *Deletion of astrocyte connexins 43 and 30 leads to a dysmyelinating phenotype and hippocampal CA1 vacuolation.* J Neurosci, 2009. **29**(24): p. 7743-52.
- 146. Podjaski, C., et al., *Netrin 1 regulates blood-brain barrier function and neuroinflammation.* Brain, 2015.
- 147. Chen, Y. and R.A. Swanson, *Astrocytes and brain injury*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2003. **23**(2): p. 137-49.
- 148. Bsibsi, M., et al., *Toll-like receptor 3 on adult human astrocytes triggers production of neuroprotective mediators.* Glia, 2006. **53**(7): p. 688-95.
- 149. Argaw, A.T., et al., *Astrocyte-derived VEGF-A drives blood-brain barrier disruption in CNS inflammatory disease*. J Clin Invest, 2012. **122**(7): p. 2454-68.
- 150. Argaw, A.T., et al., *VEGF-mediated disruption of endothelial CLN-5 promotes blood*brain barrier breakdown. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(6): p. 1977-82.
- 151. Chapouly, C., et al., *Astrocytic TYMP and VEGFA drive blood-brain barrier opening in inflammatory central nervous system lesions*. Brain, 2015. **138**(Pt 6): p. 1548-67.
- 152. Hudson, N., et al., *Differential apicobasal VEGF signaling at vascular blood-neural barriers*. Dev Cell, 2014. **30**(5): p. 541-52.
- Korff, T., et al., Endothelial ephrinB2 is controlled by microenvironmental determinants and associates context-dependently with CD31. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2006. 26(3): p. 468-74.

- 154. Shin, D., et al., *Expression of ephrinB2 identifies a stable genetic difference between arterial and venous vascular smooth muscle as well as endothelial cells, and marks subsets of microvessels at sites of adult neovascularization.* Dev Biol, 2001. **230**(2): p. 139-50.
- 155. Gale, N.W., et al., *Ephrin-B2 selectively marks arterial vessels and neovascularization sites in the adult, with expression in both endothelial and smooth-muscle cells.* Dev Biol, 2001. **230**(2): p. 151-60.
- 156. Foo, S.S., et al., *Ephrin-B2 controls cell motility and adhesion during blood-vessel-wall assembly*. Cell, 2006. **124**(1): p. 161-73.
- 157. Broux, B., et al., *Ephrin B1 and B2 are essential for the pathogenicity and migration capacity of TH17 cells in EAE and MS*. Journal of Neuroimmunology. **275**(1): p. 140.
- 158. Fiedler, U., et al., Angiopoietin-2 sensitizes endothelial cells to TNF-alpha and has a crucial role in the induction of inflammation. Nat Med, 2006. **12**(2): p. 235-9.
- 159. Meeuwsen, S., et al., *Cytokine, chemokine and growth factor gene profiling of cultured human astrocytes after exposure to proinflammatory stimuli*. Glia, 2003. **43**(3): p. 243-53.
- 160. Tzartos, J.S., et al., *Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis.* Am J Pathol, 2008. **172**(1): p. 146-55.
- 161. Zimmermann, J., et al., *CNS-targeted production of IL-17A induces glial activation, microvascular pathology and enhances the neuroinflammatory response to systemic endotoxemia.* PLoS One, 2013. **8**(2): p. e57307.
- Wang, D.D., et al., *IL-17 potentiates neuronal injury induced by oxygen-glucose deprivation and affects neuronal IL-17 receptor expression*. J Neuroimmunol, 2009. 212(1-2): p. 17-25.
- 163. Nichols, J.R., et al., *TLR2 deficiency leads to increased Th17 infiltrates in experimental brain abscesses.* J Immunol, 2009. **182**(11): p. 7119-30.
- 164. Ouyang, W., J.K. Kolls, and Y. Zheng, *The biological functions of T helper 17 cell effector cytokines in inflammation*. Immunity, 2008. **28**(4): p. 454-67.
- 165. Trajkovic, V., et al., *Interleukin-17 stimulates inducible nitric oxide synthase activation in rodent astrocytes.* J Neuroimmunol, 2001. **119**(2): p. 183-91.
- 166. Kawanokuchi, J., et al., *Production and functions of IL-17 in microglia*. J Neuroimmunol, 2008. **194**(1-2): p. 54-61.
- 167. Gelderblom, M., et al., *Neutralization of the IL-17 axis diminishes neutrophil invasion and protects from ischemic stroke*. Blood, 2012. **120**(18): p. 3793-802.
- 168. Waisman, A., J. Hauptmann, and T. Regen, *The role of IL-17 in CNS diseases*. Acta Neuropathol, 2015. **129**(5): p. 625-37.
- 169. Stamatovic, S.M., et al., *Potential role of MCP-1 in endothelial cell tight junction 'opening': signaling via Rho and Rho kinase*. J Cell Sci, 2003. **116**(Pt 22): p. 4615-28.
- 170. Kuestner, R.E., et al., *Identification of the IL-17 receptor related molecule IL-17RC as the receptor for IL-17F.* J Immunol, 2007. **179**(8): p. 5462-73.
- 171. Jack, C.S., et al., *TLR signaling tailors innate immune responses in human microglia and astrocytes*. J Immunol, 2005. **175**(7): p. 4320-30.

- 172. Woodroofe, M.N., et al., *Detection of interleukin-1 and interleukin-6 in adult rat brain, following mechanical injury, by in vivo microdialysis: evidence of a role for microglia in cytokine production.* J Neuroimmunol, 1991. **33**(3): p. 227-36.
- 173. Li, X.Z., et al., *Effects of IL-6 secreted from astrocytes on the survival of dopaminergic neurons in lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation*. Neurosci Res, 2009. **65**(3): p. 252-8.
- 174. Van Wagoner, N.J., et al., Interleukin-6 (IL-6) production by astrocytes: autocrine regulation by IL-6 and the soluble IL-6 receptor. J Neurosci, 1999. **19**(13): p. 5236-44.
- 175. Erta, M., A. Quintana, and J. Hidalgo, *Interleukin-6, a major cytokine in the central nervous system*. Int J Biol Sci, 2012. **8**(9): p. 1254-66.
- 176. Chabot, S., G. Williams, and V.W. Yong, *Microglial production of TNF-alpha is induced by activated T lymphocytes. Involvement of VLA-4 and inhibition by interferonbeta-1b.* J Clin Invest, 1997. **100**(3): p. 604-12.
- 177. Ensoli, F., et al., Lymphomononuclear cells from multiple sclerosis patients spontaneously produce high levels of oncostatin M, tumor necrosis factors alpha and beta, and interferon gamma. Mult Scler, 2002. **8**(4): p. 284-8.
- 178. Ruprecht, K., et al., *Effects of oncostatin M on human cerebral endothelial cells and expression in inflammatory brain lesions.* J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 2001. **60**(11): p. 1087-98.
- 179. Takata, F., et al., Oncostatin M induces functional and structural impairment of bloodbrain barriers comprised of rat brain capillary endothelial cells. Neurosci Lett, 2008. 441(2): p. 163-6.
- 180. Estess, P., et al., *Interleukin 15 induces endothelial hyaluronan expression in vitro and promotes activated T cell extravasation through a CD44-dependent pathway in vivo.* J Exp Med, 1999. **190**(1): p. 9-19.
- Oppenheimer-Marks, N., et al., Interleukin 15 is produced by endothelial cells and increases the transendothelial migration of T cells In vitro and in the SCID mouse-human rheumatoid arthritis model In vivo. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1998. 101(6): p. 1261-1272.
- 182. de Menthon, M., et al., Excessive interleukin-15 transpresentation endows NKG2D+CD4+ T cells with innate-like capacity to lyse vascular endothelium in granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's). Arthritis Rheum, 2011. 63(7): p. 2116-26.
- 183. Saikali, P., et al., *Contribution of astrocyte-derived IL-15 to CD8 T cell effector functions in multiple sclerosis.* J Immunol, 2010. **185**(10): p. 5693-703.
- 184. Larochelle, C., et al., *MCAM CD8 T lymphocytes mediate CNS inflammation*. Ann Neurol, 2015.
- 185. Schneider, R., et al., *B cell-derived IL-15 enhances CD8 T cell cytotoxicity and is increased in multiple sclerosis patients.* J Immunol, 2011. **187**(8): p. 4119-28.
- 186. Jack, C., et al., *Contrasting potential of nitric oxide and peroxynitrite to mediate oligodendrocyte injury in multiple sclerosis.* Glia, 2007. **55**(9): p. 926-34.
- 187. Sumi, N., et al., Lipopolysaccharide-activated microglia induce dysfunction of the blood-brain barrier in rat microvascular endothelial cells co-cultured with microglia. Cell Mol Neurobiol, 2010. 30(2): p. 247-53.

- 188. Rochfort, K.D., et al., Downregulation of blood-brain barrier phenotype by proinflammatory cytokines involves NADPH oxidase-dependent ROS generation: consequences for interendothelial adherens and tight junctions. PLoS One, 2014. 9(7): p. e101815.
- 189. Schreibelt, G., et al., *Reactive oxygen species alter brain endothelial tight junction dynamics via RhoA, PI3 kinase, and PKB signaling.* FASEB J, 2007. **21**(13): p. 3666-76.
- 190. Davalos, D., et al., *Fibrinogen-induced perivascular microglial clustering is required for the development of axonal damage in neuroinflammation*. Nat Commun, 2012. **3**: p. 1227.
- 191. Appel, S.H. and E.P. Simpson, *Activated microglia: the silent executioner in neurodegenerative disease?* Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep, 2001. 1(4): p. 303-5.
- 192. Perry, V.H., J.A. Nicoll, and C. Holmes, *Microglia in neurodegenerative disease*. Nat Rev Neurol, 2010. **6**(4): p. 193-201.
- 193. Kingwell, K., *Neurodegenerative disease: Microglia in early disease stages.* Nat Rev Neurol, 2012. **8**(9): p. 475.
- 194. Graeber, M.B., W. Li, and M.L. Rodriguez, *Role of microglia in CNS inflammation*. FEBS Lett, 2011. **585**(23): p. 3798-805.
- 195. Nishioku, T., et al., *Tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediates the blood-brain barrier dysfunction induced by activated microglia in mouse brain microvascular endothelial cells.* J Pharmacol Sci, 2010. **112**(2): p. 251-4.
- 196. Agrawal, S., et al., *Dystroglycan is selectively cleaved at the parenchymal basement membrane at sites of leukocyte extravasation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* J Exp Med, 2006. **203**(4): p. 1007-19.
- 197. Hahn, J.N., D.K. Kaushik, and V.W. Yong, *The role of EMMPRIN in T cell biology and immunological diseases*. J Leukoc Biol, 2015. **98**(1): p. 33-48.
- 198. van Horssen, J., et al., *Matrix metalloproteinase-19 is highly expressed in active multiple sclerosis lesions*. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 2006. **32**(6): p. 585-93.
- 199. Mosmann, T.R., et al., *Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins.* J Immunol, 1986. **136**(7): p. 2348-57.
- 200. Mosmann, T.R. and R.L. Coffman, *TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties.* Annu Rev Immunol, 1989. 7: p. 145-73.
- 201. Zhu, J. and W.E. Paul, *Heterogeneity and plasticity of T helper cells*. Cell Res, 2010.
 20(1): p. 4-12.
- 202. O'Shea, J.J. and W.E. Paul, *Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity* of helper CD4+ T cells. Science, 2010. **327**(5969): p. 1098-102.
- 203. Zhou, L., M.M. Chong, and D.R. Littman, *Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation*. Immunity, 2009. **30**(5): p. 646-55.
- 204. Romagnani, S., *T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2)*. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol, 2000.
 85(1): p. 9-18; quiz 18, 21.
- 205. Lorentz, A., et al., *IL-4-induced priming of human intestinal mast cells for enhanced survival and Th2 cytokine generation is reversible and associated with increased activity of ERK1/2 and c-Fos.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(11): p. 6751-6.

- 206. Pulendran, B., H. Tang, and S. Manicassamy, *Programming dendritic cells to induce T*(*H*)2 and tolerogenic responses. Nat Immunol, 2010. **11**(8): p. 647-55.
- 207. Ho, I.C., T.S. Tai, and S.Y. Pai, *GATA3 and the T-cell lineage: essential functions before and after T-helper-2-cell differentiation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2009. **9**(2): p. 125-35.
- 208. Chen, Y., et al., *Regulatory T cell clones induced by oral tolerance: suppression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* Science, 1994. **265**(5176): p. 1237-40.
- 209. Carrier, Y., et al., *Th3 cells in peripheral tolerance. I. Induction of Foxp3-positive regulatory T cells by Th3 cells derived from TGF-beta T cell-transgenic mice.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(1): p. 179-85.
- 210. Weiner, H.L., Induction and mechanism of action of transforming growth factor-betasecreting Th3 regulatory cells. Immunol Rev, 2001. **182**: p. 207-14.
- 211. Ramming, A., et al., *Maturation-related histone modifications in the PU.1 promoter regulate Th9 cell development.* Blood, 2012.
- Ma, C.S., S.G. Tangye, and E.K. Deenick, *Human Th9 cells: inflammatory cytokines modulate IL-9 production through the induction of IL-21*. Immunol Cell Biol, 2010. 88(6): p. 621-3.
- 213. Wong, M.T., et al., *Regulation of human Th9 differentiation by type I interferons and IL-21*. Immunol Cell Biol, 2010. **88**(6): p. 624-31.
- Gerlach, K., et al., *TH9 cells that express the transcription factor PU.1 drive T cell-mediated colitis via IL-9 receptor signaling in intestinal epithelial cells*. Nat Immunol, 2014. 15(7): p. 676-86.
- 215. Rojas-Zuleta, W.G. and G. Vasquez, *Th9 lymphocytes: A recent history from IL-9 to its potential role in rheumatic diseases.* Autoimmun Rev, 2016. **15**(7): p. 649-55.
- 216. Park, H., et al., A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. Nat Immunol, 2005. 6(11): p. 1133-41.
- 217. Harrington, L.E., et al., *Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages*. Nat Immunol, 2005. **6**(11): p. 1123-32.
- 218. Krakowski, M. and T. Owens, *Interferon-gamma confers resistance to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis*. Eur J Immunol, 1996. **26**(7): p. 1641-6.
- 219. Gran, B., et al., *IL-12p35-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: evidence for redundancy in the IL-12 system in the induction of central nervous system autoimmune demyelination.* J Immunol, 2002. **169**(12): p. 7104-10.
- Zhang, G.X., et al., Induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in IL-12 receptor-beta 2-deficient mice: IL-12 responsiveness is not required in the pathogenesis of inflammatory demyelination in the central nervous system. J Immunol, 2003. 170(4): p. 2153-60.
- 221. Cua, D.J., et al., Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. Nature, 2003. **421**(6924): p. 744-8.
- 222. Ivanov, II, et al., *The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells*. Cell, 2006. **126**(6): p. 1121-33.
- 223. Manel, N., D. Unutmaz, and D.R. Littman, *The differentiation of human T(H)-17 cells requires transforming growth factor-beta and induction of the nuclear receptor RORgammat.* Nat Immunol, 2008. **9**(6): p. 641-9.

- 224. Acosta-Rodriguez, E.V., et al., *Interleukins 1beta and 6 but not transforming growth factor-beta are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells*. Nat Immunol, 2007. **8**(9): p. 942-9.
- 225. Korn, T., et al., *IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells*. Nature, 2007. **448**(7152): p. 484-7.
- Stritesky, G.L., N. Yeh, and M.H. Kaplan, *IL-23 promotes maintenance but not commitment to the Th17 lineage*. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 2008. 181(9): p. 5948-5955.
- 227. Yang, X.O., et al., *T helper 17 lineage differentiation is programmed by orphan nuclear receptors ROR alpha and ROR gamma*. Immunity, 2008. **28**(1): p. 29-39.
- 228. Zhu, S. and Y. Qian, *IL-17/IL-17 receptor system in autoimmune disease: mechanisms and therapeutic potential.* Clin Sci (Lond), 2012. **122**(11): p. 487-511.
- 229. Kebir, H., et al., *Preferential recruitment of interferon-gamma-expressing TH17 cells in multiple sclerosis*. Ann Neurol, 2009. **66**(3): p. 390-402.
- 230. Kroenke, M.A., S.W. Chensue, and B.M. Segal, *EAE mediated by a non-IFN-γ/non-IL-17 pathway*. European journal of immunology, 2010. **40**(8): p. 2340-2348.
- 231. Codarri, L., et al., *RORgammat drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation.* Nat Immunol, 2011. **12**(6): p. 560-7.
- 232. McQualter, J.L., et al., *Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor: a new putative therapeutic target in multiple sclerosis.* J Exp Med, 2001. **194**(7): p. 873-82.
- 233. El-Behi, M., et al., *The encephalitogenicity of T(H)17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF*. Nat Immunol, 2011. **12**(6): p. 568-75.
- 234. Croxford, A.L., et al., *The Cytokine GM-CSF Drives the Inflammatory Signature of CCR2+ Monocytes and Licenses Autoimmunity*. Immunity, 2015. **43**(3): p. 502-14.
- 235. Trifari, S., et al., *Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T(H)1 and T(H)2 cells.* Nat Immunol, 2009. **10**(8): p. 864-71.
- 236. Fujita, H., et al., *Human Langerhans cells induce distinct IL-22-producing CD4+ T cells lacking IL-17 production*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(51): p. 21795-800.
- 237. Zhou, L. and D.R. Littman, *Transcriptional regulatory networks in Th17 cell differentiation*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2009. **21**(2): p. 146-52.
- 238. Brunkow, M.E., et al., Disruption of a new forkhead/winged-helix protein, scurfin, results in the fatal lymphoproliferative disorder of the scurfy mouse. Nat Genet, 2001. 27(1): p. 68-73.
- 239. Baecher-Allan, C., et al., *CD4+CD25high regulatory cells in human peripheral blood*. J Immunol, 2001. **167**(3): p. 1245-53.
- 240. Sakaguchi, S., et al., *Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance*. Cell, 2008. **133**(5): p. 775-87.
- 241. Wei, S., I. Kryczek, and W. Zou, *Regulatory T-cell compartmentalization and trafficking*. Blood, 2006. **108**(2): p. 426-31.
- 242. Chen, W., et al., *Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3.* J Exp Med, 2003. **198**(12): p. 1875-86.

- 243. Vukmanovic-Stejic, M., et al., *Human CD4+ CD25hi Foxp3+ regulatory T cells are derived by rapid turnover of memory populations in vivo.* J Clin Invest, 2006. **116**(9): p. 2423-33.
- 244. Round, J.L. and S.K. Mazmanian, *Inducible Foxp3+ regulatory T-cell development by a commensal bacterium of the intestinal microbiota*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(27): p. 12204-9.
- 245. Groux, H., et al., *A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis.* Nature, 1997. **389**(6652): p. 737-42.
- 246. Vieira, P.L., et al., *IL-10-secreting regulatory T cells do not express Foxp3 but have comparable regulatory function to naturally occurring CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells.* J Immunol, 2004. **172**(10): p. 5986-93.
- 247. Roncarolo, M.G., et al., *Type 1 T regulatory cells*. Immunol Rev, 2001. 182: p. 68-79.
- 248. Asseman, C., et al., *An essential role for interleukin 10 in the function of regulatory T cells that inhibit intestinal inflammation.* J Exp Med, 1999. **190**(7): p. 995-1004.
- 249. Banerjee, A., et al., *Cutting edge: The transcription factor eomesodermin enables CD8+ T cells to compete for the memory cell niche.* J Immunol, 2010. **185**(9): p. 4988-92.
- 250. Wong, P. and E.G. Pamer, *CD8 T cell responses to infectious pathogens*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2003. **21**: p. 29-70.
- 251. Pearce, E.L., et al., *Control of effector CD8+ T cell function by the transcription factor Eomesodermin.* Science, 2003. **302**(5647): p. 1041-3.
- 252. Mars, L.T., et al., Contribution of CD8 T lymphocytes to the immuno-pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis and its animal models. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2011. **1812**(2): p. 151-61.
- 253. Denis, O., et al., *Resting B cells can act as antigen presenting cells in vivo and induce antibody responses.* Int Immunol, 1993. **5**(1): p. 71-8.
- 254. Michel, L., et al., *B Cells in the Multiple Sclerosis Central Nervous System: Trafficking and Contribution to CNS-Compartmentalized Inflammation.* Front Immunol, 2015. **6**: p. 636.
- 255. Zhou, D., et al., Identification of a pathogenic antibody response to native myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in multiple sclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. 103(50): p. 19057-62.
- 256. Srivastava, R., et al., *Potassium channel KIR4.1 as an immune target in multiple sclerosis.* N Engl J Med, 2012. **367**(2): p. 115-23.
- 257. Meinl, E., et al., *Humoral autoimmunity in multiple sclerosis*. J Neurol Sci, 2011. **306**(1-2): p. 180-2.
- 258. Genain, C.P., et al., *Identification of autoantibodies associated with myelin damage in multiple sclerosis.* Nat Med, 1999. **5**(2): p. 170-5.
- 259. Blauth, K., et al., Antibodies produced by clonally expanded plasma cells in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid cause demyelination of spinal cord explants. Acta Neuropathol, 2015. **130**(6): p. 765-81.
- 260. Ligocki, A.J., et al., A Distinct Class of Antibodies May Be an Indicator of Gray Matter Autoimmunity in Early and Established Relapsing Remitting Multiple Sclerosis Patients. ASN Neuro, 2015. 7(5).
- 261. Lucchinetti, C.F., et al., *Inflammatory cortical demyelination in early multiple sclerosis*. N Engl J Med, 2011. **365**(23): p. 2188-97.

- 262. Lovato, L., et al., *Related B cell clones populate the meninges and parenchyma of patients with multiple sclerosis.* Brain, 2011. **134**(Pt 2): p. 534-41.
- 263. Pikor, N. and J.L. Gommerman, *B cells in MS: Why, where and how?* Mult Scler Relat Disord, 2012. **1**(3): p. 123-30.
- 264. Pikor, N.B., et al., Meningeal Tertiary Lymphoid Tissues and Multiple Sclerosis: A Gathering Place for Diverse Types of Immune Cells during CNS Autoimmunity. Front Immunol, 2015. 6: p. 657.
- 265. Magliozzi, R., et al., Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. Brain, 2007. **130**(Pt 4): p. 1089-104.
- Haugen, M., J.L. Frederiksen, and M. Degn, *B cell follicle-like structures in multiple sclerosis-with focus on the role of B cell activating factor*. J Neuroimmunol, 2014. 273(1-2): p. 1-7.
- 267. Piccio, L., et al., *Changes in B- and T-lymphocyte and chemokine levels with rituximab treatment in multiple sclerosis.* Arch Neurol, 2010. **67**(6): p. 707-14.
- 268. Li, R., et al., *Proinflammatory GM-CSF-producing B cells in multiple sclerosis and B cell depletion therapy*. Sci Transl Med, 2015. 7(310): p. 310ra166.
- 269. Bar-Or, A., et al., *Abnormal B-cell cytokine responses a trigger of T-cell-mediated disease in MS*? Ann Neurol, 2010. **67**(4): p. 452-61.
- 270. Cross, A.H., et al., *Rituximab reduces B cells and T cells in cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients.* J Neuroimmunol, 2006. **180**(1-2): p. 63-70.
- 271. Matsushita, T., et al., *Regulatory B cells inhibit EAE initiation in mice while other B cells promote disease progression.* J Clin Invest, 2008. **118**(10): p. 3420-30.
- 272. Fillatreau, S., et al., *B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10*. Nat Immunol, 2002. **3**(10): p. 944-50.
- Madan, R., et al., Non-Redundant Roles for B Cell-Derived IL-10 in Immune Counter-Regulation. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 2009. 183(4): p. 2312-2320.
- 274. Musuraca, G., et al., *IL-17/IL-10 double-producing T cells: new link between infections, immunosuppression and acute myeloid leukemia.* Journal of Translational Medicine, 2015. **13**(1): p. 1-10.
- 275. Zielinski, C.E., et al., *Pathogen-induced human TH17 cells produce IFN-gamma or IL-*10 and are regulated by IL-1beta. Nature, 2012. **484**(7395): p. 514-8.
- 276. Sakaguchi, S., et al., *The plasticity and stability of regulatory T cells*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2013. **13**(6): p. 461-7.
- 277. Bluestone, J.A., et al., *The functional plasticity of T cell subsets*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2009. **9**(11): p. 811-6.
- 278. DuPage, M. and J.A. Bluestone, *Harnessing the plasticity of CD4(+) T cells to treat immune-mediated disease*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2016. **16**(3): p. 149-63.
- 279. Jablonski, K.A., et al., *Novel Markers to Delineate Murine M1 and M2 Macrophages*. PLoS One, 2015. **10**(12): p. e0145342.
- 280. Stoger, J.L., et al., *Distribution of macrophage polarization markers in human atherosclerosis.* Atherosclerosis, 2012. **225**(2): p. 461-8.

- 281. Martinez, F.O., et al., *Transcriptional profiling of the human monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and polarization: new molecules and patterns of gene expression*. J Immunol, 2006. **177**(10): p. 7303-11.
- 282. Roszer, T., Understanding the Mysterious M2 Macrophage through Activation Markers and Effector Mechanisms. Mediators Inflamm, 2015. 2015: p. 816460.
- 283. Martinez, F.O. and S. Gordon, *The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment.* F1000Prime Rep, 2014. **6**: p. 13.
- 284. Kouwenhoven, M., et al., *Monocytes in multiple sclerosis: phenotype and cytokine profile*. J Neuroimmunol, 2001. **112**(1-2): p. 197-205.
- 285. Italiani, P. and D. Boraschi, *From Monocytes to M1/M2 Macrophages: Phenotypical vs. Functional Differentiation.* Frontiers in Immunology, 2014. **5**: p. 514.
- 286. Collin, M., N. McGovern, and M. Haniffa, *Human dendritic cell subsets*. Immunology, 2013. **140**(1): p. 22-30.
- 287. Dzionek, A., et al., *BDCA-2*, *BDCA-3*, and *BDCA-4*: three markers for distinct subsets of dendritic cells in human peripheral blood. J Immunol, 2000. **165**(11): p. 6037-46.
- 288. Merad, M., et al., *The Dendritic Cell Lineage: Ontogeny and Function of Dendritic Cells and Their Subsets in the Steady State and the Inflamed Setting*. Annual review of immunology, 2013. **31**: p. 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074950.
- 289. Smith, P.D., et al., *Intestinal macrophages and response to microbial encroachment*. Mucosal Immunol, 2011. **4**(1): p. 31-42.
- 290. Jangi, S., et al., *Alterations of the human gut microbiome in multiple sclerosis*. Nat Commun, 2016. 7: p. 12015.
- 291. Qin, N., et al., *Alterations of the human gut microbiome in liver cirrhosis*. Nature, 2014. **513**(7516): p. 59-64.
- 292. Bhargava, P. and E.M. Mowry, *Gut microbiome and multiple sclerosis*. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep, 2014. **14**(10): p. 492.
- 293. Glenn, J.D. and E.M. Mowry, *Emerging Concepts on the Gut Microbiome and Multiple Sclerosis.* J Interferon Cytokine Res, 2016. **36**(6): p. 347-57.
- 294. Mielcarz, D.W. and L.H. Kasper, *The gut microbiome in multiple sclerosis*. Curr Treat Options Neurol, 2015. **17**(4): p. 344.
- 295. Chen, J., et al., *Multiple sclerosis patients have a distinct gut microbiota compared to healthy controls.* Scientific Reports, 2016. **6**: p. 28484.
- 296. Charcot, J., *Histologie de la sclérose en plaques*. Gazette des hospitaux de Paris, 1868.
 41: p. 554-555.
- 297. Kabat, E.A., D.H. Moore, and H. Landow, An Electrophoretic Study of the Protein Components in Cerebrospinal Fluid and Their Relationship to the Serum Proteins. J Clin Invest, 1942. 21(5): p. 571-7.
- 298. Noseworthy, J.H., et al., *Multiple sclerosis*. N Engl J Med, 2000. **343**(13): p. 938-52.
- 299. Haines, J.D., M. Inglese, and P. Casaccia, *Axonal Damage in Multiple Sclerosis*. The Mount Sinai journal of medicine, New York, 2011. **78**(2): p. 231-243.
- 300. Goodin, D.S., *The epidemiology of multiple sclerosis: insights to disease pathogenesis.* Handb Clin Neurol, 2014. **122**: p. 231-66.
- 301. Freedman, M.S., et al., *Treatment optimization in MS: Canadian MS Working Group updated recommendations*. Can J Neurol Sci, 2013. **40**(3): p. 307-23.

- 302. Runia, T.F., E.D. van Pelt-Gravesteijn, and R.Q. Hintzen, *Recent gains in clinical multiple sclerosis research*. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets, 2012. **11**(5): p. 497-505.
- 303. Antel, J., et al., *Primary progressive multiple sclerosis: part of the MS disease spectrum or separate disease entity?* Acta Neuropathol, 2012. **123**(5): p. 627-38.
- 304. Lublin, F.D. and S.C. Reingold, Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: results of an international survey. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of New Agents in Multiple Sclerosis. Neurology, 1996. 46(4): p. 907-11.
- 305. Lublin, F.D., et al., *Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions*. Neurology, 2014. **83**(3): p. 278-86.
- 306. Fox, R.J. and J.A. Cohen, *Multiple sclerosis: the importance of early recognition and treatment.* Cleve Clin J Med, 2001. **68**(2): p. 157-71.
- 307. Frohman, E.M., et al., *The utility of MRI in suspected MS: report of the Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology*. Neurology, 2003. **61**(5): p. 602-11.
- 308. Traboulsee, A., et al., *Revised Recommendations of the Consortium of MS Centers Task* Force for a Standardized MRI Protocol and Clinical Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Follow-Up of Multiple Sclerosis. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2016. **37**(3): p. 394-401.
- Paty, D.W., et al., *MRI in the diagnosis of MS: a prospective study with comparison of clinical evaluation, evoked potentials, oligoclonal banding, and CT.* Neurology, 1988.
 38(2): p. 180-5.
- 310. Vaneckova, M., et al., *Patients' stratification and correlation of brain magnetic resonance imaging parameters with disability progression in multiple sclerosis.* Eur Neurol, 2009. **61**(5): p. 278-84.
- 311. Palace, J., *Making the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis*. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2001. **71 Suppl 2**: p. ii3-8.
- 312. Traboulsee, A.L. and D.K. Li, *The role of MRI in the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis*. Adv Neurol, 2006. **98**: p. 125-46.
- 313. Brown, R.A., S. Narayanan, and D.L. Arnold, *Segmentation of magnetization transfer ratio lesions for longitudinal analysis of demyelination and remyelination in multiple sclerosis.* Neuroimage, 2013. **66**: p. 103-9.
- Brown, R.A., S. Narayanan, and D.L. Arnold, *Imaging of repeated episodes of demyelination and remyelination in multiple sclerosis*. Neuroimage Clin, 2014. 6: p. 20-5.
- 315. Arnold, D.L., et al., *Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy of human brain in vivo in the evaluation of multiple sclerosis: assessment of the load of disease.* Magn Reson Med, 1990. **14**(1): p. 154-9.
- 316. Di Maggio, G., et al., *Optical coherence tomography and visual evoked potentials: which is more sensitive in multiple sclerosis?* Mult Scler, 2014.
- 317. Narayanan, D., et al., *Tracking changes over time in retinal nerve fiber layer and ganglion cell-inner plexiform layer thickness in multiple sclerosis.* Mult Scler, 2014.
- 318. Fernandez, O., et al., *Review of the novelties presented at the 28th Congress of the European Committee for Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis (ECTRIMS) (II).* Rev Neurol, 2013. **57**(6): p. 269-81.

- 319. Polman, C.H., et al., *Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2010 revisions to the McDonald criteria*. Ann Neurol, 2011. **69**(2): p. 292-302.
- 320. Dobson, R., et al., *Cerebrospinal fluid oligoclonal bands in multiple sclerosis and clinically isolated syndromes: a meta-analysis of prevalence, prognosis and effect of latitude.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2013. **84**(8): p. 909-14.
- 321. Sospedra, M. and R. Martin, *Immunology of multiple sclerosis*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2005. **23**: p. 683-747.
- 322. Jacobsen, M., et al., Oligoclonal expansion of memory CD8+ T cells in cerebrospinal fluid from multiple sclerosis patients. Brain, 2002. **125**(Pt 3): p. 538-50.
- 323. Skulina, C., et al., Multiple sclerosis: brain-infiltrating CD8+ T cells persist as clonal expansions in the cerebrospinal fluid and blood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. 101(8): p. 2428-33.
- 324. Cabarrocas, J., et al., *Effective and selective immune surveillance of the brain by MHC class I-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes.* Eur J Immunol, 2003. **33**(5): p. 1174-82.
- 325. Burns, J., et al., *Isolation of myelin basic protein-reactive T-cell lines from normal human blood.* Cell Immunol, 1983. **81**(2): p. 435-40.
- 326. Filion, L.G., et al., *Monocyte-derived cytokines in multiple sclerosis*. Clinical and Experimental Immunology, 2003. **131**(2): p. 324-334.
- 327. Levesque, S.A., et al., *Myeloid cell transmigration across the CNS vasculature triggers IL-1beta-driven neuroinflammation during autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice.* J Exp Med, 2016. **213**(6): p. 929-49.
- 328. McColl, S.R., et al., *Treatment with anti-granulocyte antibodies inhibits the effector phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* J Immunol, 1998. **161**(11): p. 6421-6.
- 329. Maatta, J.A., et al., *Neutrophils secreting tumor necrosis factor alpha infiltrate the central nervous system of BALB/c mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* J Neuroimmunol, 1998. **90**(2): p. 162-75.
- 330. Bradl, M. and H. Lassmann, *Oligodendrocytes: biology and pathology*. Acta Neuropathol, 2010. **119**(1): p. 37-53.
- 331. Rawji, K.S., M.K. Mishra, and V.W. Yong, *Regenerative Capacity of Macrophages for Remyelination*. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, 2016. 4: p. 47.
- 332. Lampron, A., et al., *Inefficient clearance of myelin debris by microglia impairs remyelinating processes.* J Exp Med, 2015. **212**(4): p. 481-95.
- 333. Lucchinetti, C., et al., *Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination.* Ann Neurol, 2000. **47**(6): p. 707-17.
- 334. Lassmann, H., Mechanisms of white matter damage in multiple sclerosis. Glia, 2014.
- 335. Kutzelnigg, A. and H. Lassmann, *Pathology of multiple sclerosis and related inflammatory demyelinating diseases*. Handb Clin Neurol, 2014. **122**: p. 15-58.
- 336. Lassmann, H., *Multiple sclerosis: Lessons from molecular neuropathology*. Exp Neurol, 2013.
- Brosnan, C.F. and C.S. Raine, *The astrocyte in multiple sclerosis revisited*. Glia, 2013.
 61(4): p. 453-65.
- 338. Kutzelnigg, A., et al., *Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis.* Brain, 2005. **128**(Pt 11): p. 2705-12.

- 339. Peterson, J.W., et al., *Transected neurites, apoptotic neurons, and reduced inflammation in cortical multiple sclerosis lesions.* Ann Neurol, 2001. **50**(3): p. 389-400.
- 340. Zivadinov, R. and A. Minagar, *Evidence for gray matter pathology in multiple sclerosis: a neuroimaging approach*. J Neurol Sci, 2009. **282**(1-2): p. 1-4.
- 341. Dutta, R. and B.D. Trapp, *Pathogenesis of axonal and neuronal damage in multiple sclerosis*. Neurology, 2007. **68**(22 Suppl 3): p. S22-31; discussion S43-54.
- 342. Frohman, E.M., M.K. Racke, and C.S. Raine, *Multiple sclerosis--the plaque and its pathogenesis*. N Engl J Med, 2006. **354**(9): p. 942-55.
- 343. Wade, B.J., Spatial analysis of global prevalence of multiple sclerosis suggests need for an updated prevalence scale. Mult Scler Int, 2014. 2014: p. 124578.
- 344. Wingerchuk, D.M., et al., *International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders*. Neurology, 2015. **85**(2): p. 177-189.
- 345. de Seze, J., L. Kremer, and N. Collongues, *Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder* (*NMOSD*): *A new concept*. Rev Neurol (Paris), 2016. **172**(4-5): p. 256-62.
- 346. Ochi, H. and K. Fujihara, *Demyelinating diseases in Asia*. Curr Opin Neurol, 2016. **29**(3): p. 222-8.
- 347. Ramagopalan, S.V., et al., *Sex ratio of multiple sclerosis and clinical phenotype*. Eur J Neurol, 2010. **17**(4): p. 634-7.
- 348. Trojano, M., et al., *Geographical variations in sex ratio trends over time in multiple sclerosis.* PLoS One, 2012. 7(10): p. e48078.
- 349. Orton, S.M., et al., *Sex ratio of multiple sclerosis in Canada: a longitudinal study*. Lancet Neurol, 2006. **5**(11): p. 932-6.
- 350. Scalfari, A., et al., Onset of secondary progressive phase and long-term evolution of *multiple sclerosis.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2014. **85**(1): p. 67-75.
- 351. McFarland, H.F., *Twin studies and multiple sclerosis*. Ann Neurol, 1992. 32(6): p. 722-3.
- 352. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics, C., et al., *Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis*. Nature, 2011. **476**(7359): p. 214-9.
- 353. O'Gorman, C., R. Lucas, and B. Taylor, *Environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis: a review with a focus on molecular mechanisms*. Int J Mol Sci, 2012. **13**(9): p. 11718-52.
- 354. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics, C., et al., *Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis identified by a genomewide study*. N Engl J Med, 2007. **357**(9): p. 851-62.
- 355. Kaushansky, N., et al., *HLA-DQB1*0602 determines disease susceptibility in a new "humanized" multiple sclerosis model in HLA-DR15 (DRB1*1501;DQB1*0602) transgenic mice.* J Immunol, 2009. **183**(5): p. 3531-41.
- 356. Mangalam, A., M. Rodriguez, and C. David, *A new humanized HLA transgenic mouse model of multiple sclerosis expressing class II on mouse CD4 T cells*. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2007. **1103**: p. 112-7.
- 357. Madsen, L.S., et al., *A humanized model for multiple sclerosis using HLA-DR2 and a human T-cell receptor*. Nat Genet, 1999. **23**(3): p. 343-7.
- 358. Wagner, M., et al., *ALCAM--novel multiple sclerosis locus interfering with HLA-DRB1*1501*. J Neuroimmunol, 2013. **258**(1-2): p. 71-6.

- 359. De Jager, P.L., et al., *Meta-analysis of genome scans and replication identify CD6, IRF8 and TNFRSF1A as new multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci.* Nat Genet, 2009. **41**(7): p. 776-82.
- 360. Wagner, M., et al., *ALCAM and CD6--multiple sclerosis risk factors*. J Neuroimmunol, 2014. **276**(1-2): p. 98-103.
- 361. Dean, G. and M. Elian, *Age at immigration to England of Asian and Caribbean immigrants and the risk of developing multiple sclerosis.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1997. **63**(5): p. 565-8.
- 362. Kurtzke, J.F., Epidemiology in multiple sclerosis: a pilgrim's progress. Brain, 2013.
 136(Pt 9): p. 2904-17.
- 363. Kennedy, J., et al., *Age at onset of multiple sclerosis may be influenced by place of residence during childhood rather than ancestry.* Neuroepidemiology, 2006. **26**(3): p. 162-7.
- 364. Runmarker, B. and O. Andersen, *Pregnancy is associated with a lower risk of onset and a better prognosis in multiple sclerosis*. Brain, 1995. **118 (Pt 1)**: p. 253-61.
- 365. Correale, J., M. Farez, and G. Razzitte, *Helminth infections associated with multiple sclerosis induce regulatory B cells*. Ann Neurol, 2008. **64**(2): p. 187-99.
- 366. Correale, J. and M.F. Farez, *The impact of parasite infections on the course of multiple sclerosis.* J Neuroimmunol, 2011. **233**(1-2): p. 6-11.
- 367. Koch, M.W., et al., *Environmental factors and their regulation of immunity in multiple sclerosis.* J Neurol Sci, 2013. **324**(1-2): p. 10-6.
- 368. Correale, J., *Helminth/Parasite treatment of multiple sclerosis*. Curr Treat Options Neurol, 2014. **16**(6): p. 296.
- 369. Kira, J., *Helicobacter pylori infection might prove the hygiene hypothesis in multiple sclerosis.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2015. **86**(6): p. 591-2.
- 370. Sotgiu, S., et al., *Hygiene hypothesis: innate immunity, malaria and multiple sclerosis.* Med Hypotheses, 2008. **70**(4): p. 819-25.
- 371. Fleming, J. and Z. Fabry, *The hygiene hypothesis and multiple sclerosis*. Ann Neurol, 2007. **61**(2): p. 85-9.
- 372. Fleming, J.O. and T.D. Cook, *Multiple sclerosis and the hygiene hypothesis*. Neurology, 2006. **67**(11): p. 2085-6.
- 373. Okada, H., et al., *The 'hygiene hypothesis' for autoimmune and allergic diseases: an update*. Clin Exp Immunol, 2010. **160**(1): p. 1-9.
- 374. Rook, G.A., *Hygiene hypothesis and autoimmune diseases*. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol, 2012. **42**(1): p. 5-15.
- 375. Gupta, G., J.M. Gelfand, and J.D. Lewis, *Increased risk for demyelinating diseases in patients with inflammatory bowel disease*. Gastroenterology, 2005. **129**(3): p. 819-26.
- 376. Kimura, K., et al., *Concurrence of inflammatory bowel disease and multiple sclerosis*. Mayo Clin Proc, 2000. **75**(8): p. 802-6.
- 377. Braniste, V., et al., *The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice*. Sci Transl Med, 2014. **6**(263): p. 263ra158.
- 378. Berer, K. and G. Krishnamoorthy, *Commensal gut flora and brain autoimmunity: a love or hate affair?* Acta Neuropathol, 2012. **123**(5): p. 639-51.
- 379. Berer, K., et al., *Commensal microbiota and myelin autoantigen cooperate to trigger autoimmune demyelination*. Nature, 2011. **479**(7374): p. 538-41.

- 380. Wekerle, H., K. Berer, and G. Krishnamoorthy, *Remote control-triggering of brain autoimmune disease in the gut.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2013. **25**(6): p. 683-9.
- 381. Smits, L.P., et al., *Therapeutic potential of fecal microbiota transplantation*. Gastroenterology, 2013. **145**(5): p. 946-53.
- 382. Lucas, R.M., et al., *Epstein-Barr virus and multiple sclerosis*. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2011. **82**(10): p. 1142-8.
- 383. Pakpoor, J., et al., *The risk of developing multiple sclerosis in individuals seronegative for Epstein-Barr virus: a meta-analysis.* Mult Scler, 2013. **19**(2): p. 162-6.
- 384. Banwell, B., et al., *Clinical, environmental, and genetic determinants of multiple sclerosis in children with acute demyelination: a prospective national cohort study.* Lancet Neurol, 2011. **10**(5): p. 436-45.
- 385. Ascherio, A. and K.L. Munger, *EBV and Autoimmunity*. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2015. **390**(Pt 1): p. 365-85.
- 386. Pietilainen-Nicklen, J., et al., *HHV-6-positivity in diseases with demyelination*. J Clin Virol, 2014. **61**(2): p. 216-9.
- 387. Virtanen, J.O., et al., Oligoclonal bands in multiple sclerosis reactive against two herpesviruses and association with magnetic resonance imaging findings. Mult Scler, 2014. **20**(1): p. 27-34.
- 388. Virtanen, J.O. and S. Jacobson, *Viruses and multiple sclerosis*. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets, 2012. **11**(5): p. 528-44.
- 389. Virtanen, J.O., et al., *Co-localization of human herpes virus 6 and tissue plasminogen activator in multiple sclerosis brain tissue.* Med Sci Monit, 2005. **11**(3): p. BR84-7.
- 390. Cirone, M., et al., *Human herpesvirus 6 and multiple sclerosis: a study of T cell crossreactivity to viral and myelin basic protein antigens.* J Med Virol, 2002. **68**(2): p. 268-72.
- 391. Mameli, G., et al., *Epstein-Barr virus and Mycobacterium avium subsp.* paratuberculosis peptides are cross recognized by anti-myelin basic protein antibodies in multiple sclerosis patients. J Neuroimmunol, 2014. **270**(1-2): p. 51-5.
- 392. Tejada-Simon, M.V., et al., Cross-reactivity with myelin basic protein and human herpesvirus-6 in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol, 2003. 53(2): p. 189-97.
- 393. Cheng, W., et al., *Cross-reactivity of autoreactive T cells with MBP and viral antigens in patients with MS*. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed), 2012. **17**: p. 1648-58.
- 394. Holmoy, T., E.O. Kvale, and F. Vartdal, Cerebrospinal fluid CD4+ T cells from a multiple sclerosis patient cross-recognize Epstein-Barr virus and myelin basic protein. J Neurovirol, 2004. 10(5): p. 278-83.
- 395. Boucher, A., et al., *Long-term human coronavirus-myelin cross-reactive T-cell clones derived from multiple sclerosis patients*. Clin Immunol, 2007. **123**(3): p. 258-67.
- 396. Markovic-Plese, S., et al., *High level of cross-reactivity in influenza virus hemagglutinin-specific CD4+ T-cell response: implications for the initiation of autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis.* J Neuroimmunol, 2005. **169**(1-2): p. 31-8.
- 397. Rosati, G., *The prevalence of multiple sclerosis in the world: an update*. Neurol Sci, 2001. **22**(2): p. 117-39.
- 398. Hart, P.H., S. Gorman, and J.J. Finlay-Jones, *Modulation of the immune system by UV radiation: more than just the effects of vitamin D?* Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(9): p. 584-96.

- 399. Holick, M.F., *Environmental factors that influence the cutaneous production of vitamin D*. Am J Clin Nutr, 1995. **61**(3 Suppl): p. 638S-645S.
- 400. Ramagopalan, S.V., et al., *Expression of the multiple sclerosis-associated MHC class II* Allele HLA-DRB1*1501 is regulated by vitamin D. PLoS Genet, 2009. **5**(2): p. e1000369.
- 401. Deluca, H.F. and M.T. Cantorna, *Vitamin D: its role and uses in immunology*. FASEB J, 2001. **15**(14): p. 2579-85.
- 402. Hewison, M., *An update on vitamin D and human immunity*. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf), 2011.
- 403. Chang, J.H., et al., 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits the differentiation and migration of T(H)17 cells to protect against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. PLoS One, 2010. 5(9): p. e12925.
- 404. Guillot, X., et al., *Vitamin D and inflammation*. Joint Bone Spine, 2010. 77(6): p. 552-7.
- 405. Michel, L., et al., *Increased risk of multiple sclerosis relapse after in vitro fertilisation*. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2012. **83**(8): p. 796-802.
- 406. Langer-Gould, A., et al., *Childhood obesity and risk of pediatric multiple sclerosis and clinically isolated syndrome*. Neurology, 2013. **80**(6): p. 548-52.
- 407. Munger, K.L., et al., *Childhood body mass index and multiple sclerosis risk: a long-term cohort study*. Mult Scler, 2013. **19**(10): p. 1323-9.
- 408. Hedstrom, A.K., et al., *Interaction between adolescent obesity and HLA risk genes in the etiology of multiple sclerosis*. Neurology, 2014. **82**(10): p. 865-72.
- 409. Wu, C., et al., *Induction of pathogenic TH17 cells by inducible salt-sensing kinase SGK1*. Nature, 2013. **496**(7446): p. 513-7.
- 410. Kleinewietfeld, M., et al., *Sodium chloride drives autoimmune disease by the induction of pathogenic TH17 cells.* Nature, 2013. **496**(7446): p. 518-22.
- 411. *Multiple sclerosis, mad cow disease and acinetobacter*. 2014, New York: Springer. pages cm.
- 412. Van Epps, H.L., *Thomas Rivers and the EAE model*. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2005. **202**(1): p. 4-4.
- 413. Paterson, P.Y., *Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis and autoimmune disease*. Adv Immunol, 1966. **5**: p. 131-208.
- 414. Baxter, A.G., *The origin and application of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2007. 7(11): p. 904-12.
- 415. Rangachari, M. and V.K. Kuchroo, Using EAE to better understand principles of immune function and autoimmune pathology. J Autoimmun, 2013. 45: p. 31-9.
- 416. Dumas, A., et al., *The inflammasome pyrin contributes to pertussis toxin-induced ILlbeta synthesis, neutrophil intravascular crawling and autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* PLoS Pathog, 2014. **10**(5): p. e1004150.
- 417. Lu, C., et al., *Pertussis toxin induces angiogenesis in brain microvascular endothelial cells*. J Neurosci Res, 2008. **86**(12): p. 2624-40.
- 418. Schellenberg, A.E., et al., *Blood-brain barrier disruption in CCL2 transgenic mice during pertussis toxin-induced brain inflammation*. Fluids Barriers CNS, 2012. **9**(1): p. 10.

- 419. Berard, J.L., et al., *Characterization of relapsing-remitting and chronic forms of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6 mice.* Glia, 2010. **58**(4): p. 434-45.
- 420. Stromnes, I.M. and J.M. Goverman, *Passive induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis*. Nat Protoc, 2006. 1(4): p. 1952-60.
- 421. Stromnes, I.M., et al., *Differential regulation of central nervous system autoimmunity by* T(H)1 and T(H)17 cells. Nat Med, 2008. 14(3): p. 337-42.
- 422. Pollinger, B., et al., Spontaneous relapsing-remitting EAE in the SJL/J mouse: MOG-reactive transgenic T cells recruit endogenous MOG-specific B cells. J Exp Med, 2009.
 206(6): p. 1303-16.
- 423. Bettelli, E., et al., Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific T cell receptor transgenic mice develop spontaneous autoimmune optic neuritis. J Exp Med, 2003. 197(9): p. 1073-81.
- 424. Talbot, P.J., D. Arnold, and J.P. Antel, *Virus-induced autoimmune reactions in the CNS*. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2001. **253**: p. 247-71.
- 425. Oleszak, E.L., et al., *Theiler's Virus Infection: a Model for Multiple Sclerosis*. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 2004. **17**(1): p. 174-207.
- 426. Zendedel, A., C. Beyer, and M. Kipp, *Cuprizone-induced demyelination as a tool to study remyelination and axonal protection.* J Mol Neurosci, 2013. **51**(2): p. 567-72.
- 427. Ruddle, N.H., et al., *An antibody to lymphotoxin and tumor necrosis factor prevents transfer of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis.* J Exp Med, 1990. **172**(4): p. 1193-200.
- 428. Selmaj, K., C.S. Raine, and A.H. Cross, *Anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy abrogates autoimmune demyelination*. Ann Neurol, 1991. **30**(5): p. 694-700.
- 429. Titelbaum, D.S., A. Degenhardt, and R.P. Kinkel, *Anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha-associated multiple sclerosis*. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2005. **26**(6): p. 1548-50.
- 430. TNF neutralization in MS: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled multicenter study. The Lenercept Multiple Sclerosis Study Group and The University of British Columbia MS/MRI Analysis Group. Neurology, 1999. **53**(3): p. 457-65.
- 431. van Oosten, B.W., et al., *Increased MRI activity and immune activation in two multiple sclerosis patients treated with the monoclonal anti-tumor necrosis factor antibody cA2*. Neurology, 1996. **47**(6): p. 1531-4.
- 432. Sicotte, N.L. and R.R. Voskuhl, *Onset of multiple sclerosis associated with anti-TNF therapy*. Neurology, 2001. **57**(10): p. 1885-8.
- 433. Teuscher, C., et al., Gender, age, and season at immunization uniquely influence the genetic control of susceptibility to histopathological lesions and clinical signs of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: implications for the genetics of multiple sclerosis. Am J Pathol, 2004. 165(5): p. 1593-602.
- 434. Columba-Cabezas, S., et al., *Early handling increases susceptibility to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in C57BL/6 male mice.* J Neuroimmunol, 2009. **212**(1-2): p. 10-6.
- 435. Larochelle, C., et al., *Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura-hemolytic uremic syndrome in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients on high-dose interferon beta*. Mult Scler, 2014.

- 436. Oh, J. and P.W. O'Connor, *Safety, tolerability, and efficacy of oral therapies for relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis.* CNS Drugs, 2013. **27**(8): p. 591-609.
- 437. Calabresi, P.A., et al., Safety and efficacy of fingolimod in patients with relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis (FREEDOMS II): a double-blind, randomised, placebocontrolled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Neurol, 2014. **13**(6): p. 545-56.
- 438. Vermersch, P., et al., *Teriflunomide versus subcutaneous interferon beta-1a in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis: a randomised, controlled phase 3 trial.* Mult Scler, 2013.
- 439. Garnock-Jones, K.P., *Teriflunomide: a review of its use in relapsing multiple sclerosis.* CNS Drugs, 2013. **27**(12): p. 1103-23.
- 440. Salmen, A. and R. Gold, *Mode of action and clinical studies with fumarates in multiple sclerosis.* Exp Neurol, 2014.
- 441. Linker, R.A., et al., *Fumaric acid esters exert neuroprotective effects in neuroinflammation via activation of the Nrf2 antioxidant pathway.* Brain, 2011. **134**(Pt 3): p. 678-92.
- 442. Longbrake, E.E. and A.H. Cross, *Dimethyl fumarate associated lymphopenia in clinical practice*. Mult Scler, 2015. **21**(6): p. 796-7.
- 443. Chen, H., et al., *Hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 2 mediates dimethyl fumarate's protective effect in EAE*. J Clin Invest, 2014. **124**(5): p. 2188-92.
- 444. Sorensen, P.S., et al., *Recurrence or rebound of clinical relapses after discontinuation of natalizumab therapy in highly active MS patients*. J Neurol, 2014.
- 445. Havla, J., I. Kleiter, and T. Kumpfel, *Bridging, switching or drug holidays how to treat a patient who stops natalizumab?* Ther Clin Risk Manag, 2013. **9**: p. 361-369.
- 446. Polman, C.H., et al., *A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis.* N Engl J Med, 2006. **354**(9): p. 899-910.
- 447. Sorensen, P.S., et al., *Risk stratification for progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in patients treated with natalizumab.* Mult Scler, 2012. **18**(2): p. 143-52.
- 448. Ransohoff, R.M., Natalizumab and PML. Nat Neurosci, 2005. 8(10): p. 1275.
- 449. Iannetta, M., et al., Natalizumab Affects T-Cell Phenotype in Multiple Sclerosis: Implications for JCV Reactivation. PLoS One, 2016. **11**(8): p. e0160277.
- 450. Investigators, C.T., et al., *Alemtuzumab vs. interferon beta-1a in early multiple sclerosis.* N Engl J Med, 2008. **359**(17): p. 1786-801.
- 451. Fernandez, O., *Alemtuzumab in the treatment of multiple sclerosis*. J Inflamm Res, 2014.
 7: p. 19-27.
- 452. Coles, A.J., et al., *Alemtuzumab more effective than interferon beta-1a at 5-year follow-up of CAMMS223 clinical trial.* Neurology, 2012. **78**(14): p. 1069-78.
- 453. Tuohy, O., et al., *Alemtuzumab treatment of multiple sclerosis: long-term safety and efficacy*. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2015. **86**(2): p. 208-15.
- 454. Chalkley, J.J. and J.R. Berger, *Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in multiple sclerosis*. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep, 2013. **13**(12): p. 408.
- 455. Pourquie, O., et al., *A widely distributed antigen developmentally regulated in the nervous system.* Development, 1990. **109**(4): p. 743-52.
- 456. Pourquie, O., et al., *BEN, a surface glycoprotein of the immunoglobulin superfamily, is expressed in a variety of developing systems.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1992. **89**(12): p. 5261-5.

- 457. Burns, F.R., et al., *DM-GRASP, a novel immunoglobulin superfamily axonal surface protein that supports neurite extension.* Neuron, 1991. 7(2): p. 209-20.
- 458. Tanaka, H., et al., *Molecular cloning and expression of a novel adhesion molecule, SC1*. Neuron, 1991. 7(4): p. 535-45.
- 459. Patel, D.D., et al., *Identification and characterization of a 100-kD ligand for CD6 on human thymic epithelial cells.* J Exp Med, 1995. **181**(4): p. 1563-8.
- 460. Bowen, M.A., et al., *Cloning, mapping, and characterization of activated leukocyte-cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM), a CD6 ligand.* J Exp Med, 1995. **181**(6): p. 2213-20.
- 461. Whitney, G.S., et al., *The membrane-proximal scavenger receptor cysteine-rich domain* of CD6 contains the activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule binding site. J Biol Chem, 1995. **270**(31): p. 18187-90.
- 462. Bajorath, J., M.A. Bowen, and A. Aruffo, *Molecular model of the N-terminal receptorbinding domain of the human CD6 ligand ALCAM.* Protein Sci, 1995. **4**(8): p. 1644-7.
- 463. Zimmerman, A.W., et al., *Long-term engagement of CD6 and ALCAM is essential for T-cell proliferation induced by dendritic cells.* Blood, 2006. **107**(8): p. 3212-20.
- 464. Te Riet, J., et al., *Distinct kinetic and mechanical properties govern ALCAM-mediated interactions as shown by single-molecule force spectroscopy*. J Cell Sci, 2007. **120**(Pt 22): p. 3965-76.
- 465. Bowen, M.A., et al., *Characterization of mouse ALCAM (CD166): the CD6-binding domain is conserved in different homologs and mediates cross-species binding*. Eur J Immunol, 1997. **27**(6): p. 1469-78.
- 466. van Kempen, L.C., et al., *Molecular basis for the homophilic activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM)-ALCAM interaction.* J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(28): p. 25783-90.
- 467. King, J.A., et al., *Mechanisms of transcriptional regulation and prognostic significance of activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule in cancer*. Mol Cancer, 2010. **9**: p. 266.
- 468. Tan, F., et al., *Essential role for ALCAM gene silencing in megakaryocytic differentiation of K562 cells.* BMC Molecular Biology, 2010. **11**(1): p. 1-12.
- Wang, J., et al., NF-kappaB P50/P65 hetero-dimer mediates differential regulation of CD166/ALCAM expression via interaction with micoRNA-9 after serum deprivation, providing evidence for a novel negative auto-regulatory loop. Nucleic Acids Res, 2011. 39(15): p. 6440-55.
- 470. Jin, Z., et al., *MicroRNA-192 and -215 are upregulated in human gastric cancer in vivo and suppress ALCAM expression in vitro*. Oncogene, 2011. **30**(13): p. 1577-85.
- 471. Ye, M., et al., Overexpression of activated leukocute cell adhesion molecule in gastric cancer is associated with advanced stages and poor prognosis and miR-9 deregulation. Mol Med Rep, 2015. **11**(3): p. 2004-12.
- 472. Rodamilans, B., et al., *Crystal structure of the third extracellular domain of CD5 reveals the fold of a group B scavenger cysteine-rich receptor domain*. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(17): p. 12669-77.
- 473. Chappell, P.E., et al., *Structures of CD6 and Its Ligand CD166 Give Insight into Their Interaction*. Structure, 2015. **23**(8): p. 1426-36.
- 474. Bodian, D.L., et al., *Identification of residues in CD6 which are critical for ligand binding*. Biochemistry, 1997. **36**(9): p. 2637-41.

- 475. Skonier, J.E., et al., *CD6 recognizes the neural adhesion molecule BEN*. Protein Sci, 1997. **6**(8): p. 1768-70.
- 476. Skonier, J.E., et al., *Mutational analysis of the CD6 ligand binding domain*. Protein Eng, 1997. **10**(8): p. 943-7.
- 477. Te Riet, J., et al., Dynamic coupling of ALCAM to the actin cortex strengthens cell adhesion to CD6. J Cell Sci, 2014. **127**(Pt 7): p. 1595-606.
- 478. Zimmerman, A.W., et al., *Cytoskeletal restraints regulate homotypic ALCAM-mediated adhesion through PKCalpha independently of Rho-like GTPases.* J Cell Sci, 2004. **117**(Pt 13): p. 2841-52.
- 479. Nelissen, J.M., et al., Dynamic regulation of activated leukocyte cell adhesion moleculemediated homotypic cell adhesion through the actin cytoskeleton. Mol Biol Cell, 2000. 11(6): p. 2057-68.
- 480. Ofori-Acquah, S.F. and J.A. King, *Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule: a new paradox in cancer*. Transl Res, 2008. **151**(3): p. 122-8.
- 481. van Kempen, L.C., et al., *Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule/CD166, a marker of tumor progression in primary malignant melanoma of the skin.* Am J Pathol, 2000. **156**(3): p. 769-74.
- 482. van Kempen, L.C., et al., *Truncation of activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule: a gateway to melanoma metastasis.* J Invest Dermatol, 2004. **122**(5): p. 1293-301.
- 483. Rosso, O., et al., *The ALCAM shedding by the metalloprotease ADAM17/TACE is involved in motility of ovarian carcinoma cells.* Mol Cancer Res, 2007. **5**(12): p. 1246-53.
- 484. Carbotti, G., et al., Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule soluble form: a potential biomarker of epithelial ovarian cancer is increased in type II tumors. Int J Cancer, 2013.
 132(11): p. 2597-605.
- 485. Masedunskas, A., et al., *Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule is a component of the endothelial junction involved in transendothelial monocyte migration*. FEBS Lett, 2006. **580**(11): p. 2637-45.
- 486. Nummer, D., et al., *Role of tumor endothelium in CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cell infiltration of human pancreatic carcinoma.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 2007. **99**(15): p. 1188-99.
- 487. Williams, D.W., et al., *Mechanisms of HIV entry into the CNS: increased sensitivity of HIV infected CD14+CD16+ monocytes to CCL2 and key roles of CCR2, JAM-A, and ALCAM in diapedesis.* PLoS One, 2013. **8**(7): p. e69270.
- 488. Williams, D.W., et al., *JAM-A and ALCAM are therapeutic targets to inhibit diapedesis across the BBB of CD14+CD16+ monocytes in HIV-infected individuals*. J Leukoc Biol, 2015. **97**(2): p. 401-12.
- 489. Yao, H., et al., Cocaine hijacks sigmal receptor to initiate induction of activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule: implication for increased monocyte adhesion and migration in the CNS. J Neurosci, 2011. **31**(16): p. 5942-55.
- 490. Curis, C., et al., Human T-Lymphotropic Virus Type 1-Induced Overexpression of Activated Leukocyte Cell Adhesion Molecule (ALCAM) Facilitates Trafficking of Infected Lymphocytes through the Blood-Brain Barrier. J Virol, 2016. **90**(16): p. 7303-12.

- 491. Cayrol, R., et al., *Isolation of human brain endothelial cells and characterization of lipid raft-associated proteins by mass spectroscopy*. Methods Mol Biol, 2011. **686**: p. 275-95.
- 492. Fujiwara, H., et al., *Human blastocysts and endometrial epithelial cells express activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM/CD166)*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2003. 88(7): p. 3437-43.
- 493. Bowen, M.A. and A. Aruffo, *Adhesion molecules, their receptors, and their regulation: analysis of CD6-activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM/CD166) interactions.* Transplant Proc, 1999. **31**(1-2): p. 795-6.
- 494. Abadier, M., et al., *Cell surface levels of endothelial ICAM-1 influence the transcellular or paracellular T-cell diapedesis across the blood-brain barrier*. Eur J Immunol, 2015. **45(4)**.
- 495. Curis, C., et al., Human T-Lymphotropic Virus (HTLV)-1-Induced Overexpression of Activated Leukocyte Cell Adhesion Molecule (ALCAM) Facilitates Trafficking of Infected Lymphocytes through the Blood-Brain Barrier. J Virol, 2016.
- 496. Serafini, B., et al., Intracerebral recruitment and maturation of dendritic cells in the onset and progression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Am J Pathol, 2000. **157**(6): p. 1991-2002.
- 497. Serafini, B., et al., *Dendritic cells in multiple sclerosis lesions: maturation stage, myelin uptake, and interaction with proliferating T cells.* J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 2006. **65**(2): p. 124-41.
- 498. Greter, M., et al., *Dendritic cells permit immune invasion of the CNS in an animal model of multiple sclerosis.* Nat Med, 2005. **11**(3): p. 328-34.
- 499. King, I.L., T.L. Dickendesher, and B.M. Segal, *Circulating Ly-6C+ myeloid precursors* migrate to the CNS and play a pathogenic role during autoimmune demyelinating disease. Blood, 2009. **113**(14): p. 3190-7.
- 500. Argaw, A.T., et al., *IL-1beta regulates blood-brain barrier permeability via reactivation* of the hypoxia-angiogenesis program. J Immunol, 2006. **177**(8): p. 5574-84.
- 501. Croxford, A.L., S. Spath, and B. Becher, *GM-CSF in Neuroinflammation: Licensing Myeloid Cells for Tissue Damage*. Trends Immunol, 2015. **36**(10): p. 651-62.
- 502. Menge, T., et al., Ocrelizumab for the treatment of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Expert Rev Neurother, 2016.
- 503. Duddy, M., et al., *Distinct effector cytokine profiles of memory and naive human B cell subsets and implication in multiple sclerosis.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(10): p. 6092-9.
- 504. Weiner, J.A., et al., Axon fasciculation defects and retinal dysplasias in mice lacking the immunoglobulin superfamily adhesion molecule BEN/ALCAM/SC1. Mol Cell Neurosci, 2004. **27**(1): p. 59-69.
- 505. Tudor, C., et al., *Syntenin-1 and ezrin proteins link activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule to the actin cytoskeleton.* J Biol Chem, 2014. **289**(19): p. 13445-60.
- 506. Ofori-Acquah, S.F., et al., *Heterogeneity of barrier function in the lung reflects diversity in endothelial cell junctions*. Microvasc Res, 2008. **75**(3): p. 391-402.
- 507. Tomita, K., et al., *Coordinate recruitment of E-cadherin and ALCAM to cell-cell contacts by alpha-catenin.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2000. **267**(3): p. 870-4.
- 508. Jannie, K.M., C.S. Stipp, and J.A. Weiner, *ALCAM regulates motility, invasiveness, and adherens junction formation in uveal melanoma cells.* PLoS One, 2012. 7(6): p. e39330.

- 509. Sayner, S.L., et al., *Filamin A is a phosphorylation target of membrane but not cytosolic adenylyl cyclase activity.* Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2011. **301**(1): p. L117-24.
- 510. Dykstra, M., et al., *Location is everything: lipid rafts and immune cell signaling*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2003. **21**: p. 457-81.
- 511. Tilghman, R.W. and R.L. Hoover, *E-selectin and ICAM-1 are incorporated into detergent-insoluble membrane domains following clustering in endothelial cells.* FEBS Lett, 2002. **525**(1-3): p. 83-7.
- 512. Head, B.P., H.H. Patel, and P.A. Insel, *Interaction of membrane/lipid rafts with the cytoskeleton: impact on signaling and function: membrane/lipid rafts, mediators of cytoskeletal arrangement and cell signaling*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2014. **1838**(2): p. 532-45.
- 513. Gilsanz, A., et al., *ALCAM/CD166 adhesive function is regulated by the tetraspanin CD9*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2013. **70**(3): p. 475-93.
- 514. Hansen, A.G., et al., *ALCAM/CD166 is a TGFβ responsive marker and functional regulator of prostate cancer metastasis to bone.* Cancer research, 2014. **74**(5): p. 1404-1415.
- 515. Gutierrez-Lopez, M.D., et al., *The sheddase activity of ADAM17/TACE is regulated by the tetraspanin CD9*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2011. **68**(19): p. 3275-92.
- 516. Kovalenko, O.V., X.H. Yang, and M.E. Hemler, *A novel cysteine cross-linking method reveals a direct association between claudin-1 and tetraspanin CD9*. Mol Cell Proteomics, 2007. 6(11): p. 1855-67.
- 517. Klein-Soyer, C., et al., *CD9 participates in endothelial cell migration during in vitro wound repair.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2000. **20**(2): p. 360-9.
- 518. von Bauer, R., et al., *CD166/ALCAM mediates proinflammatory effects of S100B in delayed type hypersensitivity.* J Immunol, 2013. **191**(1): p. 369-77.
- 519. Ramasamy, R., S.F. Yan, and A.M. Schmidt, *RAGE: therapeutic target and biomarker* of the inflammatory response--the evidence mounts. J Leukoc Biol, 2009. **86**(3): p. 505-12.
- 520. Andrassy, M., et al., *Posttranslationally Modified Proteins as Mediators of Sustained Intestinal Inflammation*. The American Journal of Pathology, 2006. **169**(4): p. 1223-1237.
- 521. Yan, S.F., R. Ramasamy, and A.M. Schmidt, *Receptor for AGE (RAGE) & its Ligands* – *Cast into Leading Roles in Diabetes & the Inflammatory Response*. Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany), 2009. 87(3): p. 235-247.
- 522. Yan, S.F., et al., *Tempering the wrath of RAGE: an emerging therapeutic strategy against diabetic complications, neurodegeneration, and inflammation.* Ann Med, 2009. **41**(6): p. 408-22.
- 523. Yan, S.S., et al., Suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by selective blockade of encephalitogenic T-cell infiltration of the central nervous system. Nat Med, 2003. **9**(3): p. 287-93.
- 524. Liliensiek, B., et al., *Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) regulates* sepsis but not the adaptive immune response. J Clin Invest, 2004. **113**(11): p. 1641-50.

- 525. Liliensiek, B., et al., *Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) regulates* sepsis but not the adaptive immune response. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2004. **113**(11): p. 1641-1650.
- 526. Qin, J., et al., *Expression of the Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Products in Oligodendrocytes in Response to Oxidative Stress.* Journal of neuroscience research, 2008. **86**(11): p. 2414-2422.
- 527. Kofler, D.M., et al., *The CD6 multiple sclerosis susceptibility allele is associated with alterations in CD4+ T cell proliferation.* J Immunol, 2011. **187**(6): p. 3286-91.
- 528. Schneider-Hohendorf, T., et al., *VLA-4 blockade promotes differential routes into human CNS involving PSGL-1 rolling of T cells and MCAM-adhesion of TH17 cells.* J Exp Med, 2014. **211**(9): p. 1833-46.